# INALN/GAN HIGH ELECTRON MOBILITY TRANSISTORS FOR VENUS SURFACE EXPLORATION

A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED TO THE DEPARTMENT OF ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING AND THE COMMITTEE ON GRADUATE STUDIES OF STANFORD UNIVERSITY IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Savannah Ryann Benbrook Eisner December 2022

© 2022 by Savannah Ryann Eisner. All Rights Reserved. Re-distributed by Stanford University under license with the author.



This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial 3.0 United States License. <u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/3.0/us/</u>

This dissertation is online at: https://purl.stanford.edu/tn416bm3231

I certify that I have read this dissertation and that, in my opinion, it is fully adequate in scope and quality as a dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

## **Debbie Senesky, Primary Adviser**

I certify that I have read this dissertation and that, in my opinion, it is fully adequate in scope and quality as a dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

# Srabanti Chowdhury

I certify that I have read this dissertation and that, in my opinion, it is fully adequate in scope and quality as a dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

### Krishna Saraswat

Approved for the Stanford University Committee on Graduate Studies.

## Stacey F. Bent, Vice Provost for Graduate Education

This signature page was generated electronically upon submission of this dissertation in electronic format.

# Abstract

Historical and proposed missions to the surface of Venus have been severely limited in both scope and duration by the lack of robust microelectronics that can operate within Venus' extreme environment. Traditional silicon technology cannot survive on Venus without the use of expensive and bulky active cooling measures due to the scalding surface temperature of  $\approx 465^{\circ}$ C. To address this technological gap and enable extended duration robotic surface exploration on Venus, I propose the use of wide-bandgap gallium nitride (GaN) technology for uncooled microelectronics (e.g., sensors, micromechanical resonators, transistors).

In this thesis, I present original research on the design and microfabrication of InAlN/GaN high electron mobility transistors (HEMTs), which leverage a two-dimensional electron gas (2DEG) conducting channel and can provide sensing, power, and telecommunications for a Venus lander or rover. I explore the use of several Schottky gate electrode materials that are attractive candidates for reliable high-temperature operation. The experimental results from electrically characterizing HEMTs utilizing these gate materials up to 600°C in air for durations of up to 6 days are presented. I then analyze Schottky barrier properties and make recommendations for engineering superior Schottky contacts. The electrical operation of HEMTs exposed to simulated Venus surface conditions (465°C, >90 bar, supercritical  $CO_2$ ambient) for up to 10 days is presented. Finally, I present the first every demonstration of an uncooled GaN device successfully operating in situ simulated Venus surface conditions. The *in situ* experiment concluded after 5 days and 21 hours of device operation, which is a 70-fold greater duration than the  $\approx 2$  hour record operating length of silicon-based microelectronics used on the Venera 13 mission. As a whole, these contributing proof-of-concept experiments support the use of the InAlN/GaN HEMT platform and provide a road map for further maturing this technology for uncooled microelectronics.

# Acknowledgments

I wish to express a heartfelt thanks to the many people who have provided both technical and personal support and guidance over the years of my Ph.D. journey. First, I'd like to thank research mavericks Professors Krishna Saraswat, Srabanti Chowdhury, and Roger Howe for the intriguing classes, insightful career discussions, and congenial feedback on my research.

My advisor, Professor Debbie Senesky, provided the unwavering support and faith in me that was crucial to my success. Debbie, you always offered the resources and independence to explore different avenues and shape my Ph.D. the way I wanted. Your positive attitude was infectious, and I always left our meetings feeling reinvigorated to continue our research. You gave me unique opportunities to step up and become a leader. You not only permitted but also applauded me to make the sometimes unorthodox decisions that were right for me. Being a member of your XLab has been an honor.

I'd be remiss if I didn't thank the rest of my XLab friends and colleagues: Dr. Jessica Frick, Dr. Karen Dowling, Dr. Hannah Alpert, Dr. Ruiqi Chen, Dr. Ricardo Peterson, Dr. Thomas Heuser, Dr. Ananth Yalamarthy, Dr. Chen Liu, Dr. Max Holliday, Anand Lalwani, and Jasmine Church, among others. A delightfully unexpected occurrence during my time at Stanford was meeting such wonderful and inspiring women, from the strong women of XLab to the powerful women in my cohort (including my fearless friend Dr. Kirstin Schauble). Thank you all for the comradery, commiseration, laughter, and whiteboard brainstorming sessions.

My sincerest of thanks go to my mentor, Dr. Caitlin Chapin. Your influence on my Ph.D. journey continued long after your direct mentorship. Whenever I was paralyzed by doubt about my experimental plans, I reminded myself that you had taught me by example that sometimes you just need to go into the lab and do the damn thing, and if you never break anything you probably aren't moving fast enough.

I owe a profuse debt of gratitude to Jared Naphy, who worked with me on many of the high temperature experiments described in Chapters 4 and 5. Jared, thank you not only for your hard work and dedication towards getting these experiments off the ground, but also for your collaboration and friendship that pulled me out of the loneliness of my last year of Ph.D. research.

I need to thank my many collaborators at Stanford and elsewhere. The SNF and SNSF community helped provide me with the training, tips, and tricks that were key to fabricating my devices. Special thanks to Dr. Xiaoqing Xu, who was my cleanroom staff mentor during the E241 class (and beyond). Another special thanks to David A. Nelson, plumbing extraordinaire with Stanford facilities, for his assistance getting the XLab Venus simulation chamber up and running. I'd like to thank my collaborators at NASA, including Dr. Mina Rais-Zadeh and Dr. Gary Hunter, who I had the pleasure of working with on NASA HOTTech and PICASSO funded projects. I would also like to acknowledge the NSF GRFP for providing me with a funded fellowship, and the NSF POETS research center for the Future Technical Leaders fellowship.

My immediate and extended family collectively instilled in me the importance and impact of education. Thank you to my parents, Sieglinde Rath and Kevin Benbrook, who somehow found the time to be partners at a law firm, have four kids, carpool from innumerable after-school activities, coach little league, arrange sleepovers, serve on the school board, lead girl scout troops, and more. Mom, you are my blueprint for a working woman. You showed me that you really can have it all. Thank you for offering bottomless belief in me while fielding the many emotional, self-doubting phone calls during my Ph.D. - and bragging on my behalf to anyone even remotely willing to listen. Dad, you and Kyle were always willing to engage with me and show genuine interest in my research. Your matterof-fact advice and calm confidence gave me the necessary strength to keep persevering. Thanks for "whipping me into shape" and bestowing me with a healthy dose of skepticism towards authority and the status quo. Sierra, Kyle, and Summer: thanks for simultaneously bickering with me, cheering me on, humbling me, and having my back the way only siblings can. Life would be boring without our crazy bunch. I love you all.

Thank you to my rock, the love of my life, and my biggest supporter: my husband, Spencer Eisner. Your astute and logical advice and problem-solving skills helped me overcome many hurdles, both real and imagined, that were standing between me and this degree. Without you by my side these past 11 years, life would be lackluster. I'm proud that my Ph.D. years were not only professionally fulfilling, but also encompass huge personal milestones we've marked together like getting married and having our son. Thank you for being a true partner while we continue to build our wonderful life with Rhone, Casper, and Beanie. I love you. And finally, to my son, Rhone, who was in utero when I defended and has been patiently sitting in his bouncer while I finish writing this thesis: thank you for simply existing. You were the motivation I needed to kickstart into high gear and see this degree through to the very end. You're an accomplishment that can't be topped; everything else is just a bonus.

# Contents

A	Abstract		iv
A	ckno	wledgments	v
1	1 Introduction		
	1.1	Planetary Science Objectives for Venus Surface Exploration	1
	1.2	Surface Mission Concepts and Target Durations	2
	1.3	Previous Venus Surface Missions	3
	1.4	Venus' Extreme Environment	4
	1.5	Technology Gap: Silicon Microelectronics	5
	1.6	Potential Solution: Wide-Bandgap Semiconductors	7
	1.7	Thesis Overview	9
2	Bac	kground	10
	2.1	GaN Heterostructures	10
	2.2	InAlN/GaN versus AlGaN/GaN	11
	2.3	The Two-Dimensional Electron Gas	12
	2.4	Advantages of the 2DEG at High Temperature	13
	2.5	Uncooled Monolithic Integration	14
	2.6	The High Electron Mobility Transistor	16
	2.7	HEMT Demonstrations at High Temperature	18
	2.8	Degradation Mechanisms in GaN HEMTs	20
	2.9	Summary	24
3	Mic	rofabrication and Device Design	26

		3.1.1	Metal-organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	26
		3.1.2	Mesa Isolation Etch	28
		3.1.3	Ohmic Contact Formation	28
		3.1.4	Schottky Contact Formation	29
		3.1.5	Passivation Deposition	29
		3.1.6	Passivation Etch and Bond Pad Metal Deposition	30
	3.2	Design	a Selections	32
		3.2.1	Ohmic Metallization	32
		3.2.2	Schottky Metallization	33
		3.2.3	Passivation Selection	36
		3.2.4	HEMT Geometry	36
	3.3	Fabric	eation Runs	39
	3.4	Addit	ional Device Architectures	39
		3.4.1	Hall-effect Sensors	39
		3.4.2	UV Photodetectors	41
	3.5	Devic	e Packaging	41
4	HE	MTs (	Operating at High Temperature in Air	44
4	<b>HE</b> 4.1	MTs ( Overv	Depending at High Temperature in Air         iew	<b>44</b> 44
4	<b>HE</b> 4.1 4.2	MTs C Overv Suppr	<b>Operating at High Temperature in Air</b> iew          ession of Leakage Current at 300°C in MoO <sub>3</sub> -Gated L-HEMTs	<b>44</b> 44 44
4	<b>HE</b> 4.1 4.2	MTs C Overv Suppr 4.2.1	Operating at High Temperature in Air         iew          ession of Leakage Current at 300°C in MoO <sub>3</sub> -Gated L-HEMTs          Motivation	<b>44</b> 44 44 44
4	HE 4.1 4.2	MTs ( Overv Suppr 4.2.1 4.2.2	Operating at High Temperature in Air         iew	<b>44</b> 44 44 44 45
4	<b>HE</b> 4.1 4.2	MTs C Overv Suppr 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3	<b>Operating at High Temperature in Air</b> iew         ession of Leakage Current at 300°C in MoO <sub>3</sub> -Gated L-HEMTs         Motivation         Experimental Methods         Results and Discussion	<b>44</b> 44 44 45 46
4	<b>HE</b> 4.1 4.2	MTs C Overv Suppr 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4	<b>Operating at High Temperature in Air</b> iew         ession of Leakage Current at 300°C in MoO <sub>3</sub> -Gated L-HEMTs         Motivation         Experimental Methods         Results and Discussion         Conclusions	<b>44</b> 44 44 45 46 50
4	<b>HE</b> 4.1 4.2	MTs C Overv Suppr 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 Analy	<b>Operating at High Temperature in Air</b> iew         ession of Leakage Current at 300°C in MoO <sub>3</sub> -Gated L-HEMTs         Motivation         Experimental Methods         Results and Discussion         Conclusions         zing IrO <sub>x</sub> -gated HEMT Behavior up to 600°C	<b>44</b> 44 44 45 46 50 50
4	<b>HE</b> 4.1 4.2 4.3	MTs C Overv Suppr 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 Analy 4.3.1	<b>Operating at High Temperature in Air</b> iew         ession of Leakage Current at 300°C in MoO <sub>3</sub> -Gated L-HEMTs         Motivation         Experimental Methods         Results and Discussion         Zing IrO <sub>x</sub> -gated HEMT Behavior up to 600°C         Motivation	<b>44</b> 44 44 45 46 50 50 50
4	<ul><li>HE2</li><li>4.1</li><li>4.2</li><li>4.3</li></ul>	MTs C Overv Suppr 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 Analy 4.3.1 4.3.2	<b>Operating at High Temperature in Air</b> iew         iew         ession of Leakage Current at 300°C in MoO <sub>3</sub> -Gated L-HEMTs         Motivation         Experimental Methods         Results and Discussion         Conclusions         zing IrO <sub>x</sub> -gated HEMT Behavior up to 600°C         Motivation         Experimental Methods	44 44 44 45 46 50 50 50 50
4	<ul><li>HE</li><li>4.1</li><li>4.2</li><li>4.3</li></ul>	MTs C Overv Suppr 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 Analy 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3	<b>Operating at High Temperature in Air</b> iew         ession of Leakage Current at 300°C in MoO <sub>3</sub> -Gated L-HEMTs         Motivation         Experimental Methods         Results and Discussion         Zing IrO <sub>x</sub> -gated HEMT Behavior up to 600°C         Motivation         Experimental Methods         Results and Discussion         Zing IrO <sub>x</sub> -gated HEMT Behavior up to 600°C         Motivation         Experimental Methods         Motivation         Experimental Methods	<ul> <li>44</li> <li>44</li> <li>44</li> <li>45</li> <li>46</li> <li>50</li> <li>50</li> <li>50</li> <li>50</li> <li>50</li> <li>51</li> </ul>
4	<ul><li>HE</li><li>4.1</li><li>4.2</li><li>4.3</li></ul>	MTs C Overv Suppr 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 Analy 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4	<b>Operating at High Temperature in Air</b> iew	44 44 44 45 46 50 50 50 50 50 50 51 57
4	<ul> <li>HE</li> <li>4.1</li> <li>4.2</li> <li>4.3</li> <li>4.4</li> </ul>	MTs C Overv Suppr 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 Analy 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 Invest	Operating at High Temperature in Air         iew         ession of Leakage Current at 300°C in MoO <sub>3</sub> -Gated L-HEMTs         Motivation         Experimental Methods         Results and Discussion         Conclusions         zing IrO <sub>x</sub> -gated HEMT Behavior up to 600°C         Motivation         Experimental Methods         gation of IrO <sub>x</sub> Schottky Barrier Contacts up to 500°C	44 44 45 46 50 50 50 50 50 51 57 59
4	<ul> <li>HE</li> <li>4.1</li> <li>4.2</li> <li>4.3</li> <li>4.4</li> </ul>	MTs C Overv Suppr 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 Analy 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 Invest 4.4.1	Operating at High Temperature in Air         iew         ession of Leakage Current at 300°C in MoO <sub>3</sub> -Gated L-HEMTs         Motivation         Experimental Methods         Results and Discussion         Conclusions         zing IrO <sub>x</sub> -gated HEMT Behavior up to 600°C         Motivation         Experimental Methods         ing IrO <sub>x</sub> -gated HEMT Behavior up to 600°C         Motivation         Experimental Methods         ing IrO <sub>x</sub> -gated HEMT Behavior up to 600°C         Motivation         Experimental Methods         Experimental Methods         Gonclusions         Gonclusions         Motivation         Experimental Methods         Motivation         Motivation         Gonclusions         Motivation         Motivation         Motivation         Motivation         Motivation	44 44 45 46 50 50 50 50 50 51 57 59 59
4	<ul> <li>HEI</li> <li>4.1</li> <li>4.2</li> <li>4.3</li> <li>4.4</li> </ul>	MTs C Overv Suppr 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 Analy 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 Invest 4.4.1 4.4.2	<b>Dperating at High Temperature in Air</b> iew         ession of Leakage Current at 300°C in MoO <sub>3</sub> -Gated L-HEMTs         Motivation         Experimental Methods         Results and Discussion         Conclusions         zing IrO <sub>x</sub> -gated HEMT Behavior up to 600°C         Motivation         Experimental Methods         igation of IrO <sub>x</sub> Schottky Barrier Contacts up to 500°C         Motivation         Introduction	44 44 44 45 46 50 50 50 50 50 51 57 59 59 60

		4.4.4	Results and Discussion
		4.4.5	Conclusions
	4.5	Mo/A	u-gated C-HEMT Operating at 476°C in Air for 6 Days 81
		4.5.1	Motivation
		4.5.2	Automated Measurement Test Setup
		4.5.3	Experimental Methods
		4.5.4	Results and Discussion
		4.5.5	Conclusions
5	HE	MTs C	Operating Under Venus Surface Conditions 87
	5.1	Overv	iew
	5.2	10-Day	y Venus Exposure Testing of GaN Microelectronics
		5.2.1	Motivation
		5.2.2	Microfabrication
		5.2.3	Experimental Methods
		5.2.4	Results and Discussion
		5.2.5	Conclusions
	5.3	Venus	Simulation Chamber Setup
		5.3.1	Motivation
		5.3.2	Pressure Vessel
		5.3.3	Equipment
		5.3.4	Electrical Feedthroughs 102
		5.3.5	Automated Measurement Setup
	5.4	4-Day	C-HEMT Exposure Testing 104
		5.4.1	Motivation
		5.4.2	Experimental Methods
		5.4.3	Results and Discussion
		5.4.4	Conclusions
	5.5	5-Day	Operation of a C-HEMT in situ Simulated Venus Surface Conditions $106$
		5.5.1	Motivation
		5.5.2	Experimental Methods
		5.5.3	Results and Discussion
		5.5.4	Conclusions

5.6	NASA GEER Implementation
	5.6.1 Motivation
	5.6.2 Passive Samples
	5.6.3 Active Sample
	5.6.4 Packaging
	5.6.5 Automated Measurement Test Setup
	5.6.6 Conclusions
6 Col 6.1	Thesis Summary
6.1	Thesis Summary
6.2	Key Contributions
6.3	Ongoing and Future Work
6.4	Concluding Remarks
Biblio	monby
	graphy

# List of Tables

1.1	The lower atmospheric gas composition on Venus $[1]$	5
1.2	Electrical Properties of Si, SiC, and GaN.	7
3.1	InAlN/AlN/GaN-on-Si wafer structure used in Casper Run microfabrication.	27
3.2	Vulcan Run sample types.	39
3.3	Casper Run sample types	39
4.1	Conventional Richardson plot extracted parameters	68
4.2	Gaussian distribution analysis extracted parameters	70
4.3	Modified Richardson plot extracted parameters	72
4.4	Trap-assisted tunneling (TAT) energy levels across the temperature range .	74
4.5	Poole-Frenkel (PF) emission activation energies	77
4.6	Effective barrier heights for FN tunneling across the temperature range	79
5.1	HEMT electrical parameters before and after exposure in the Venus chamber.	93
5.2	Virgin and post-exposure Hall-effect sensor 2DEG properties	96
5.3	Current-related sensitivities of the Hall-effect sensors before and after exposure.	97
5.4	Voltage-related sensitivities of the Hall-effect sensors before and after exposure.	97

# List of Figures

1.1	Timeline of previous Venus surface missions	4
1.2	Extreme environment applications for microelectronic devices and the demon-	
	strated operating range of silicon, silicon carbide, and galliun nitride transistors.	6
1.3	"Behavior of carriers in $1 \times 10^{16} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ doped silicon and wide bandgap	
	materials varied with temperature" by Karen M. Dowling, retrieved from	
	"Offset and Noise Behavior of Microfabricated Aluminum Gallium Nitride-	
	Gallium Nitride Two-Dimensional Electron Gas Hall-effect Sensors" used un-	
	der Attribution-NonCommercial 3.0 United States (CC BY-NC 3.0 US) [2].	
	Solid lines represent the n-type carrier concentration, $n$ , while dashed lines	
	represent the intrinsic carrier concentrations, $n_i$	7
2.1	Spontaneous (left) and piezoelectric (middle) polarization illustrations. Po-	
	larization direction and charge accumulation depicted in a cross-sectional	
	schematic of the GaN heterostructure (right).	10
2.2	Simplified cross-sectional InAlN/GaN heterostructure showing the location $\hfill \hfill \hf$	
	of the 2DEG (left). Energy band diagram of a GaN heterostructure (right),	
	adapted from Caitlin A. Chapin, retrieved from "High Temperature and	
	Transient Behavior of GaN Heterostructure Based High Electron Mobility	
	Micro-Pressure Sensors" used under Attribution-NonCommercial 3.0 United	
	States (CC BY-NC 3.0 US) [3]	13
2.3	$\rm InAlN/GaN$ and AlGaN/GaN heterostructure sheet carrier density (left) and	
	mobility (right) up to 576 °C. Reprinted with permission from AIP Publishing	
	[4]	14

2.4	Concept for a single monolithically integrated InAlN/GaN-on-Si chip with	
	several device architectures. Adapted from Caitlin A. Chapin, retrieved from	
	"High Temperature and Transient Behavior of GaN Heterostructure Based	
	High Electron Mobility Micro-Pressure Sensors" used under Attribution-	
	NonCommercial 3.0 United States (CC BY-NC 3.0 US) [3].	15
2.5	A packaged InAlN/GaN-on-Si chip (left) envisioned providing uncooled sens-	
	ing and telecommunications on a long-lived Venus surface rover (right). Rover	
	illustration adapted from [5].	15
2.6	Characteristics of depletion-mode FETs, by Phirosiberia - Dispositivos Electrónic	$\cos$
	II - Transistores unipolares ISBN848138630-8., CC BY-SA 4.0.	18
2.7	Electromigration-induced damage to InAlN/GaN HEMT metallization after	
	high temperature operation. Virgin device (left) and device after 900°C test-	
	ing under vacuum (middle), showing retreated Cu metallization. Adapted	
	from [6]. Topology of the source Ohmic contact showing metal accumulation	
	on the biased pad after 700-800°C testing under vacuum (right), adapted	
	from [7] © 2010 IEEE	21
2.8	Cross-sectional STEM image of the InAlN/GaN HEMT after $800^\circ\mathrm{C}$ exposure	
	under vacuum. Au has diffused downwards underneath Ni in the gate region.	
	Reprinted with permission from [7] $\bigcirc$ 2010 IEEE	22
2.9	Partial gate sinking effects seen in the SIMS depth profile over the Cu gate	
	on an AlGaN/GaN HEMT after a 5 minute anneal at 700 $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}.$ Reprinted with	
	permission from John Wiley and Sons [8]	23
2.10	$\rm Ti/Al/Mo/Au$ Ohmic contacts to n-GaN before (left) and after (right) there	
	mal storage at 850°C for 5 hours. Reprinted with permission from Springer $-$	
	Nature [9]	23
2.11	$\rm Si_3N_4$ passivation cracks in an InAlN/GaN HEMT after 900°C failure. Reprinted	
	from [6]	24
31	Cross-sectional device schematic of the InAlN/GaN-on-Si microfabrication	
0.1	processing steps.	31
3.2	Partial periodic table of elements tested in Venus surface conditions. Reprinted	~-
	with permission from [10].	35

3.3	Top-view optical images of a microfabricated L-HEMT (left) and C-HEMT (right).	3′
3.4	Close-up optical images of a microfabricated L-HEMT annotated with the gate-mesa sidewall overlap regions (left) and C-HEMT showing no mesa edge and critical dimensions (right).	38
4.1	Schematic of InAlN/GaN heterostructure and molybdenum gate evolution due to high temperature exposure in air (a) and optical image of microfabri- cated HEMT transistor (b).	4
4.2	$I_D - V_{GS}$ curves comparing as-deposited Mo and MoO <sub>3</sub> (a). $I_D - V_{GS}$ (solid) and $I_G - V_{GS}$ (dashed) curves from RT to 400°C (b). $I_D - V_{DS}$ curves from RT to 400°C; dotted lines represent the return response while ramping down	
4.3	to RT from 300°C (c)	40 4'
44	OFE-current (a) saturation current (b) $ON/OFE$ ratio (c) vs. temperature	4
4.5	Max transconductance (a), subthreshold swing (b), threshold-voltage (c), vs.	-10
4.6	temperature	4
4.7	20 $\mu$ m (right) channel length C-HEMTs up to 600°C in air	5
4.8	Sample B transfer characteristics of the 10 $\mu$ m (left), 15 $\mu$ m (middle), and	J.
4.9	Sample B output characteristics of the 10 $\mu$ m (left), 15 $\mu$ m (middle), and 20	5
4.10	$\mu$ m (right) channel length C-HEMTs up to 600°C in air	5
	back down to 25°C in air.	$5^{\circ}$
4.11	$V_{Th}$ of Sample A and Sample B 10 $\mu$ m (left), 15 $\mu$ m (middle), and 20 $\mu$ m (right) channel length C-HEMTs during heating up to 600°C and cooling	-
	back down to 25°C in air.	5

4.12	$I_{D,on}/I_{D,off}$ of Sample A and Sample B 10 $\mu$ m (left), 15 $\mu$ m (middle), and 20	
	$\mu$ m (right) channel length C-HEMTs during heating up to 600°C and cooling	
	back down to 25°C in air.	56
4.13	$I_{D,off}$ of Sample A and Sample B 10 $\mu {\rm m}$ (left), 15 $\mu {\rm m}$ (middle), and 20 $\mu {\rm m}$	
	(right) channel length C-HEMTs during heating up to $600^{\circ}$ C and cooling	
	back down to $25^{\circ}$ C in air.	57
4.14	$I_G$ of Sample A and Sample B 10 $\mu {\rm m}$ (left), 15 $\mu {\rm m}$ (middle), and 20 $\mu {\rm m}$	
	(right) channel length C-HEMTs during heating up to $600^{\circ}$ C and cooling	
	back down to $25^{\circ}$ C in air.	58
4.15	Sample A L-HEMT transfer (left) and output (right) characteristics up to	
	600°C in air	59
4.16	Sample B L-HEMT transfer (left) and output (right) characteristics up to	
	600°C in air	59
4.17	Top-view optical image of the microfabricated $IrO_x/InAlN/GaN$ Schottky	
	diode (a) and cross-sectional device diagram with dimensions (b)	63
4.18	Measured $J - V$ characteristics of the Schottky diode from 25°C to 500°C.	
	The dominant current transport mechanisms and their associated regions are	
	labeled.	64
4.19	Conduction band edge diagrams of current transport mechanisms in $\rm IrO_x/InAlN$	/GaN
	Schottky diode. Thermionic emission (TE) at forward bias $(V > 0)$ is shown	
	in (a); trap-assisted tunneling (TAT) shown in (b), Poole-Frenkel (PF) emis-	
	sion shown in (c), and Fowler-Nordheim (FN) tunneling shown in (d) are	
	dominant in the low, medium, and high reverse bias $(V < 0)$ regions, respec-	
	tively. Continuum of states is depicted by the gray line	65
4.20	Thermionic emission plot $\ln(J_{TE}) - V$ from 25°C to 500°C. Experimental	
	data are shown as circles. Linear fits are represented as dotted lines. Inset	
	shows the measured reverse saturation current values, $J_0$ , versus temperature.	66
4.21	Apparent barrier height, $\phi_{ap}$ , and ideality factor, $n$ , from 25°C to 500°C	
	obtained from the $J_{TE} - V - T$ analysis. The inset shows $\phi_{ap}$ versus $n$ ,	
	which has two distinct linear regions. Linear fits are represented as dotted	
	lines	66
4.22	The conventional Richardson plot $\ln(J_0/T^2)$ versus $q/k_BT$ . Linear fits are	
	represented as dotted lines.	67

4.23	Gaussian probability distribution of barrier heights (a) and conduction band	
	edge diagram depicting barrier inhomogeneity (b)	69
4.24	$\phi_{ap}$ and $n^{-1} - 1$ versus $q/2k_BT$ plots. Linear fits are represented as dotted	
	lines	70
4.25	Modified Richardson plot. Linear fits are represented as dotted lines	71
4.26	Trap-assisted tunneling plot $\ln(J_{TAT})$ versus $1/E$ . Experimental data are	
	shown as circles. Linear fits are represented as dotted lines	73
4.27	Calculated electric field as a function of voltage $(E - V)$ plot. $C - V$ exper-	
	imental data and the calculated 2DEG density are displayed in the inset.	75
4.28	Poole-Frenkel emission plot $\ln(J_{PF}/E)$ versus $\sqrt{E}$ . The plot has three dis-	
	tinct regions: low-field, mid-field, and high-field. Linear fits are represented	
	as dotted lines.	76
4.29	Extracted $c_T$ and $m_T$ values versus $q/k_BT$ . Low-field, mid-field, and high-	
	field values are shown, and linear fits are represented as dotted lines	76
4.30	Fowler-Nordheim tunneling plot $\ln\left(\frac{J_{FN}}{E^2}\right)$ versus $1/E$ . Experimental data	
	are shown as circles. Linear fits are represented as dotted lines	78
4.31	Trap-assisted tunneling, Poole-Frenkel emission, and Fowler-Nordheim emis-	
	sion models fit to the electric field. Experimental data at $25^\circ\mathrm{C}$ to $500^\circ\mathrm{C}$ are	
	displayed as square and circular markers, respectively	80
4.32	Block diagram of the automated measurement test setup developed to oper-	
	ate devices at high temperatures on the probe station for extended durations.	82
4.33	Optical images of the wirebonded C-HEMT (a), close-up of the packaged	
	sample die showing the wirebonds and epoxy (b), and the sample and RTD	
	ceramic packages prior to testing (c)	83
4.34	C-HEMT output (left) and transfer (right) characteristics collected during	
	heating in air from 25°C to 476°C. $\ldots$	84
4.35	Select C-HEMT output (left) and transfer (right) characteristics collected at	
	476°C in air at various time points during the experiment	85
4.36	Extracted C-HEMT device parameters versus time at 476 $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ in air over the	
	course of the experiment.	86

5.1	Cross-sectional schematic of the InAlN/GaN HEMTs (a), InAlN/GaN Hall-	
	effect sensors (b), and AlGaN/GaN UV photodetectors (c) exposed to the	
	Venus-simulant environment. Interfaces where the 2DEG is present are rep-	
	resented by white dashed line [11] $\bigcirc$ 2021 IEEE	90
5.2	Optical image of the microfabricated HEMT before (left) and after (right)	
	the 10-day simulated Venus exposure [11] $\bigcirc$ 2021 IEEE	92
5.3	$I_D - V_{DS}$ (a), transconductance (b), $I_D - V_{GS}$ (c), and $I_G - V_{GS}$ (d) of the 5	
	$\mu$ m gate-length HEMT before and after exposure in the Venus chamber [11]	
	© 2021 IEEE	94
5.4	Post-exposure Auger depth profile over the $IrO_x$ gate on the InAlN/GaN	
	HEMT [11] © 2021 IEEE	95
5.5	$I_D - V_{DS}$ (a) and $I_D - V_{GS}$ (b) of the virgin 1 $\mu$ m gate-length HEMT char-	
	acterized at high-temperature in air [11] $\bigodot$ 2021 IEEE	95
5.6	Voltage-related versus current-related sensitivity for the three Hall-effect sen-	
	sors before and after exposure [11] $\bigcirc$ 2021 IEEE	96
5.7	Photocurrent reponse of the 6 UV photodetectors under 365 nm illumination	
	before and after Venus chamber exposure [11] $\bigcirc$ 2021 IEEE	98
5.8	SEM image of UV photodetector after exposure in the Venus chamber. Con-	
	tact with Al wire bond bump is shown on the right [11] $\bigcirc$ 2021 IEEE	98
5.9	3D rendering of the XLab Venus chamber from Parr Instruments. Views of	
	the chamber from the front (a), right (b), back (c), left (d) and the chamber's	
	front cross-section (ed), tilted cross-section (f), fixed head bottom (g) and	
	fixed head top (h). Diagrams rendered by Parr Instruments	101
5.10	External (a) and internal (b) pictures of the XLab Venus Simulation chamber	
	set up in the laboratory.	103
5.11	Block diagram of the automated test setup to collect device data <i>in situ</i> the	
	XLab Venus simulation chamber.	104
5.12	Optical images pre-exposure and post-exposure of 3 circular HEMTs (a, b),	
	and $I_D - V_{DS}$ (c, d) and $I_D - V_{GS}$ characteristics (e, f) of the 20- $\mu$ m channel-	
	width device before and after 4-day exposure in the XLab Venus simulation	
	chamber	106
5.13	Temperature and pressure inside of the XLab Venus simulation chamber over	
	the course of the 5-day in situ C-HEMT characterization experiment	107

5.14	Optical image of the packaged sample inside the chamber with loose pin after	
	8.5 hours (left). Image of the device's source wirebond after 5 days 21 hours	
	with pads labelled (right)	108
5.15	Electrical measurements taken at at $25^\circ\mathrm{C}$ initially (red) and at the 8.5 hour	
	(black) and 5 day 21 hour marks (blue). Solid blue lines represent mea-	
	surements taken touching the probes down on the device wirebonding pads;	
	dashed blue lines represent measurements taken touching the probes down	
	on the package wirebonding pads.	108
5.16	C-HEMT output (left) and transfer( right) characteristics collected during	
	heating in the XLab Venus simulation chamber from 25°C to 465°C.	110
5.17	Select C-HEMT output (left) and transfer(right) characteristics collected at	
	465°C at various time points during the Venus simulation.	111
5.18	Extracted C-HEMT device parameters versus time at 465°C over the course	
	of the experiment.	111
5.19	Optical images, from left to right: virgin DUT prior to experiment, unbi-	
	ased device after the experiment, unbiased device with wirebonds after the	
	experiment, and DUT after the experiment	112
5.20	Image of board with six XLab die prepared for pasive GEER chamber testing	g.115
5.21	Images from left to right: chip carrier, chip carrier after attaching a test	
	sample, active sample on chip carrier showing wirebond connections 1 and	
	2, active sample on chip carrier on multi-sensor package showing gold wire	
	(connection 3). Leftmost two images courtesy of MEI. Die shown are 5 mm	
	x 5 mm	116
5.22	Images from left to right: draft schematic of the multi-sensor package design,	
	3D rendering of the multi-sensor package, the prepared multi-sensor package	
	ready for testing, reference resistor on Stanford package with connections	
	annotated by yellow and red lines. Schematic and 3D rendering courtesy of	
	MEI	116
5.23	Block diagram of the automated measurement test setup developed for $in\ situ$	
	device characterization at GEER. Diagram courtesy collaborator Mengyang	
	Yuan at MIT.	118

5.24	4 Diagram of the program executed by the Python program written for <i>in situ</i>				
	device characterization at GEER. Diagram courtesy collaborator Mengyang				
	Yuan at MIT	118			

# Chapter 1

# Introduction

# 1.1 Planetary Science Objectives for Venus Surface Exploration

Venus is often referred to as Earth's twin or "sister planet" because of their similar size, mass, and composition. The scientific reasons to explore Venus are compelling; despite its location in the same part of the solar system and similar attributes to neighboring Earth, the two planets are starkly different. NASA has outlined several key planetary science objectives for future Venus surface missions including detailing the mineralogy, observing the seismology and metrology, and understanding chemical interactions between the atmosphere and the surface [12]. Long term missions beyond 2 Earth months to the surface of Venus are needed to make seismic observations and characterize atmosphere-surface chemistry over an extended duration. This data can illuminate the origin and diversity of terrestrial bodies, such as how Venus and Earth diverged in climate and geology. There are outstanding questions regarding the evolution of Venus, such as the extent and disappearance of ancient oceans it is believed to have hosted. Venus, which sits within the habitable zone, may have been the solar system's first hospitable planet, despite the smoldering inhospitable conditions in the present day. Deepening our understanding of Venus can help identity the factors that determine the origin and evolution of life on Earth. Further Venus study can help answer pressing questions regarding whether life evolved during the habitable period and how long the habitability period lasted [13]. We could learn how habitability can be lost on a planetary scale. Moreover, a surface study of the runaway greenhouse gas effect on Venus can increase our understanding of the processes that control climate change on Earthlike planets [14–16]. Yet the mission funding necessary to facilitate detailed study of Venus has been extremely limited in favor of funding exploration of higher priority destinations like Mars. The reasons why Venus exploration has long been neglected by funding agencies will be discussed in subsequent sections.

## **1.2** Surface Mission Concepts and Target Durations

Target operational durations for conceptual Venus surface missions developed by NASA vary in ambition. NASA's Long Lived In-situ Solar System Explorer (LLISSE) project aims to develop a small Venus lander with an operational target of 60 Earth days, which is approximately one Venus "daylight period" and day/night transition [17, 18]. This would allow observation of processes on Venus that are dynamic with time of day and solar lighting conditions, such as the temperature profile, wind structure, and cloud formation and dissipation processes [15]. The Venus Flagship mission study, which encompasses a variety of designs including an aerobot, lander, orbiter, and SmallSat, is estimated to cost \$3.7 billion and targets a mere 8 hours of surface science study from the lander [12]. The Venus Intrepid Tessera Lander (VITaL) concept to safely land in one of Venus' mountainous tessera regions aims to characterize chemistry and mineralogy, place constraints on the size and temporal extent of a possible ocean that may have existed on Venus, and characterize the morphology of surface units [19]. The total mission time of VITaL is 3 hours, including 2 in the surface environment. The thermal design relies on a phase change material, Lithium nitrate trihydrate (LNT), to provide cooling of the electronic decks for 2 hours. Perhaps most ambitious of all, a concept for a Venus sample return mission was previously considered in depth by NASA/JPL [20]. The idea was to use parachutes to drop small samplers on the surface. Once the soil or rock was collected, the samplers would be ballooned up to several small UAVs and transferred to a rocket. That mission concept was ultimately rejected due to significant probability of failure at several critical junctures, among them the thermal exposure of instrumentation during sample drilling [21]. The scope of these mission concepts is limited by the short durations necessitated by technical hurdles discussed later in this chapter. Increased mission operational times on the scale of weeks or months could offer significant advancements in the scientific knowledge of Venus, particularly by enabling remote control of the lander or rover. This would allow for human-in-the-loop decision

making in regards to where to drill or image for detailed sample analysis [22].

# **1.3** Previous Venus Surface Missions

A comprehensive timeline of previous missions to the surface of Venus is shown in Figure 1.1 [23]. In 1970, the Soviet Union's Venera 7 became the first spacecraft to ever land on another planet. It transmitted data from the surface of Venus for just 23 minutes. Two additional Soviet Venera missions reached the surface in 1972 and 1975, respectively. Venera 9 marked the first image ever taken of the surface of another planet. In 1978 both the Soviet Union and NASA sent missions to Venus, which transmitted data for 1 to 2 hours. In 1981, Venera 13 and 14 reached the surface. Microphones on the Venera 13 probe made the first recording of sound on another planet in an attempt to measure wind speed. Venera 13 transmitted data for 127 minutes. And finally, in 1985, the Vega missions reached Venus. This is the final chapter in the program of Russian exploration of Venus, which discovered most of what is known today about our neighboring planet. There has not been a Venus surface exploration mission in 37 years. Since that time, the additional information learned about Venus has come from orbiting spacecraft and satellites, which can have difficulty penetrating Venus' thick cloud cover and cannot address many of the lingering scientific questions about Venus.



Figure 1.1: Timeline of previous Venus surface missions.

# **1.4 Venus' Extreme Environment**

As discussed in the previous section, Venera 13 set the record for the longest operational lifetime of a Venus surface mission at 127 minutes, or just over 2 hours. Venera 13's lifetime is orders of magnitude shorter than the record length lifetime of a Mars surface mission, which is 14 years and 138 days set by NASA's Opportunity rover from 2004-2018. This disparity in operable mission lifetimes between Venus and Mars reflects the technical challenge of operating microelectronics within the extreme environment on the Venusian surface.

The surface temperature on Venus is a scalding 464°C and atmospheric pressure is 92 bars, equivalent to the pressure at a depth of 1 km in Earth's oceans [24]. The chemical composition of Venus' atmospheric is caustic and corrosive. The atmosphere is composed primarily of carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) rendered into a supercritical fluid, sCO<sub>2</sub>, under the temperature and pressure conditions. Table 1.1 lists the first nine gas substituents on the Venusian surface and their percentage in the lower atmosphere determined by NASA [1]. SO<sub>2</sub>, HCl, and HF are highly corrosive and toxic to humans at low ppm levels.

Due to these environmental conditions, it's a lot easier to study and explore Mars, where

Constituent	% in the lower atmosphere
$\rm CO_2$	96.5
$N_2$	3.5
$H_2O$	0.003
$\mathrm{SO}_2$	0.018
CO	0.0012
OCS	0.0051
$H_2S$	0.0002
HCl	$5 \times 10^{-5}$
$\operatorname{HF}$	$2.5  imes 10^{-7}$

Table 1.1: The lower atmospheric gas composition on Venus [1].

the environment is far less hostile, than Venus, where the temperature can melt lead. This means the cost and technical risk for Venus missions is substantially higher for similar gains in planetary science knowledge. This is a large consideration during mission selection given that NASA has limited funding. The environmental conditions on Venus put it at a further disadvantage to receive funding because the habitability of present-day Venus is not up for dispute, and NASA's agenda has historically prioritized missions that directly relate to the search for extraterrestrial life. Humans will likely walk on Mars in the near future, which has garnered a level of public support that Venus has not. However, the increased knowledge of potentially habitable exo-worlds that could be gained by Venus exploration discussed earlier in this chapter should not be overlooked.

### **1.5** Technology Gap: Silicon Microelectronics

Among Venus' extreme environmental conditions, the high surface temperature poses the greatest obstacle to instrumentation. Despite the use of active and passive cooling measures, data transmission from Venera 13 to the orbiting satellite ceased after 2 hours due to failure of the silicon microelectronics [25]. The longevity and scope of proposed future missions to the surface of Venus are currently limited by the challenge of developing viable electronics. NASA has noted that the development of high-temperature electronics is key to enabling future Venus exploration for the long duration targets ( $\geq 60$  Earth days) [26]. The types of Venus surface instrumentation which require semiconductor microelectronic devices include mass and laser spectrometer control and read-out electronics, low-power sample handling processors to command a drill, and power system electronics to control switching and power

#### distribution [12].

Traditional microelectronics cannot operate at extreme high temperatures because they are based on silicon (Si) semiconductor technology like was used onboard Venera 13. Silicon transistors are the building blocks of all modern-day electronics. Despite continued rapid progress in enhancing silicon integrated circuit performance over the past few decades by scaling transistor size and increasing density, the hurdle of operating silicon microelectronics in high temperature environments remains due to band-gap and doping limitations. The operational temperature range of silicon transistors, even with special design considerations such as silicon-on-insulator (SOI) technology, is limited to about 350°C, well below Venus surface temperatures (Figure 1.2). At high temperatures, intrinsic carriers in a semiconductor (electrons and holes that contribute to conduction) are thermally activated into the conduction band and contribute to the current. In silicon, the intrinsic carrier concentration nears and then exceeds the doping concentration at extreme high temperatures, at which point the conduction can no longer be modulated and the device is not operational. Figure 1.3 shows intrinsic and extrinsic (doped) carrier concentrations as a function of temperature in several semiconductors [2].



Figure 1.2: Extreme environment applications for microelectronic devices and the demonstrated operating range of silicon, silicon carbide, and galliun nitride transistors.



Figure 1.3: "Behavior of carriers in  $1 \times 10^{16}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> doped silicon and wide bandgap materials varied with temperature" by Karen M. Dowling, retrieved from "Offset and Noise Behavior of Microfabricated Aluminum Gallium Nitride-Gallium Nitride Two-Dimensional Electron Gas Hall-effect Sensors" used under Attribution-NonCommercial 3.0 United States (CC BY-NC 3.0 US) [2]. Solid lines represent the n-type carrier concentration, n, while dashed lines represent the intrinsic carrier concentrations,  $n_i$ .

# **1.6** Potential Solution: Wide-Bandgap Semiconductors

Wide-bandgap (WBG) semiconductors such as silicon carbide (SiC) and gallium nitride (GaN) have recently emerged as promising material platforms for uncooled extreme environment electronics due to their stability at high temperatures, inherent radiation tolerance, and chemical resistance [27–29]. A comparison of key electrical properties in Si, SiC, and GaN are shown in Table 1.2. The intrinsic carrier concentrations in SiC and GaN are much lower than in Si due to their  $3 \times$  wider bandgaps. These WBG materials do not suffer from the excessive carrier concentration issues experienced by Si at high temperature.

Property	$\mathbf{Si}$	$\mathbf{SiC}$	$\operatorname{GaN}$
Energy Bandgap (eV) [30]	1.1	3.3	3.4
Intrinsic carrier concentration at $300^{\circ}C$ [27]	$1  imes 10^{15}$	$1 \times 10^7$	$1 \times 10^5$
Electron Mobility $(cm^2/V-s)$ [30, 31]	1350	950	$2150^{1}$
Highest Temperature of Operation (°C) [32–34]	$350^{2}$	600	1000

Table 1.2: Electrical Properties of Si, SiC, and GaN.

<sup>1</sup>In 2DEG <sup>2</sup>SOI

#### Silicon Carbide

SiC microelectronics have been pursued and matured for Venus surface exploration applications by researchers at NASA [35, 36]. In the most rigorous experiment demonstrating the viable operation of SiC microelectronics for Venus surface exploration to date, Neudeck *et al.* demonstrated the stable operation of SiC junction field effect transistor (JFET) integrated circuits under Venus surface atmospheric conditions for 60 days [36]. The devices were directly exposed (e.g. no packaging or cooling) inside the NASA Glenn Extreme Environment Rig (GEER) and tested *in situ* over the duration. The ICs experienced a small increase in frequency, primarily over the first 20 days of exposure, which the authors attributed to burn-in. This demonstration indicates SiC microelectronics could be a potential solution to long-lived Venus surface missions.

#### Gallium Nitride

While SiC and GaN are both competitive for high-temperature operation, the GaN material platform offers several advantages. First, GaN heterostructures have the unique ability to form a conducting channel called the two-dimensional electron gas (2DEG) without the use of doping like is necessary in Si and SiC. Unlike doped junctions, the 2DEG channel is unaffected by adverse dopant scattering and diffusion effects at elevated temperatures. Second, GaN heterostructures can achieve very high electron mobilities over  $2 \times$  greater than in SiC, meaning that GaN can offer enhanced device performance for high frequency applications such as communications and timing (Table 1.2). Third, GaN devices have higher power efficiency than SiC devices due to lower conduction loses, which are highly dependent on the on-state resistance. This is advantageous for power-constrained applications, such as a Venus surface lander.

Previous studies on the high-temperature operation of GaN heterostructure devices in inert and air ambient are promising [4,6,7,34,37–41]. InAlN/GaN heterostructure high electron mobility transistors (HEMTs) have been reported to operate for 25 hours at 1000°C in vacuum [34]. Even with these recent breakthroughs, there have been no reported studies on the effects of exposure to a Venus surface environment on GaN microelectronics, or comparable assessments of GaN electronics operating within Venus surface atmospheric conditions such as those reported for SiC. This can be attributed to the relative immaturity of GaN technology compared to SiC technology, which in turn led to NASA's dedication to advancing the development, complexity, and capabilities of SiC microelectronics for Venus surface exploration. NASA has launched the High Operating Temperature Technology (HOTTech) program to support the development and maturation of other critical technologies for high temperature electronics that significantly enhance space exploration and discoveries to high-temperature, harsh environments like on Venus. Here, I present compelling proof-of-concept research towards maturing GaN microelectronics for Venus surface exploration that has been funded in part by the HOTTech program.

# 1.7 Thesis Overview

This thesis presents original research investigating the viability of InAlN/GaN HEMTs for Venus surface exploration applications. The case for future missions to Venus and the need for uncooled microelectronics that motivate this thesis work is covered in Chapter 1. The necessary background on the InAlN/GaN heterostructure, high electron mobility transistor operation and architecture, and relevant degradation mechanisms that present challenges to reliable high temperature device operation are presented in Chapter 2. In Chapter 3, the microfabrication process and metallization and passivation material choices and geometry schemes chosen during the design phase are covered. Chapter 4 and 5 present compelling proof-of-concept demonstrations of uncooled GaN heterostructure devices with various metallization and passivation schemes operating in situ hot air ambient and simulated Venus surface conditions for extended durations. Potential degradation mechanisms and their impact on electrical characteristics are discussed. For the first time, a GaN heterostructure device is demonstrated successfully operating under simulated Venus surface conditions in the form of an InAlN/GaN C-HEMT. The experiment concluded after 5 days and 21 hours. This work represents a  $70 \times$  improvement in operating length over traditional Si microelectronics that lasted just over 2 hours on Venus' surface and required bulky active cooling. The results support the further maturation of this device and technology platform to provide a new uncooled microelectronics solution not only for space applications, but for other high temperature oxidizing and corrosive ambient applications including: down-hole oil and gas, CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration, and structural health monitoring for aircraft engines.

# Chapter 2

# Background

# 2.1 GaN Heterostructures

GaN is binary III-V WBG semicondcutor. GaN has a hexagonal wurtzite crystal structure. When the crystal lattice is grown in the [0001] direction, the surface is terminated in Ga atoms, which is known as Ga-polar. Figure 2.1 shows the crystal lattice with Ga-polartiy.



Figure 2.1: Spontaneous (left) and piezoelectric (middle) polarization illustrations. Polarization direction and charge accumulation depicted in a cross-sectional schematic of the GaN heterostructure (right).

Gallium Nitride heterostructures are formed by the epitaxial growth of a thin film of a III-N ternary alloy, such as Indium Aluminum Nitride (InAlN) or Aluminum Gallium Nitride (AlGaN) on top of bulk GaN. The III-N layer on top is referred to as the barrier layer and the underlaying GaN is the buffer layer. The GaN heterostructure can experience two forms of polarization. The first is spontaneous polarization, which is inherent in the GaN heterostructure even with zero strain in the system. Figure 2.1 depicts spontaneous polarization,  $P_{SP}$ . Because the wurtzite crystal lattice has intrinsic asymmetry due to the differing electronegativities of the atoms, a dipole is formed by the Ga-N bond. The dipole segregation of the positive and negative charge concentrations in the unit cell causes the axis of the unit cell to extend in the c-plane direction and a spontaneous strain is present. Thus spontaneous polarization exists in the growth direction, which is the c-plane [0001]. On the macroscopic scale, these dipoles should cancel each other out. But in wurtzite GaN, the bonds along the c-axis are not the same length as the bonds perpendicular to the c-axis so the cancellation is not complete; thus, a net dipole exists along the c-axis.

The second form of polarization found in GaN heterostructures is piezoelectric polarization due to mechanical stress from lattice mismatch between the III-N barrier layer and the GaN buffer layer. Figure 2.1 shows spontaneous polarization,  $P_{PE}$ . Lattice mismatch refers to differing lattice constants, the distance between unit cells in a crystal lattice. The mechanical stress results in charge accumulation in the lattice. In the case of the frequently used barrier layer AlGaN, the strain in the system is usually tensile and the piezoelectric polarization  $P_{PE}$  is parallel to the spontaneous polarization,  $P_{SP}$ . The total polarization in the heterostructure is the combined spontaneous and piezoelectric polarization fields,

$$P_{TOTAL} = P_{SP} + P_{PE} \tag{2.1}$$

Figure 2.1 has a schematic of these polarization components and charge accumulation in the heterostructure.

# 2.2 InAlN/GaN versus AlGaN/GaN

The most common barrier layer used in GaN heterostructure devices is AlGaN, which exhibits both spontaneous and piezoelectric polarization on GaN. With Al-incorporation around 30%, spontaneous and piezoelectric polarization are about equal in the stack. However, the reliability of AlGaN/GaN devices at high-temperatures may be compromised by the stress resulting from the piezoelectric effect causing lattice defects [42]. By changing the barrier layer to Indium Aluminum Nitride, or InAlN, the reliability and performance of GaN heterostructure devices at high temperature may be enhanced. The InAlN barrier can be grown to be lattice-matched to the underlying GaN layer by achieving 17-18% In-incorporation [43]. With this composition of the barrier layer, tensile strain and piezo-electric polarization are not present in the heterostructure. This is particularly important at high temperature where strain relaxation has been reported in AlGaN/GaN to degrade device performance due to the dependence of the 2DEG properties on piezoelectric polarization [44]. Strain effects in the system can become more prevalent at high temperatures and cause reliability issues, so the lattice-matched structure of InAlN is thought to provide higher reliability for ultra high temperature environments due to the absence of piezoelectric strain. Furthermore, the spontaneous polarization in the InAlN/GaN heterostructure is larger than in AlGaN/GaN heterostructure, contributing to significantly higher 2DEG density [45]. The high carrier density in InAlN/GaN HEMTs makes this platform attractive for strain and pressure sensing applications.

### 2.3 The Two-Dimensional Electron Gas

Due to the polarization effects described above, a two-dimensional electron gas, or 2DEG, will be induced to form at the barrier layer-GaN interface in these heterostructures. The location of the 2DEG is depicted in Figure 2.2. The 2DEG is a quantum well of electrons, essentially a thin highly conductive sheet. The electrons in the 2DEG are commonly accepted to originate from surface states that act as donors. These donor-like surface states are electronic traps that exist due to dangling bonds or other defects present at the barrier layer surface from the crystal lattice termination. Due to polarization-induced electric fields, there is a drop in potential along the InAlN conduction band. The discontinuity of the conduction band,  $\Delta E_C$ , is due to differences in the conduction band potentials between InAlN and GaN. This results in the conduction band dipping below the Fermi level, creating the 2DEG quantum well. Figure 2.2 depicts the energy band diagram.

The density of electrons in the 2DEG is influenced by the thickness of the barrier layer [43]. In the case of AlGaN, the barrier layer thickness should be around 25 nm to ensure the full 2DEG density, whereas InAlN barrier layers can be scaled down to approximately 8 nm before 2DEG depletion occurs. This is attributed to pinned surface potential of 1.5 eV in AlGaN and only 0.4 eV in InAlN [43]. Thinning of the barrier layer while keeping high sheet carrier density is desirable because it can increase gate modulation control by reducing the gate to channel distance (e.g increase transconductance) [46]. Hence, this is another advantage of the InAlN barrier.



Figure 2.2: Simplified cross-sectional InAlN/GaN heterostructure showing the location of the 2DEG (left). Energy band diagram of a GaN heterostructure (right), adapted from Caitlin A. Chapin, retrieved from "High Temperature and Transient Behavior of GaN Heterostructure Based High Electron Mobility Micro-Pressure Sensors" used under Attribution-NonCommercial 3.0 United States (CC BY-NC 3.0 US) [3].

# 2.4 Advantages of the 2DEG at High Temperature

The GaN heterostructure is advantageous for high temperature applications because the 2DEG channel is unintentionally doped. This mitigates the deleterious adverse dopant scattering and diffusion effects experienced in the doped junctions necessary in Si and SiC. The 2DEG properties of InAlN/GaN heterostructures at high temperature in air have been experimentally measured using Hall-effect sensors. Figure 2.3 shows the electron sheet density,  $n_s$ , is stable up to temperatures as high as 576°C [4]. The 2DEG mobility,  $\mu$ , follows a power law close to the -1.5 predicted by phonon scattering, which has been shown to be the limiting mechanism in InAlN/AlN/GaN at room temperature [47,48]. The mobility is not limited by ionized impurity scattering, which determines charge transport in doped junction semiconductors [49].



Figure 2.3: InAlN/GaN and AlGaN/GaN heterostructure sheet carrier density (left) and mobility (right) up to 576°C. Reprinted with permission from AIP Publishing [4].

# 2.5 Uncooled Monolithic Integration

InAlN/GaN HEMTs are further attractive for high-temperature operation because they offer the potential for monolithic integration. Future spacecraft landed on the surface of Venus will require a full suite of uncooled microelectronics for sensing parameters such as temperature, pressure, chemistry, radiation, and seismic activity, as well as transistors, passive components, and resonators providing the sensor readout circuitry and telecommunications with the orbiting satellite. Additionally, power microelectronics are necessary to control the power systems. Monolithic integration enhances the highest performance-to-cost ratio by increasing chip functionality at lower fabrication costs. Additionally, a monolithically integrated InAlN/GaN-on-Si chip can reduce the total footprint of the on-board microelectronics, which can help lower the mission size, weight, and costs or expand the mission scope by allowing space for additional instrumentation.

Several low-power lateral GaN heterostructure devices have been investigated for harsh environment operation at Stanford, including HEMTs, UV photodetectors, Hall-effect magnetic field sensors, and MEMS resonators [11,50]. The InAlN/GaN HEMT microfabrication process described in Chapter 3 allows for co-fabrication of many of these sensors and circuitry on one monolithically integrated circuit on a single die or chip. Figure 2.4 shows a concept for a monolithically integrated InAlN/GaN-on-Si chip.

The envisioned monolithically integrated chip would be capable of withstanding the



Figure 2.4: Concept for a single monolithically integrated InAlN/GaN-on-Si chip with several device architectures. Adapted from Caitlin A. Chapin, retrieved from "High Temperature and Transient Behavior of GaN Heterostructure Based High Electron Mobility Micro-Pressure Sensors" used under Attribution-NonCommercial 3.0 United States (CC BY-NC 3.0 US) [3].

extreme temperatures and corrosion on the Venusian surface completely uncooled without the need for bulky and costly thermal and chemical protection measures. Figure 2.5 depicts this idea with a microfabricated InAlN/GaN die packaged solely for electrical connectivity purposes operating onboard a Venusian rover (e.g. no shieliding from the environment).



Figure 2.5: A packaged InAlN/GaN-on-Si chip (left) envisioned providing uncooled sensing and telecommunications on a long-lived Venus surface rover (right). Rover illustration adapted from [5].

## 2.6 The High Electron Mobility Transistor

To harness the outstanding electrical properties of the InAlN/GaN heterostructure, high electron mobility transistors (HEMTs) are fabricated. HEMTs are sometimes referred to as heterojunction field effect transistors (HFETs), a type of transistor that utilizes an electric field to modulate current in the semiconductor. A transistor is a semiconductor device used to amplify or switch electrical signals and power. Transistors are the basic building blocks of modern electronics. HEMTs leverage the 2DEG as the conducting channel (e.g. the electrons in the 2DEG are the charge carriers) and have three terminals: two Ohmic contacts called the source (S) and drain (D), and one Schottky barrier contact called the gate (G) between the two other terminals. The HEMTs discussed in this thesis are inherently normally-on and in the depletion mode, because the 2DEG channel is present in the heterostructure with zero applied bias. Normally-off, or enhancement mode, GaN HEMT technology where the device is off without applied bias can be achieved by modifications to the device structure, such as the addition of a p-type GaN layer under the gate, or recessing the gate [51].

#### Metal-Semiconductor Contacts

The three terminals of the HEMT device are metal-semiconductor (M-S) contacts. M-S junctions are a crucial component to microelectronic devices as they allow us to electrically control the semiconductor. The source, drain, and gate contacts discussed in this thesis are formed directly on the InAlN barrier layer. There are two types of M-S contacts: Schottky and Ohmic. Schottky contacts are rectifying, meaning that they block current flow in one direction, and allow current flow for the opposite polarity. Schottky contacts have an associated Schottky barrier height, which is the minimum energy required for electrons to surmount the M-S junction. The Schottky barrier height is desired to be as high as possible for high-temperature operation to minimize parasitic gate leakage currents, which will be discussed in further detail in Section 4.4.

Ohmic contacts exhibit non-rectifying behavior; they conduct for both polarities. Ohmic contacts obey Ohm's law and exhibit a linear response on an I-V curve. An ideal ohmic contact would have zero resistance and pass current without any voltage drop. Ohmic contacts are employed for the source and drain terminals, where the contact resistivity is desired to
be as low as possible. Low-resistance Ohmic contacts reduce source/drain parasitic resistances, which can improve HEMT device performance by lowering conduction losses and shortening parasitic delays in high-frequency operation. There are two primary types of Ohmic contacts: those with very low Schottky barrier heights that electrons can overcome, and those with thin barriers that electrons can easily tunnel through. The performance of both types of Ohmic contacts be improved by thermal annealing, which is a conventional step included in GaN HEMT microfabrication (Section 3.1).

#### HEMT as a Switch

The basic operating principle of the HEMT is analogous to an on/off switch. When the conductivity of the 2DEG channel is high and electrons can easily flow from source to drain, the device is "on" and the switch is closed circuit. Conversely, when the conductivity of the 2DEG channel is low and the high resistivity prevents electron flow from the source to drain, the device is "off" and the switch is open circuit. The 2DEG conductivity is modulated, and the device turned "on" or "off", by altering the voltage applied at the gate. The device can be operated in three regions depending on the magnitude of the applied drain and gate voltages.

#### Modes of Operation

Cut-off Region: In depletion-mode HEMTs, the application of a negative gate-to-source voltage ( $V_{GS}$ ) generates an electric field that repels the electrons in the channel, depleting the 2DEG. Conversely, the application of a positive  $V_{GS}$  attracts electrons to the 2DEG and increases current flow through the channel. This is referred to as the field-effect. Increasing the magnitude of the negative  $V_{GS}$  increases the width of the depletion region, until the 2DEG is fully depleted and the high resistance between the source and drain effectively impedes the flow of drain current ( $I_D$ ) from the drain to the source. This region of operation is referred to as the "off" or cut-off region, and the minimum magnitude negative gate voltage needed to switch the transistor off is referred to as the threshold voltage,  $V_{Th}$ , or the pinch-off voltage,  $V_p$ . Figure 2.6 depicts the the cut-off region on typical depletion-mode FET transfer and output curves, annotated as "Channel off".

Linear Region: When the drain-to-source voltage  $(V_{DS})$  is less than the magnitude of  $V_{GS}$ , the switch is on and the HEMT behaves like a variable resistor. Modulating  $V_{GS}$  will alter

the 2DEG resistance, and  $I_D$  for a given  $V_{GS}$  will increase linearly with applied  $V_{DS}$ . This region of operation is referred to as linear or ohmic. Switching applications such as driving a motor or controlling a relay utilize HEMTs in this mode. Figure 2.6 shows the liner region annotated.

Saturation Region: When  $V_{DS}$  is increased further, the current through the 2DEG channel will reach its maximum value and  $I_D$  saturates regardless of further applied  $V_{DS}$ . The mechanisms of channel saturation in gated HEMTs are gradual depletion and pinch-off at the drain side due to the  $V_{DS}$  gradient, and velocity saturation in a partially depleted channel [52]. In this mode of operation, referred to as the saturation region, the HEMT is "on" and behaves as a constant-current source. The magnitude of the constant current is modulated by the applied  $V_{GS}$ . This mode has applications in small-signal amplification. Figure 2.6 is annotated with the saturation region.



Figure 2.6: Characteristics of depletion-mode FETs, by Phirosiberia - Dispositivos Electrónicos II - Transistores unipolares ISBN848138630-8., CC BY-SA 4.0.

# 2.7 HEMT Demonstrations at High Temperature

While the stability of the GaN-heterostructure has been demonstrated up to 1000°C in vacuum, device failure is often reported to occur at much lower temperatures due to degradation mechanisms associated with the Ohmic and Schottky contacts and passivation schemes, which will be discussed in the next section [34].

The reduction in gate leakage is critical for high-temperature operation because it is the major source of OFF-current in depletion-mode HEMTs and leakage mechanisms (e.g., thermionic emission, thermionic trap-assisted tunneling) are generally inversely proportional to  $e^{1/kT}$  [53–57]. Multiple approaches have been explored to develop GaNheterostructure HEMTs with high ON/OFF ratios and low leakage currents including: introducing gate dielectrics for metal-insulator-semiconductor (MIS) structures (e.g., Hf<sub>2</sub>O,  $TaO_xN_v$  [58, 59], surface treatments prior to gate deposition (e.g., O<sub>2</sub> plasma + HCl, SF<sub>6</sub> plasma, KOH) [60-62], post evaporation gate anneals (e.g. N<sub>2</sub>/H<sub>2</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>) [61, 63], backfill of mesa isolation [63], use of unannealed ohmic contacts to avoid trap introduction [64], and the use of conductive refractory metal oxides (e.g., Ir/Al oxide) [65]. While enhancementmode InAlN/GaN devices have reached ON/OFF ratios of 10<sup>12</sup> [66], RT ON/OFF ratios for depletion-mode InAlN HEMTs are reported in the range  $10^3 - 10^7$  [62, 67, 68], with Herfurth *et al.* achieving the only  $10^{10}$  performance by utilizing an ultrathin barrier [37]. Chen et al. demonstrated an Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> passivated d-mode InAlN/GaN-on-Si HEMT utilizing an N<sub>2</sub> annealed Ni Schottky gate with RT ON/OFF ratio of  $10^7$  [68] and Ganguly *et al.* reported a d-mode InAlN/GaN-on-SiC HEMT using a KOH surface treatment and a Ni/Au gate with RT ON/OFF ratio of  $10^6$  [62].

There have been several compelling high-temperature studies of InAlN/GaN HEMTs in inert ambient or in vacuum utilizing different Schottky gate and dielectric stacks. Herfurth *et al.* demonstrated a high ON/OFF ratio of  $10^{10}$  at RT and  $10^6$  at 600°C in vacuum in an ultra-thin body InAlN/GaN HEMT with Cu/Pt gate metal deposited onto a 1.5nm native oxide on the surface [37]. In the most extreme test of the InAlN/GaN HEMT to date, Maier *et al.* demonstrated a lattice-matched InAlN/GaN HEMT with a molybdenum gate metal and SiN passivation for 25 hours in vacuum at 1000°C [34]. However, ON/OFF ratio is not reported. There have been no studies on high-temperature (>300°C) operation of depletionmode InAlN/GaN HEMTs in air or corrosive ambient. It is necessary to investigate the effects of the air environment on high-temperature performance of these devices because not all applications permit hermetic sealing to protect from the environment, including Venus surface exploration applications. The effects of oxidation on the contact metallization, barrier layer surface, and 2DEG charge density must be further studied for the InAlN/GaN material platform.

### 2.8 Degradation Mechanisms in GaN HEMTs

Degradation mechanisms are the physical, chemical, thermodynamic, mechanical or other processes that worsen device performance. Device "failure", and the difference between partial or total failure, is subjective; the tolerance limits for semiconductor device reliability are determined by application. Common tolerance limits for commercial-off-the-shelf (COTS) semiconductor devices are within  $\pm 20\%$  over the temperature range, which is usually -40°C to +150°C. Some applications require higher reliability than others and will therefore require parameter tolerances to be kept within narrower limits. In this work, the term "failure" is only used to refer to total, permanent device failure (e.g. the device no longer conducts current on the same order of magnitude).

Reliable operation of InAlN/GaN HEMTs at high temperature is frequently limited not by the heterostructure itself, but by premature failure of the contact metallization or passivation scheme. Reported high-temperature degradation mechanisms associated with the contacts include gate sinking, metal accumulation that leads to ball-up, gold diffusion, and electromigration.

#### Electromigration

Electromigration (EM) refers to the transport of atoms by current flow in a material. With high current density, the dissipation of heat in a material can break down and physically move atoms via electron flow. The breakdown of the material due to EM can cause absences and deposits of the material, such as voids and local accumulations. EM is a widespread degradation mechanism in microelectronics that most commonly effects the malleable metals in the semiconductor device stack, such as the Ohmic and Schottky contacts. EM can cause total device failure, as well as shorts and open circuits. EM effects are substantially worsened at high temperature due to material softening. Device geometry can also enhance the deleterious effects of EM. For example, because current density will be higher at corners, abrupt changes in the contact shape or edges can increase EM effects. Maier *et al.* identified Cu electromigration under large signal RF operation as the cause of failure while operating InAlN/GaN HEMTs at 900°C in vacuum [6]. Break-up of the source Ohmic contact metallization under strong-field was identified as the failure mode in InAlN/GaN HEMTs during 700–800°C temperature cycling in vacuum [7]. Figure 2.7 shows the retreated Cu gate metallization and damage to the source contact region after biasing. In both cases, no metal diffusion into or alloying with the InAlN barrier layer occurred, demonstrating the reliability of the heterostructure itself.



Figure 2.7: Electromigration-induced damage to InAlN/GaN HEMT metallization after high temperature operation. Virgin device (left) and device after 900°C testing under vacuum (middle), showing retreated Cu metallization. Adapted from [6]. Topology of the source Ohmic contact showing metal accumulation on the biased pad after 700-800°C testing under vacuum (right), adapted from [7] © 2010 IEEE.

#### Metal Diffusion

During the microfabrication process for GaN HEMTs described in Section 3.1, Ohmic contact formation requires a high temperature anneal so the metals can diffuse and form intermetallic compounds. The processing conditions for different metal stacks are optimized to achieve low resistivity. However, further thermal exposure during high temperature storage or operation can deteriorate the integrity of the contact. Undesired metal diffusion is a leading cause of device degradation in GaN HEMTs. While electromigration requires electrical activation, metal diffusion occurs at elevated temperatures without an applied bias. The diffusion lengths of metals increase with temperatures, and mobile metal atoms can migrate and cause accumulations or voids. Maier *et al.* found that diffused Au in Ni/Au HEMT gate metallization replaced Ni on the barrier layer surface, which is identified as a prime failure source after 700°C exposure [7]. Figure 2.8 shows a cross-sectional TEM image of the degraded Ni/Au gate.

#### Gate Sinking

Gate sinking is another cause of device degradation in GaN HEMTs. During gate sinking, the gate material will diffuse down and consume the underlying barrier layer or insulator



Figure 2.8: Cross-sectional STEM image of the InAlN/GaN HEMT after 800°C exposure under vacuum. Au has diffused downwards underneath Ni in the gate region. Reprinted with permission from [7] © 2010 IEEE.

layer, in some cases making direct electrical contact to the 2DEG. The metal atoms can increase scattering in the channel and reduce mobility, or act as deep level traps to carriers in the channel [8]. Gate sinking can be due to metal diffusion, electromigration, or interfacial reactions between the gate material and oxygen adsorbed onto the barrier layer surface. Ao *et al.* reported the failure of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs after annealing at 700°C in N<sub>2</sub> ambient for 30 minutes due to diffusion of the Cu gate electrode down into the 2DEG [8]. Figure 2.9 shows the SIMS depth profile of the Cu/AlGaN interface after 5 minutes of 700°C anneal, where partial gate sinking is seen. Ostermaier *et al.* reported a high temperature-induced metal sinking effect seen in Ir-gated InAlN/GaN HEMTs attributed to the diffusion of oxygen adsorbed onto the barrier layer surface into the Ir layer at 500°C [69]. Wu *et al.* attributed high temperature-induced  $I_D$  reduction and  $V_{Th}$  shift to gate sinking after 175°C operation [70].

#### **Oxidation of the Metallization**

Another mechanism which may degrade device performance at high temperatures in oxidizing ambients such as air is oxidation, which can cause corrosion and volatilization of metals. This affects the integrity of the materials. The oxidation of as-deposited Mo gate metal, and the subsequent high-temperature volatilization in air that caused device failure at 400°C, is discussed in Section 4.2. Selvanathan *et al.* identified oxide formation on Ti/Al/Mo/Au Ohmic contacts after thermal storage at 850°C for 5 hours, causing non-linear I - V characteristics and the surface discoloration shown in Figure 2.10 [9].



Figure 2.9: Partial gate sinking effects seen in the SIMS depth profile over the Cu gate on an AlGaN/GaN HEMT after a 5 minute anneal at 700°C. Reprinted with permission from John Wiley and Sons [8].



Figure 2.10: Ti/Al/Mo/Au Ohmic contacts to n-GaN before (left) and after (right) thermal storage at 850°C for 5 hours. Reprinted with permission from Springer Nature [9].

#### **Passivation Cracks**

An additional material is frequently coated onto the top of GaN HEMTs to "passivate" the device surface. The passivation layer has the advantage of shielding the GaN heterostructure from chemical reactions, contamination, and oxidation of the barrier layer. By isolating the heterostructure from its environmental conditions, the semiconducting properties of the device can be preserved. Passivation techniques can be particularly important in GaN devices to stabilize the donor-like states at the surface of the InAlN layer that are the origin of the electrons in the 2DEG. Inert materials with high chemical corrosion such as silicon nitride (SiN<sub>x</sub>) and aluminum oxide (Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>) are frequently used to passivate the surface of GaN HEMTs. Yet, passivation is not without its drawbacks for high temperature

operation. While the InAlN/GaN HEMT system can be lattice-matched to mitigate stress in the heterostructure, the addition of a passivation layer frequently induces stress in the system. Passivations are normally amorphous. The resulting passivation films are brittle and can be non-stochiometric, which can lead to a thermal stress profile. This can be a reliability issue for high temperature device applications. As the temperature of operation is increased, thermal mismatch between the passivation and substrate can lead to cracking in the passivation layer. Maier *et al.* reported cracking in Si<sub>3</sub>N<sub>4</sub>-passivated InAlN/GaN-on-SiC HEMTs at 900°C around the mesa edge, which interfered with the gate metallization. An image of this passivation degradation is included in Figure 2.11.



Figure 2.11:  $Si_3N_4$  passivation cracks in an InAlN/GaN HEMT after 900°C failure. Reprinted from [6].

# 2.9 Summary

This chapter covered the fundamentals of GaN heterostructures, such as the polarization, 2DEG conducting channel, and InAlN and AlGaN barrier layers. Advantages of the In-AlN/GaN heterostructure, such as avoiding dopant scattering effects at high temperature and the potential for uncooled monolithic integration of various devices on one chip, are discussed. The high electron mobility transistor (HEMT) is introduced, and the basic device components, modes of operation, and previous evaluations of GaN HEMTs operating at high temperatures are presented. Gate leakage currents remain a challenge to successful high temperature device operation, and previous high temperature investigations have been conducted in inert ambient or under vacuum. Therefore, the behavior of these devices in oxidizing or corrosive ambient at high temperature requires further study. The chapter concludes with an overview of the primary mechanisms by which GaN HEMTs are known to degrade at high temperature. Previous research indicates that the degradation of InAlN/GaN HEMTs is limited not by the reliability of the heterostructure itself, but by the metallization and passivation schemes. The metallization can fail due to electromigration, metal diffusion, gate sinking, or oxidation, and the passivation can crack due to strain. Thus, these device components require further failure materials effects and analysis to increase the overall device reliability at high temperature.

# Chapter 3

# Microfabrication and Device Design

# 3.1 Fabrication Overview

In this section, the six main steps involved in the InAlN/GaN HEMT microfabrication process will be reviewed. All microfabrication was performed at the Stanford Nanofabrication Facility (SNF) and Stanford Nano Shared Facilities (SNSF). Figure 3.1 depicts the microfabrication processing steps.

#### 3.1.1 Metal-organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD)

The first step in the InAlN/GaN HEMT microfabrication process is the growth of the InAlN/GaN-on-Si wafer structure (Figure 3.1). Metal-organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) is an epitaxy technique used to deposit thin, high quality, single-crystal overlayers onto a crystalline substate. MOCVD is a common technology for producing III-V compound semiconductor wafers. During MOCVD, the substrate is placed into the reactor and heated. Gas containing the desired precursors is flowed over the substrate surface, where the precursor molecules decompose at high temperature and atoms deposit onto the surface of the wafer. The atoms are incorporated into the crystal lattice and the epitaxial structure is grown one atomic layer at time. The material composition of the layers is tailored *in situ* by changing the gas precursors. Typical substrates for GaN growth include SiC, sapphire, Si, or GaN. III-Nitride growth on Si typically begins with an AlN nucleation layer because GaN cannot nucleate directly on Si. The AlN layer will reduce lattice mismatch-induced strain and threading dislocations and protect the Si from Ga doping and melt-back etching [71, 72]. The rest of the buffer layer further promotes nucleation and reduces misorientation [73]. Usually, the buffer layers are graded from AlN to  $Al_xGa_{1-x}N$ to GaN through varying the Al composition, x. Between the GaN channel layer and In-AlN barrier layer, a thin AlN spacer layer is sometimes included. This modification to the heterostructure has been shown to reduce roughness scattering at the interface and result in higher electron mobilities in the 2DEG channel [43, 74]. Finally, the InAlN barrier layer is deposited.

Due to the nature of the deposition process, the epitaxial layers are unintentionally doped (UID) despite the absence of a dopants in the growth recipe (e.g. no additional gas precursors are included). UID III-Nitride layers typically exhibit n-type conductivity with low background doping concentrations on the order of  $\approx 10^{16} - 10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> due to the incorporation of oxygen and silicon impurities during growth [75–77]. All of the wafers used for microfabrication in this thesis work were Ga-polar (Section 2.1).

Layer	Material	Al Composition	Thickness (nm)
4	InAlN	0.82	10
3	AlN	1	0.8
2	$\operatorname{GaN}$	_	1000
1	Buffer	_	300
Substrate	Si	_	$6.25 \times 10^5$

Table 3.1: InAlN/AlN/GaN-on-Si wafer structure used in Casper Run microfabrication.

The InAlN/GaN-on-Si wafer structure used in Casper Run fabrication grown via MOCVD was purchased from NTT-AT. The substrate was a 4-inch high-resistivity ( $\geq$ 5000  $\Omega$ -cm) Si (111) substrate. Table 3.1 lists the epitaxial layer stack details; layer 1 is directly grown onto the substrate and layer 4 is the top of the stack. The barrier layer thickness and Al composition were experimentally verified after growth. The total thickness of the epitaxial stack averaged 1292 nm. The sheet resistivity determined by eddy current measurement averaged 229  $\Omega/\Box$  with standard deviation 6  $\Omega/\Box$ .

#### 3.1.2 Mesa Isolation Etch

Following MOCVD growth of the heterostructure, the device active areas, or channels, are defined and electrically isolated from one another by mesa isolation etching (Figure 3.1 Step 2). The mesa isolation etch step also defines the alignment markers that are used in the subsequent lithography steps throughout the microfabrication process. First, direct-write lithography methods are used to create a patterned photoresist mask that coats and protects the device active areas. The wafer sample then undergoes an inductively-coupled plasma (ICP) reactive ion etch (RIE) which removes the InAlN barrier layer and part of the GaN channel in the areas of the wafer not covered by photoresist. The 2DEG no longer exists in the etched regions, and the device active areas are now referred to as "mesas" where the InAlN barrier layer and 2DEG channel are still present.

ICP-RIE etchers work by generating a plasma with an RF powered magnetic field. The chemically reactive plasma removes exposed material on the sample in the vertical direction through chemical and physical ion bombardment processes. The desired results of mesa isolation etching are minimized surface damage such as pitting, maintain Ga/N composition ratio, and smooth vertical mesa sidewalls. As is common in III-V heterostructures, the etch chemistry used in the ICP etch was chlorine-based  $Cl_2/BCl_3/Ar$  plasma. A combination of Cl radical chemical reactions and  $Cl_2+$  ion bombardment contribute to the GaN ICP etching [78]. BCl<sub>3</sub> plasma is added for native oxide removal, inhibiting lateral etching, reducing sputter desorption, and scavenging the water vapor [73, 79, 80].

The plasma etch recipe used in this work was developed and used at the SNF Oxford Instruments PlasmaPro System 100 III-V. This step does not require precise etch depths as long as the entirety of the 10 nm-thick InAlN layer is removed, so overetching into the GaN channel is performed to ensure device isolation. The Casper Run etch depth was estimated by atomic force microscopy (AFM) to be  $\approx 80$  nm.

#### 3.1.3 Ohmic Contact Formation

The third step in the microfabrication process is formation of the ohmic M-S contacts (Figure 3.1 Step 3). Ohmic contact metallization is formed using lift-off processing. During lift-off, a mask of photoresist with an additional polymer lift-off layer underneath is patterned using lithography. A thin film of material is deposited over the entire sample surface area, and then the photoresist and lift-off layers are washed away so that the material film

only remains in the patterned regions. Electron bean evaporation, which is a physical vapor deposition technique, is used to deposit the ohmic metal films. During electron beam evaporation, a crucible containing the metal of interest, referred to as the "target", is bombarded by an electron beam generated by passing a current through a tungsten filament. The generated electron beam is focused onto the target by a strong magnetic field, and the metal atoms in the target are energized to evaporate into the gaseous phase. The gaseous metallic atoms then precipitate back into a solid, depositing over the sample surface. Once the chamber is pumped down to high-vacuum, various metals can be consecutively evaporated *in situ* the chamber by swapping the target, allowing for more pristine metal stacks that have not seen ambient except the top layer. After the ohmic metals are deposited, the sample is situated in a chemical bath overnight to lift the metals off the sample areas outside of the ohmic contact regions and complete the lift-off process. The Big Evaporator in the SNSF Microfab shop and AJA e-beam evapoartor at SNF were used for metal deposition.

Once the lift-off process is complete, the sample undergoes a rapid thermal anneal (RTA) in  $N_2$  ambient to promote intermetallic compound formation. This crucial final step in the ohmic contact microfabrication process improves the contact resistivity and ensures non-rectifying behavior. The RTA is performed in the Allwin 610 Rapid Thermal Processing System at SNF.

#### 3.1.4 Schottky Contact Formation

Figure 3.1 Step 4 shows the formation of the Schottky contact that serves as the gate electrode of the HEMT. The lift-off and evaporation process described above in ohmic contact formation is similarly used to pattern the Schottky metal in the regions of interest. If intentional oxidation of the Schottky metal is required, the sample will undergo RTA in  $O_2$  ambient.

#### 3.1.5 Passivation Deposition

The addition of a passivation layer on top of the sample is an optional step in the microfabrication process (Figure 3.1 Step 5). If passivation was required, aluminum oxide  $(Al_2O_3)$ was blanket deposited over the entire surface of the samples. The  $Al_2O_3$  was atomic layer deposited (ALD). ALD is a chemical vapor deposition technique where a high quality crystalline thin film is slowly deposited one atomic layer at a time through sequential exposure to separate self-limiting precursors. The precursors used here were Trimethylaluminum and  $H_2O$  and the substrate was held at 200°C. This thermal ALD recipe utilizes water vapor as an oxidant to avoid any oxygen plasma-induced damage. The deposition was conducted at the Fiji F202 System from Cambridge Nanotech at SNF. The thickness of the ALD  $Al_2O_3$  layers was measured on an Si dummy that was in the chamber with the InAlN/GaN-on-Si samples duirng the run. Using the Woollam ellipsometry tool at SNF, the aluminum oxide thickness was determined to be 28 nm.

#### 3.1.6 Passivation Etch and Bond Pad Metal Deposition

In the final microfabrication steps, the passivation is selectively etched back to expose the ohmic and Schottky pad regions for the deposition of probe/bond pad metal (Figure 3.1 Step 6). The samples coated with  $Al_2O_3$  passivation were patterned using lithography, and the samples were etched in 20:1 BOE (Buffered Oxide Etch – 38% NH<sub>4</sub>F, 2% HF, 60% H<sub>2</sub>O). The  $Al_2O_3$  etch rate was measured to be 32 nm/min using the Woollam and the  $Al_2O_3$  passivated Si dummy wafer. To ensure total removal of the oxide, the BOE etch time was 2 minutes.

Finally, both passivated and unpassivated samples underwent a final lift-off and metal evaporation process to put down bond pad metal over the ohmic and Schottky pad regions. The addition of bond pad metal is necessary to enable wirebonding to the devices, which is required in several of the experimental test setups. The reasons why fresh metal must be deposited are two-fold:

- 1. The RTA process used during the ohmic contact formation significantly roughens the ohmic pad surface, which prohibits direct wirebonding. A smooth layer is needed on top.
- 2. The Schottky gate material is usually incompatible with gold wirebonding.

Therefore, a Ti/Au (20/200 nm) bond pad is formed over the rectangular contact probe/bond pad regions. The Ti is an adhesion layer and the Au is necessary to allow for bonding between a gold wire and a gold surface (Au-Au system), which avoids well-known issues of intermetallic compound formation, cratering, voiding, adhesion, and fragility in bonding between unlike material systems such as Au-Al.

1. Metal Organic Chemical Vapor Deposition (MOCVD)



3. Ohmic Contact Formation



5. Passivation Deposition (optional)



2. Mesa Isolation Etch



4. Schottky Contact Formation



6. Passivation Etchback & Bond Pad Deposition



Figure 3.1: Cross-sectional device schematic of the InAlN/GaN-on-Si microfabrication processing steps.

### 3.2 Design Selections

#### 3.2.1 Ohmic Metallization

Typical ohmic metal stacks to GaN and its heterostructures are multilayer and contain four metals: titanium (Ti), aluminum (Al), nickel (Ni), and gold (Au). Each metal in the stack serves a unique purpose. The Ti/Al layers are involved in the ohmic contact formation mechanism, which is two-fold. First, during the annealing process the Ti reacts with the underlaying III–Nitride layer to form TiN. The outdiffusion of N causes nitrogen vacancies, which act as donors and create a heavily n–doped region of III–N at the M–S interface that allows for tunneling [81]. Secondly, TiN spikes formed during the high temperature alloying penetrate the InAlN barrier down to the GaN channel layer, which creates a shorter conductive pathway between the contacts and the 2DEG, thus lowering the contact resistance and promoting electron transport [82, 83].

The inclusion of Al in the metal stack, in particular the Ti/Al ratio, influences the surface morphology, linearity, and contact resistance to GaN heterostructures. The effect of the Al layer on the complicated alloy reaction process is summarized in the following. The Al layer becomes liquid during the RTA process at a low melting point of  $660^{\circ}$ C [84]. Some portion of the liquid Al will react with the Ti layer to form a Ti-Al binary alloy phase. In the optimized Ti/Al ratio, enough Al is present to modulate the Ti from consuming too much N, which can lead to voids below the contact. If an excess of Al is included in the stack, the Al will consume too much Ti and prohibit TiN formation, leading to higher contact resistivity. Moreover, the liquid Al has been shown to diffuse upwards and react with the Au layer to form Al<sub>2</sub>Au or AlAu<sub>4</sub> [84]. Excess Al can form Al-Ni intermetallics which consume Ni and degrade the blocking affect.

In addition to low contact resistance, smooth surface morphology is also sought in ohmic contacts. Surface roughness in an indication of non-uniform alloy composition in the stack, which often creates local lower resistivity regions where current crowding and heating become an issue. Moreover, low surface roughness allows for sharp edge acuity, which is necessary in short-channel HEMT devices with small critical dimensions.

In this thesis, two ohmic contact stacks were utilized on InAlN/GaN HEMTs: Ti/Al/Mo/Au and Ta/Ti/Al/Ni/Au. Selvanathan *et al.* showed the long-term thermal stability of Ti/Al/Mo/Au ohmic contacts to n-GaN at 500°C and 600°C after 25 hours [9]. The reported specific contact resistivity,  $\rho_c$ , was on the order of  $10^{-6} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ . The inclusion of Tantalum (Ta)

prior to or instead of the Ti layer in the ohmic metallization stack has been explored for AlGaN/GaN HEMTs. Ta-based contact schemes reported in the literature include Ta/Ti/Al [85], Ta/Al/Mo/Au [86], and Ta/Ti/Al/Ni/Au [87]. Qiao *et al.* reported the measured resistivity of Ta/Ti/Al contacts as low as  $5 \times 10^{-7} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$  after annealing at 950°C, three orders of magnitude lower than the conventional Ti/Al comparison contact sample included in that study [85]. Mohammed *et al.* observed grain size in Ta-based and Ti-based contacts to AlGaN/GaN and found the latter to be smaller [86]. Ta/Ti/Mo/Au contact resistivity was reported to be  $1.09 \times 10^{-6} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ . Ti/Al/Mo/Au was reported to be  $2.96 \times 10^{-7} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ . Kim *et al.* has shown deposition of Ta prior to the common Ti/Al/Ni/Au stack decreases surface roughness in contacts to AlGaN/GaN HEMTs [87]. TaN/TiN formation at the M–S interface was observed in the Ta-based contacts, which had lower contact resistance compared to the Ti/Al/Ni/Au stack was achieved after annealing at a comparatively low temperature of 700°C. The same ohmic contact formation mechanism as TiN is proposed for TaN. The authors report the RMS roughness in the Ti/Al/Ni/Au and Ta/Ti/Al/Ni/Au stacks are 46.5 nm and 28.8 nm, respectively.

#### 3.2.2 Schottky Metallization

The characteristics desired in the gate electrode of a GaN HEMT intended for high temperature operation are 1) high Schottky barrier height (SBH) 2) low electrical resistivity and 3) excellent thermal stability. Because most gate electrode materials degrade at high temperatures, current HEMT fabrication processes are limited to depositing the gate material last (e.g., after the ohmic contact anneal). An additional benefit of thermally robust gate electrodes is the compatibility with gate-first self-aligned fabrication processes that can reduce parasitic access resistances in the device. By the narrowest definition (melting point  $> 2200^{\circ}$ C), the five refractory metals are tungsten, molybdenum, niobium, tantalum and rhenium. A wider definition of refractory metals (melting point >  $1850^{\circ}$ C) begs the inclusion of nine additional metals: titanium, vanadium, chromium, zirconium, hafnium, ruthenium, rhodium, osmium and iridium. Refractory metals are attractive Schottky metal contacts to GaN heterostructures intended for operation in extreme environments due to their high melting points and general chemical inertness. In this thesis, two refractory metals (Mo and Ir) and their oxides (MoO<sub>3</sub> and IrO<sub>x</sub>) have been explored. The work functions of Mo and Ir are 4.6 eV and 5.25 eV, respectively. The Schottky barrier height of Mo to n-GaN was investigated by Ramesh et al. [88]. Using the C - V method, the SBH of the as-deposited Mo/n-GaN system was found to be 1.02 eV with ideality factor 1.29. After annealing at 600°C in N<sub>2</sub> ambient for 1 minute, the SBH was reduced to 0.73 eV and the ideality factor improved to 1.03. Furthermore, Mo was used as the gate material in the demonstration of InAlN/GaN HEMTs operating at 1000°C in vacuum [34]. Conducting refractory metal oxides have also been investigated as Schottky contacts to GaN HEMTs. In general, refractory metals are easily oxidized. The volatility of the resulting refractory metal oxides can vary greatly. After annealing at 700°C in N<sub>2</sub> for 1 minute, Kyaw *et al.* reported RuO<sub>x</sub>-gated InAlN/GaN HEMTs had lower leakage and increased ON/OFF ratio in comparison with Ni/Au-gated devices [89].

However, another factor must be taken into account during materials selection for In-AlN/GaN HEMTs intended for Venus surface exploration: potential chemical reactions with the constituents in the atmosphere. Figure 3.2 shows the reaction of elements tested in Venus surface conditions. Lucko *et al.* reported that a polished Mo foil sample had a thin surface layer of carbide followed by  $MoS_2$  and  $MoO_3$  layers after 30 days of exposure in the NASA GEER chamber, which was simulating Venus surface conditions [10]. After this research was published, an Au overlay was added to the Mo gate in the Casper Run devices in order to prevent the Mo from reacting with the Venusian atmosphere. Au was found to be chemically inert under Venus surface conditions [90]. Promisingly, Figure 3.2 shows that Ir has no reaction after extended exposure to Venus conditions, which is why it was chosen as the gate material to explore.

The thermal stability of Ir and IrO<sub>x</sub> gates on AlGaN/GaN HEMTs has been previously investigated [91–93]. Vallo *et al.* intentionally oxidized electron beam evaporated Ir Schottky contacts at 500°C for durations between 1 and 10 minutes and investigated the electrical characteristics of the resulting devices [94]. It was found that increased oxidation time corresponds to increased SBH, decreased leakage currents, and positive shift in threshold voltage and peak transconductance, suggesting the possible use of this gate electrode platform for the formation of enhancement mode devices. A mixture of Ir and IrO<sub>x</sub> in the O<sub>2</sub> annealed gate contact layers was elucidated by depth profiling, with higher IrO<sub>x</sub> content seen in the devices oxidized for longer durations. In a follow-up study, Lalinksy *et al.* compared the microstructure and electrical characteristics of IrO<sub>x</sub>-gated AlGaN/GaN circular HEMTs as a function of oxidation temperature [95]. The authors found that the as-deposited 15 nm Ir layer is transformed to the IrO<sub>x</sub> phase at oxidation temperatures of 700°C and 800°C in O<sub>2</sub> ambient, and concluded that the oxidation process begins at the



Figure 3.2: Partial periodic table of elements tested in Venus surface conditions. Reprinted with permission from [10].

top of the as-deposited Ir and progresses towards the Ir/AlGaN interface. Additionally, the leakage current in  $IrO_x$ -gated devices oxidized at 600–700°C for 1 min was improved by 5 orders of magnitude compared to as-deposited Ir-gated devices. Accelerated reliability testing of the  $IrO_x$ -gated AlGaN/GaN HEMTs oxidized at 800°C demonstrated excellent thermal stability of the devices for up to 24 hours of storage in air atmosphere at 450°C; an increase in SBH and decrease in leakage current was also seen after the 24 hour storage. The higher drain saturation current in the  $IrO_x$  versus Ir (as deposited) devices is attributed to higher 2DEG densities in the oxidized devices.

Ostermaier *et al.* reported an increased of 100% in the gate capacitance of Ir/Au-gated InAlN/GaN HEMTs with an ultrathin 2 nm barrier layer after annealing at 700°C [96]. The authors attribute the improved performance to the outdiffusion of oxygen from an interfacial layer present at the Ir/InAlN interface. At annealing temperatures lower than 700°C, I - V and C - V measurements indicate an inhomogeneous gate electrode material, attributed to local oxygen diffusion along grain boundaries. After annealing at 700°C, which increases the diffusion length of oxygen, the C - V curve shows only one capacitance region, indicating the dispersion of oxygen in the Ir gate is homogeneous. Devices annealed at 700°C exhibit a 50% increase in transconductance and positive threshold voltage in comparison to as-deposited Ir devices. In addition, TEM analysis confirms the InAlN/AlN barrier layer thickness remains unchanged after annealing and the Ir metal does not diffuse into the

barrier. Intentional oxidation anneals have been reported to lead to outdiffusion of Ga to the barrier layer surface, causing a shift of the Fermi level at the service to the leve of Ga vacancies. Schottky barrier height increase and thermal staility can then follow due to this pinning of the Fermi level [95].

#### 3.2.3 Passivation Selection

As described in Section 2.8, passivating the HEMT surface adds a layer of protection against environmental effects, but at the potential expense of the strain-free InAlN/GaN heterostructure system. Therefore, only a subset of devices were passivated with  $Al_2O_3$ . The rest were left bare so that no additional strain would be added to the lattice-matched InAlN/GaN system, and degradation mechanisms such as passivation cracking could be avoided. During the selection of passivation, the work of D. Lukco *et al.* was once again consulted [90]. The authors reported single-crystal sapphire ( $Al_2O_3$ ) substrates were intact and had no chemical reaction after 10-day exposure in the GEER chamber.

#### 3.2.4 HEMT Geometry

The conventional geometry of GaN HEMTs is rectangular or linear (L-HEMT). Figure 3.3 shows a diagram depicting the typical L-HEMT layout. The L-HEMT source, gate, and drain are parallel rectangles. An alternative device geometry is the annular or circular HEMT (C-HEMT), where the drain, gate, and source are concentric circles (Figure 3.3). L-HEMT devices fall into the category of enclosed layout transistors (ELTs). The C-HEMT layout offers several advantages over the standard L-HEMT layout. L-HEMT devices suffer from electric field crowding at the sharp gate edge, which causes local device breakdown. C-HEMTs generally do not have this issue because the electric field evenly distributes around the circular gate. Zhang et al. reported 50% higher breakdown voltages in GaN C-HEMTs compared to L-HEMTs [97]. Individual L-HEMTs generally offer smaller footprints than C-HEMTs, which is desirable for achieving large packing densities. However, De Lima et al. demonstrated size savings of 18.6% in C-HEMTs compared to L-HEMTs by using an overlapping gate geometry [98]. Additionally, higher effective (W/L) and faster transient switching was achieved in C-HEMT devices with minimized source and drain junction areas [98]. This implies the C-HEMT geometry is favorable for high frequency operation.



Figure 3.3: Top-view optical images of a microfabricated L-HEMT (left) and C-HEMT (right).

Another advantage of the C-HEMT transistor for extreme environment space applications is that ELTs are well-known to provide improved radiation hardness due to effective prevention of leakage currents [99]. Radiation hardening FETs against total-ionizing dose effects can be achieved by using the enclosed gate format, which eliminates the edges known to cause leakage paths in NMOS transitors [99, 100].

Furthermore, the C-HEMT geometry eliminates issues with the gate-mesa sidewall overlap region in L-HEMTs. The gate-mesa overlap regions are shown on the L-HEMT in Figure 3.4. As described in Section 3.1, plasma dry etching is commonly used to achieve device isolation. However, this microfabrication technique introduces reliability issues. First, a high density of traps is generated at the mesa sidewall due to plasma-induced damage. H.-C. Chiu *et al.* showed that GaN HEMTs with dry etched mesa sidewalls exhibited an additional trap activation energy level at high temperature, which is attributed to the mesa sidewall damage [101]. Second, the gate contact is in direct contact with the 2DEG in the region where it overlaps the mesa sidewall, forming a parasitic leakage path [101]. Additionally, this area is prone to gate sinking of the gate metal atoms into the 2DEG channel due to the direct contact. In the L-HEMT geometry, there are two gate-mesa sidewall overlap regions at each end of the mesa, which are necessary for complete channel modulation (Figure 3.4). C-HEMT geometry can reduce or eliminate these issues because device isolation is inherent to the concentric nature of the contacts. This means that mesa isolation plasma etching is not necessary in C-HEMT microfabrication (Figure 3.4). Furthermore, because the drain pad is contained within the circular gate and source contacts, the parasitic off-state leakage path from the drain pad to the gate pad is not present in C-HEMT devices [102].



Figure 3.4: Close-up optical images of a microfabricated L-HEMT annotated with the gate-mesa sidewall overlap regions (left) and C-HEMT showing no mesa edge and critical dimensions (right).

Considering its merits for radiation-rich, high power, and high frequency applications, as well as the suppression of leakage currents and trap generation due to sidewall defects, the C-HEMT geometry is compelling and was pursued for high-temperature applications in this thesis in addition to traditional L-HEMT geometry.

The C-HEMTs were operated in internal drain bias configuration mode (IDBC). In this configuration, the inner concentric circle is biased as the drain and the outermost concentric circle is the source. IDBC has been shown to increase the drain saturation current compared to external drain bias configuration (EDBC) due to differences in the longitudinal electric field densities [103].

The effective aspect ratio for C-HEMTs is given by the following [104],

$$(\frac{W}{L})_{eff} = \frac{2\pi}{\ln\frac{R_2}{R_1}}$$
(3.1)

which was demonstrated to achieve good fitting between experimental and calculated  $I_D$  –

 $V_{DS}$  characteristics [104]. The two radii, R1 and R2, are the internal and external radii of the channel shown in Figure 3.4. The channel length,  $L_{CH} = R2-R1$ . The effect width,  $W_{eff}$ , can be written [105],

$$W_{eff} = \frac{W}{L} L_G = \frac{2\pi}{\ln \frac{R_2}{R_1}} L_G$$
(3.2)

# 3.3 Fabrication Runs

Two mega fabrication runs were completed for this thesis work: Casper Run and Vulcan Run. The full fabrication runsheets are included in Appendix A. Vulcan Run was completed first and represents the first generation of devices. Casper Run iterated on lessons learned from Vulcan Run metallization, and the C-HEMT geometry was added. Table 3.2 displays the Vulcan Run sample types. Table 3.3 shows the Casper Run sample types.

Sample $\#$	Material	Ohmic	Schottky	Bond Pad	Passivation
1	InAlN/AlN/GaN	Ti/Al/Mo/Au	$IrO_x$	Ti/Au	—
2	InAlN/AlN/GaN	Ti/Al/Mo/Au	Mo	Ti/Au	_
3	InAlN/AlN/GaN	Ti/Al/Mo/Au	Mo	$\mathrm{Ti}/\mathrm{Au}$	$Al_2O_3$ (7 nm)
4	InAlN/AlN/GaN	Ti/Al/Mo/Au	Mo	$\mathrm{Ti}/\mathrm{Au}$	$Al_2O_3$ (18 nm)

Table 3.2: Vulcan Run sample types.

Sample $\#$	Material	Ohmic	$\mathbf{Schottky}$	Bond Pad	Passivation
1	InAlN/AlN/GaN	Ti/Al/Mo/Au	$IrO_x$	Ti/Au	$Al_2O_3$ (28 nm)
3	InAlN/AlN/GaN	Ti/Al/Mo/Au	Ir/Au	—	$Al_2O_3$ (28 nm)
5	InAlN/AlN/GaN	Ta/Ti/Al/Ni/Au	Mo/Au	$\mathrm{Ti/Au}$	$Al_2O_3$ (28 nm)
7	InAlN/AlN/GaN	Ta/Ti/Al/Ni/Au	$IrO_x$	Ti/Au	_

Table 3.3: Casper Run sample types.

# 3.4 Additional Device Architectures

#### 3.4.1 Hall-effect Sensors

**Magnetic Field Sensing:** Hall-effect sensors utilize the Hall effect to detect magnetic fields. These devices consist of a symmetrical large-area mesa region with four ohmic terminals. Current is applied across two parallel terminals, and voltage is measured across

the other set of parallel terminals. The resulting Hall voltage  $(V_H)$ , which is perpendicular to both the applied current (I) and the external magnetic field (B), is defined as:

$$V_H = \frac{IBr_n G_H}{qn_s} \tag{3.3}$$

where  $r_n$  is the scattering factor of the material,  $G_H$  is the shape factor, q is the electronic charge, and  $n_s$  is the sheet carrier density. In most applications, the ideal Hall-effect sensor would exhibit a high sensitivity with respect to supply current and supply voltage to maximize the signal for readout. The sensitivity of a Hall-effect device with respect to supply current is referred to as the current-scaled sensitivity  $(S_i)$  and is inversely proportional to sheet carrier concentration,

$$S_i = \frac{V_H}{IB} = \frac{r_n}{qn_s} G_H \tag{3.4}$$

A reduction in the sheet carrier density of the 2DEG increases the sheet resistance of the device, leading to a drop in current under constant voltage conditions, and thereby increasing the current-scaled sensitivity. The sensitivity with respect to supply voltage, also known as the voltage-scaled sensitivity  $(S_v)$ , is proportional to the electron mobility  $(\mu_H)$  and is defined:

$$S_v = \frac{V_H}{V_s B} = \frac{r_n G_H}{Rqn_s} = \frac{\mu_H r_n G_H}{(L/W)_{eff}}$$
(3.5)

where  $V_s$  is supply voltage, R is the device resistance, and  $(L/W)_{eff}$  is defined as the effective number of squares, or the ratio of the internal resistance to the sheet resistance [106]. The experimental characterization of Hall-effect sensors exposed in a Venus simulation chamber is described in Section 5.2.

Van der Pauw Method: Hall-effect sensors serve the dual purpose of enabling characterization of the 2DEG properties using the van der Pauw method. The van der Pauw method consists of a series of 4-point resistivity measurements made around the periphery of a sample. The technique is valid under the conditions that the sample is homogeneous, flat, and approximately 2-dimensional (thickness of 2DEG channel << area of sample), and the contacts are on the sample perimeter and as small as possible. Using the van der Pauw method, values for the sheet resistance ( $R_{SH}$ ), carrier concentration ( $n_s$ ), and mobility ( $\mu$ ) in the 2DEG channel can be obtained experimentally. Section 5.2 describes device data collected using the Van der Pauw method.

#### 3.4.2 UV Photodetectors

The experimental characterization of UV photodetectors is discussed in Section 5.2. The AlGaN/GaN photodetectors have a peak wavelength of 362 nm and exhibit high responsivity (R) and low dark current at room temperature [107]. The operating principle of these devices is based on metal-semiconductor-metal (MSM) photodetectors. In MSM detectors, two metal electrodes form a Schottky barrier on a semiconductor. The application of voltage across the electrodes generates a small dark current from the positive to negative electrode. When the device is exposed to UV light, electron-hole pairs are photogenerated, resulting in increased current. The photocurrent magnitude (I) scales with the intensity of the incident UV radiation. The photocurrent is directly proportional to the responsivity,

$$R = \frac{I}{P} \tag{3.6}$$

where P is the incident radiant energy. The photocurrent is also proportional to the gain, G, which is an important figure of merit for photodetectors and is defined as the ratio of charge carriers to the photon flux:

$$G = \frac{hc}{q\lambda} \frac{I}{P} \tag{3.7}$$

where  $\lambda$  is the wavelength of incident radiation, h is Planck's contact, and q is the electronic charge. While the AlGaN/GaN photodetectors operate similarly to MSM detectors, these devices do not include a metal Schottky electrode. Instead, the AlGaN barrier layer and underlaying 2DEG channel replace the metal. The mechanism of photocurrent generation is discussed in [107]. Additionally, the AlGaN/GaN UV photodetectors are arrayed in an interdigitated electrode design to increase responsivity and decrease response time [107].

# 3.5 Device Packaging

To perform *in situ* device characterization over extended durations and enable active testing in setups such as the XLab Venus chamber, samples must be packaged. Microelectronics packaging refers to the design and production of specialized enclosures that hold the sample and allow for electrical interfacing with the larger system. Usually, packaging serves the dual purpose of protecting the sample from mechanical damage, electrostatic discharge, and environmental degradation. In some cases, the packaging is designed to stabilize the sample temperature. For harsh environment applications like space and military communications, or MEMS applications, ICs will normally be hermetically sealed. During the hermetic sealing process, the IC is placed into an enclosure and the lid is sealed via seam welding. The airtight seal ensures the IC is isolated from the surrounding environment and remains free of bacteria, moisture, oxygen, dust etc. NASA HOTTech grants, which funded part of this thesis work, aim to develop technologies that can survive with minimal packaging and no shielding from the environmental conditions on Venus. The reasoning for this goal is twofold: 1) the technical risk to the mission is reduced if the microelectronics can survive in the event that packaging aboard a Venus surface mission fails, and 2) the lack of mature and reliable 500°C capable, weather-resistant electronics packaging that would be needed for Venus surface exploration. Towards the maturation of packaging for Venus, the behavior of die attach, metal interconnects, and enclosure materials has been studied under experimental exposure to simulated Venus surface conditions by HOTTEch collaborators at the University of Arkansas [108]. Insights from that study have informed the choice of materials used in chip-level packaging pursued in this thesis.

**Housing:** Two types of sample housings or enclosures have been used in the experiments described herein. The first type are flat alumina boards which were custom produced by collaborators at the University of Arkansas and Makel Engineering, Inc. The boards were screen-printed and fired with a thick-film gold layer (3066/3068N wire-bondable Au Conductors, Ferro Corporation) to enable electrical connection, and in some cases the sample gold layer was used as the die attach material to adhere the die to the board. The other type of housing used was commercial off-the-shelf (COTS) ceramic dual inline packages (c-dip) and ceramic quad flat packs (cqfp) of various sizes and different pin-out configurations. The COTS packages were taken out of spec above their temperature rating of 400°C during experimentation.

**Die Attach:** Die attach is the material used to adhere the die to the housing. The epoxies used in this thesis were premixed. Once a thin layer was applied to the housing surface, the die was attached, and the sample was cured on a hot plate or in an oven according to the

instructions on the epoxy datasheet. Three different epoxies have been employed: Cotronics 989F-1 ceramic alumina adhesive fine grade (Section 4.5), PELCO high performance nickel paste (Sections 5.4 and 5.5), and Aremco 571 high temperature ceramic adhesive used on the active sample (Section 5.6). Instead of epoxy, Ferro Corporation's gold paste that was used during the screen printing process was also used as the die attach on the boards that held the passive samples described in Section 5.2 and Section 5.6.

Wirebonding: Wirebonding is the process of attaching a very thin wire between two points to form an electrical connection. In this thesis, the method used is ultrasonic wirebonding, where a wire is pressed against the surface of interest and vibrated at high-frequency for a short time to create the bond. For high-temperature packaging, gold wires are used. The wirebond is formed between the device's gold bond pad and the gold traces on the housing or enclosure. All wirebonding was performed at the West Bond 7476E Wedge-Wedge Wirebonder in SNSF.

Filter: Because the XLab Venus simulation chamber uses a grafoil gasket for sealing, an abundance of caution was taken to prevent possible carbon contamination of the samples in this test setup. Therefore, the packaging for the samples that entered the XLab Venus chamber included a 10  $\mu$ m mesh stainless steel filter which was epoxied on top of the housing (Section 5.4 and Section 5.5).

# Chapter 4

# HEMTs Operating at High Temperature in Air

# 4.1 Overview

In the next two chapters, several proof-of-concept experiments and fundamental studies involving HEMTs exposed to high temperature ambient will be presented. This chapter will cover the characterization of InAlN/GaN-on-Si HEMTs and metallization schemes at temperatures up to 600°C for durations up to 6 days in air.

# 4.2 Suppression of Leakage Current at 300°C in MoO<sub>3</sub>-Gated L-HEMTs

#### 4.2.1 Motivation

Because HEMTs often exhibit significant gate leakage during high temperature operation, the choice of Schottky metal is critical. Increased gate leakage and reduced ON/OFF ratio are unsuitable for the design of high temperature electronics and integrated circuits. This section presents high temperature characteristics of depletion-mode molybdenum trioxide (MoO<sub>3</sub>)-gated InAlN/GaN-on-silicon HEMTs in air. After a room temperature oxidation of the Mo for 10 weeks, the leakage of the HEMT is reduced over 60 times compared to the as-deposited Mo. The use of MoO<sub>3</sub> as the Schottky gate material enables low gate leakage, resulting in a high ON/OFF current ratio of  $1.2 \times 10^8$  at 25°C and  $1.2 \times 10^5$  at 300°C in air. At 400°C, gate control of the InAlN/GaN 2DEG channel is lost and unrecoverable. Here, this permanent device failure is attributed to volatilization of the MoO<sub>3</sub> gate due to the presence of water vapor in air. Passivation of the device with SiN enables operation up to 500°C, but also increases the leakage current. The suppression of gate leakage via Mo oxidation and resulting high ON/OFF ratio paves the way for viable high temperature GaN-based electronics that can function beyond the thermal limit of silicon once proper passivation is achieved.

#### 4.2.2 Experimental Methods

The HEMT devices were fabricated with an  $In_{0.18}Al_{0.82}N/GaN$ -on-silicon wafer purchased from NTT Advanced Technology Corporation. The GaN heterostructure, schematic of the gate evolution, and an optical image of the device is shown in Figure 4.1. Devices were isolated through  $BCl_3/Cl_2$  ICP mesa etching, followed by evaporation of Ti/Al/Mo/Au (10/200/40/80 nm) ohmic contacts which were annealed at 850°C for 35 seconds in N<sub>2</sub>. Molybdenum (30 nm) was evaporated as the Schottky contact and Ti/Au bond metal was patterned with liftoff. The Mo gates were left to oxidize at RT in air to form MoO<sub>3</sub> for ten weeks. The gate length of the HEMT is 1  $\mu$ m, centered between source and drain (low power) in a 5- $\mu$ m-long by 50- $\mu$ m-wide 2DEG channel. The die was Vulcan Run sample type #2 (see Table 3.2 for details).



Figure 4.1: Schematic of InAlN/GaN heterostructure and molybdenum gate evolution due to high temperature exposure in air (a) and optical image of microfabricated HEMT transistor (b).

The high temperature response of the InAlN/GaN HEMTs was characterized on a Signatone Inc. high temperature probe station from RT to 300°C in 50°C increments in air, with a holding time of ten minutes at each temperature before data was acquired. To examine the return characteristics, measurements were then taken in 100°C increments as the temperature was ramped back down. Finally, the device was ramped directly up to 400°C and tested. Current-voltage  $(I_D - V_{DS}, I_D - V_{DS}, I_D - V_{DS})$  measurements were taken on a semiconductor parameter analyzer (Agilent Technologies B1500A).

#### 4.2.3 Results and Discussion

Figure 4.1 compares the  $I_D - V_{GS}$  curves of the InAlN/GaN HEMT at 10 mV drain to source voltage one week after Mo deposition and 10 weeks after the deposition. The long duration between the first test and the second test enabled the MoO<sub>3</sub> to undergo a RT oxidation to MoO<sub>3</sub>. The off current of the device drops by  $\approx 60$  times after the RT anneal, showing the oxidation process reduces leakage in the off state.

The high temperature response,  $I_D - V_{DS}$ ,  $I_D - V_{GS}$ , and  $I_G - V_{GS}$ , after undergoing the 10-week RT anneal are shown in Figure 4.2. The large gate leakage is the dominate form of OFF-current when the device is operated below the threshold voltage (Figure 4.2). The  $I_D - V_{DS}$  response shows the performance when ramping up to 300°C and then back down to 25°C. Solid lines represent measurements taken as the temperature was increased and dotted lines represent the measurements taken as the temperature is decreased. The characteristics show little difference in performance during temperature ramp up and ramp down.



Figure 4.2:  $I_D - V_{GS}$  curves comparing as-deposited Mo and MoO<sub>3</sub> (a).  $I_D - V_{GS}$  (solid) and  $I_G - V_{GS}$  (dashed) curves from RT to 400°C (b).  $I_D - V_{DS}$  curves from RT to 400°C; dotted lines represent the return response while ramping down to RT from 300°C (c).

After testing to 300°C and performing elemental characterization, the device was brought directly up to 400°C. While the device showed promising performance up to 300°C, testing at 400°C caused non-recoverable device failure, due to loss of gate control, shown in Figure 4.2. After this failure at 400°C, the gate is no longer visible under an optical microscope. Auger electron spectroscopy (AES) is used to confirm the disappearance of the gate after exposure to 400°C. AES maps of the device after 300°C and 400°C exposure are shown in Figure 4.3. The AES data shows that the Mo elemental ratio goes from  $\approx 34\%$  to  $\approx 6\%$  after 300°C and 400°C exposure, respectively.



Figure 4.3: AES map of percent molybdenum after 300°C exposure (a) and after 400°C exposure (b). XPS plot of binding energy versus intensity of Mo  $3d_{3/2}$  and  $3d_{5/2}$  peaks (c).

X-Ray photoluminescence spectroscopy (XPS) measurements were taken to determine whether the Mo had remained a metal or had oxidized. Figure 4.3 shows the XPS spectra of the Mo  $3d_{3/2}$  and  $3d_{5/2}$  peaks after a 10-week RT anneal and after 300°C exposure. Fits find that the Mo  $3d_{3/2}$  and  $3d_{5/2}$  peaks are at 232.7 eV and 235.9 eV with no exposure to temperature and at 232.4 eV and 235.5 eV after 300°C exposure. Both of these sets of peaks match previously reported binding energies for the 3d orbital for MoO<sub>3</sub> [109, 110]. This shows that the molybdenum oxidizes even under RT conditions.

Previous work has shown that  $MoO_3$  volatilizes when exposed to water vapor at elevated temperatures to form  $MO_2(OH)_2$  [111, 112]:

$$MoO_3(s) + H_2O(g) \longrightarrow MO_2(OH)_2(g)$$
 (4.1)

Thus, it is hypothesized that at  $400^{\circ}$ C the MoO<sub>3</sub> volatilizes in air at a rate significant enough to cause loss of the Schottky metal, likely due to reaction with water vapor. Temperatures under  $400^{\circ}$ C should not be thought of as safe because volatilization rates are exponentially temperature dependent [111]. Thus, the 300°C operation would not be exempt from loss of the gate, but the volatilization occurs less quickly. While the unpassivated MoO<sub>3</sub> system is fragile and cannot exceed temperatures of 400°C, the initial device performance below 300°C is promising and surpasses the operational limits of silicon. The off current  $(I_{D,off})$ , the saturation current  $(I_{D,sat})$  at  $V_{DS} = 5$  V and  $V_{GS} = 0$  V, and the ON/OFF ratio  $(I_{D,on}/I_{D,off})$  of the device before failure are shown in Figure 4.4. Red markers and blue markers represent measurements taken as the temperature ramped up and ramped down, respectively. The ON/OFF ratio of the device is  $1.2 \times 10^8$  and  $1.2 \times 10^5$ at 25°C and 300°C, respectively. While the saturation current does not show degradation after 300°C exposure, the ON/OFF ratio decreases to  $2.9 \times 10^7$  after returning to 25°C, which can be attributed to the increase in the OFF-state current. In Figure 4.4, the leakage current is increasing exponentially with increasing temperature and is attributed to thermionic emission, illustrating the challenge of maintaining large ON/OFF ratios at high temperatures.



Figure 4.4: OFF-current (a), saturation current (b), ON/OFF ratio (c), vs. temperature.

The maximum transconductance  $(g_{m,max})$ , subthreshold slope (SS), and threshold voltage  $(V_{Th})$  as a function of temperature are plotted in Figure 4.5. At 25°C, the SS is 75 mV/decade, and at 300°C, it is 187 mV/decade. These values are near the SS limits of 60 mV/decade and 110 mV/decade at 25°C and 300°C, respectively. The SS for high temperature operation is a critical parameter because it is expected to deteriorate linearly with temperature and represents the change in voltage required to transition from cut-off to saturation mode. The  $g_{m,max}$  and the magnitude of  $V_{Th}$  both decrease with increasing temperature. The  $g_{m,max}$  decreases with increasing temperature at a rate proportional to  $T^{-0.97}$ . Generally,  $g_{m,max}$  is expected to deteriorate at a rate of  $T^{-1.5}$ , due to mobility degradation at the same rate. The slower degradation of transconductance with temperature is attributed to the decrease in the magnitude of  $V_{Th}$ , which creates a competing effect.



Figure 4.5: Max transconductance (a), subthreshold swing (b), threshold-voltage (c), vs. temperature.

To protect the  $MoO_3$  gate, several passivation schemes were tested including atomic layer deposition (ALD) of  $SiO_2$  and  $Al_2O_3$ . The MoO<sub>3</sub> gates were damaged by the precursors during ALD processing and no devices survived for testing. This illustrates the fragile nature of the  $MoO_3$ , and careful design of passivation schemes is needed to leverage the  $MoO_3$  system at elevated temperatures. Additionally, the  $MoO_3$  was passivated with 50 nm PECVD silicon nitride (SiN) and survived. Testing the passivated MoO<sub>3</sub>-gated HEMT up to 500°C the device survived. However, the leakage decreased even above the leakage of the as-deposited Mo-gated devices. The on-off ratios were  $7.6 \times 10^3$  at RT, 110 at 300°C, and 15 at 500°C. It has been shown that SiN creates extra leakage paths at the passivation-III-nitride interface and through the barrier layer bulk, causing an increase in gate leakage current [113,114]. This work initially aimed to utilize the same material platform previously demonstrated by Maier et al. by leveraging Mo as the gate and SiN for passivation on InAlN/GaN heterostructures [34]. This work was done in air, a more extreme environment to the vacuum used in the Maier work. This work illustrates that when operating in air it is not enough to simply leverage Mo because  $MoO_3$  volatilizes in the presence of air without passivation. However, SiN leakage paths must also be reduced for high ON/OFF ratio and high temperature operation.

#### 4.2.4 Conclusions

High ON/OFF drain current ratios were found for d-mode  $MoO_3$ -gated InAlN/GaN HEMTs of  $1.2 \times 10^8$  at 25°C and  $1.2 \times 10^5$  at 300°C in air. Catastrophic device failure seen at 400°C in air is believed to be due to rapid volatilization of the oxidized molybdenum gate in the presence of water vapor. XPS results show that the electron-beam evaporated Mo is oxidized even without high temperature exposure after several weeks in air. It is confirmed with AES that only trace amounts of molybdenum remain on the surface of the InAlN layer after exposure to 400°C. The addition of SiN passivation enabled device operation up to 500°C but reduced the ON/OFF ratio by 5 orders of magnitude. While the results of MoO<sub>3</sub>-gated InAlN/GaN HEMTs in air are promising for their low leakage and high ON/OFF ratio, the volatilization of the oxidized molybdenum in the presence of water vapor needs to be prevented through careful passivation choice.

# 4.3 Analyzing IrO<sub>x</sub>-gated HEMT Behavior up to 600°C

#### 4.3.1 Motivation

The purpose of this experiment was to determine the effects of geometry and passivation on the operation of InAlN/GaN HEMTs with novel  $IrO_x$  gates at temperatures exceeding the 400°C limit of the MoO<sub>3</sub>-gated HEMTs, as well as to determine the maximum temperature limit of this class of devices in an oxidizing ambient.

#### 4.3.2 Experimental Methods

For this purpose, one die each of Casper Run sample type #1 and sample type #7, henceforth referred to as Sample A and Sample B, were selected for testing (see Table 3.3 for details). Both samples have  $IrO_x$  gates; the primary difference is that Sample A is passivated with Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and Sample B is unpassivated or bare. The room temperature electrical properties of the 2DEG were measured on both samples using Hall-effect devices with van der Pauw geometry. For Sample A and Sample B respectively, the sheet resistances at room temperature were 280  $\Omega/\Box$  and 293  $\Omega/\Box$ , the carrier mobilities were 831 cm<sup>2</sup>/V·s and 917 cm<sup>2</sup>/V·s, and the sheet electron densities were 2.68 × 10<sup>13</sup> cm<sup>-2</sup> and 2.32 × 10<sup>13</sup> cm<sup>-2</sup>.

Three C-HEMTs on each sample were tested. The devices had critical dimension  $L_G = 5 \ \mu m$ , and  $L_{CH} = 10, 15$ , or 20  $\mu m$ , respectively. One L-HEMT device on each sample, with

gate centered between source and drain and the same critical dimension  $L_G = 5 \ \mu m$ , was also tested. The L-HEMT channel width and length were 100  $\mu m$  and 20  $\mu m$ , respectively. The InAlN/GaN samples were placed inside of the Signatone open air probe station on the surface of the heated chuck. Current-voltage measurements were collected at various step points during temperature cycling from 25°C to 600°C and back using an Agilent B1500A semiconductor parameter analyzer. The temperature reported in the plots is the chuck temperature measured by the internal thermocouple. The sample surface temperature was estimated by monitoring the resistance of platinum thin film resistance temperature detectors (RTD) adhered with epoxy to the surface of dummy InAlN/GaN-on-Si die also situated on the heated chuck. The chuck was held at each temperature of interest for approximately 10 minutes prior to data collection to allow for the die surface to reach thermal equilibrium. The probe station dark box door was closed during the experiment and the samples were not illuminated. C-V measurements were performed on the Schottky diodes at 25°C prior to heating.

#### 4.3.3 Results and Discussion

#### **C-HEMTs:**

Figure 4.6 and Figure 4.7 show the transfer and output characteristics of Sample A C-HEMTs with varying  $L_{CH}$  during heating from 25°C to 600°C and upon return to 25°C. The output characteristics were normalized by  $W_{eff}$  according to 3.2. Two interesting phenomena are apparent. First, the  $I_D$  has increased upon return to 25°C compared to the initial value. Second, the ON/OFF ratio is degraded upon return to 25°C due to larger  $I_{D,off}$  in the cut-off regime. The device also appears to suffer from current collapse after the high temperature exposure. Figure 4.8 and Figure 4.9 show the transfer and output characteristics of Sample B C-HEMTs. All 3 of the devices fail to operate at 600°C and do not recover upon return to 25°C, indicating permanent device failure. Loss of gate control can be seen in the transfer characteristics. While the  $L_{CH} = 10 \ \mu m$  device demonstrates the most severe degradation with no drain current flow at 600°C, the larger  $L_{CH} = 20 \ \mu \text{m}$ device maintains a small drain current at 600°C. This implies a geometric effect on the high temperature device performance. These results show that the C-HEMT devices must be passivated in order to operate at temperatures as high as 600°C. The failure mechanism in the unpassivated devices is likely induced by oxidation and may include further oxidation of the  $IrO_x$  gate material into different oxide species.



Figure 4.6: Sample A transfer characteristics of the 10  $\mu$ m (left), 15  $\mu$ m (middle), and 20  $\mu$ m (right) channel length C-HEMTs up to 600°C in air.



Figure 4.7: Sample A output characteristics of the 10  $\mu$ m (left), 15  $\mu$ m (middle), and 20  $\mu$ m (right) channel length C-HEMTs up to 600°C in air.


Figure 4.8: Sample B transfer characteristics of the 10  $\mu$ m (left), 15  $\mu$ m (middle), and 20  $\mu$ m (right) channel length C-HEMTs up to 600°C in air.



Figure 4.9: Sample B output characteristics of the 10  $\mu$ m (left), 15  $\mu$ m (middle), and 20  $\mu$ m (right) channel length C-HEMTs up to 600°C in air.



Figure 4.10:  $I_{D,sat}$  of Sample A and Sample B 10  $\mu$ m (left), 15  $\mu$ m (middle), and 20  $\mu$ m (right) channel length C-HEMTs during heating up to 600°C and cooling back down to 25°C in air.

The extracted  $I_{D,sat}$  during heating and cooling for both Sample A and Sample B C-HEMTs are shown in Figure 4.10. Because Sample B C-HEMTs were not working at 600°C, cooling characteristics were not collected on the way back down to room temperature. Only the 25°C return data was collected on this subset of devices. The addition of Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> passivation layer causes an increase in the sheet electron density, and corresponding reduction in the sheet resistance, resulting in an larger drain saturation current in Sample A versus Sample B devices at room temperature. The decline in the drain saturation current with high temperature in both samples is largely due to the decrease in electron mobility in InAlN/GaN due to increased scattering, as well as a decrease in the saturation carrier velocity [4]. The temperature dependency of  $I_{D,sat}$  can be expressed as [115]:

$$I_{D,sat} = I_{D,sat0} \times T^{\alpha} \tag{4.2}$$

where  $I_{D,sat0}$  is the value of  $I_{D,sat}$  at 25°C and  $\alpha$  is the temperature coefficient. Generally, it is expected that  $\alpha \approx -1.5$ , which is the rate of mobility degradation with temperature. The

 $\alpha$  value of Sample A C-HEMTs with different channel lengths  $L_{CH} = 10, 15, \text{ and } 20 \ \mu\text{m}$  is -1.186, -1.191, and -1.098 respectively, during heating. The larger channel length device displays the weakest current dependence on temperature.

Figure 4.11 shows the threshold voltage for Sample A and Sample B as a function of temperature. The sheet carrier density variation induces differences in the threshold voltage. The higher  $n_s$  in the passivated Sample A devices results in a larger magnitude  $V_{Th}$  at room temperature in order to modulate the channel and turn the device off. The positive shift in threshold voltage at high temperature is caused by the decrease in  $I_{D,sat}$ , while the subsequent increase in  $I_{D,sat}$  during cooling seen in Figure 4.10 explains the negative  $V_{Th}$  shift during cooling.



Figure 4.11:  $V_{Th}$  of Sample A and Sample B 10  $\mu$ m (left), 15  $\mu$ m (middle), and 20  $\mu$ m (right) channel length C-HEMTs during heating up to 600°C and cooling back down to 25°C in air.

The extracted ON/OFF ratio  $(I_{D,on}/I_{D,off})$  and OFF-current  $(I_{D,off})$  of the Sample A and Sample B C-HEMTs over the temperature cycle are shown in Figure 4.13 and Figure 4.14, respectively. The ON/OFF ratio decreases with temperature due to increasing drain OFF-current. Increasing  $I_{D,off}$  could be due to the increased conductivity of the GaN



buffer with increasing temperature, which causes buffer layer leakage [34, 116].

Figure 4.12:  $I_{D,on}/I_{D,off}$  of Sample A and Sample B 10  $\mu$ m (left), 15  $\mu$ m (middle), and 20  $\mu$ m (right) channel length C-HEMTs during heating up to 600°C and cooling back down to 25°C in air.

Figure 4.14 shows  $I_G$  extracted in the cut-off mode during heating and cooling for the C-HEMTs on both samples. Sample A devices have higher gate leakage originally, indicating that surface passivation leakage may be contributing. The gate leakage currents in Sample A and Sample B devices increase with temperature, with less temperature dependency seen at temperatures above 400°C in the Sample A C-HEMTs. The detailed investigation into the IrO<sub>x</sub> gate leakage current transport mechanisms and Schottky barrier heights up to 500°C is reported in Section 4.4. During cooling, the Sample A C-HEMTs exhibit less pronounced  $I_G$  temperature dependency. In the  $L_{CH} = 10 \ \mu\text{m}$  C-HEMT, the gate leakage current during cooling is less than during heating at temperatures above 300°C, while in the  $L_{CH} = 15 \ \mu\text{m}$  C-HEMT  $I_G$  during cooling is less than during heating at temperatures are all smaller during cooling than during heating. This  $I_G$  trend dependency on geometry indicates that surface leakage currents may play an important role in the Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> passivated Sample A devices, or



Figure 4.13:  $I_{D,off}$  of Sample A and Sample B 10  $\mu$ m (left), 15  $\mu$ m (middle), and 20  $\mu$ m (right) channel length C-HEMTs during heating up to 600°C and cooling back down to 25°C in air.

a virtual gate effect is occurring.

### L-HEMTs:

Figure 4.15 and Figure 4.16 shows the transfer and output characteristics of L-HEMTs on Sample A and Sample B, respectively, during heating from 25°C to 600°C and upon return to 25°C. Both the passivated (Sample A) and unpassivated (Sample B) L-HEMTs fail at high temperature. The Sample A L-HEMT fails at 600°C and does not recover normal transfer characteristics upon return to 25°C such that it could be reliably implemented into a circuit. The Sample B L-HEMT begins to fail 400°C and no longer operates as a switch at 600°C and also does not recover normal function upon return to room temperature.

### 4.3.4 Conclusions

The Sample A C-HEMT devices were found to operate at 600°C in air for 10 minutes and upon return to RT, with degraded performance. The Sample B C-HEMTs failed to demonstrate channel modulation capabilities and drain currents were significantly reduced



Figure 4.14:  $I_G$  of Sample A and Sample B 10  $\mu$ m (left), 15  $\mu$ m (middle), and 20  $\mu$ m (right) channel length C-HEMTs during heating up to 600°C and cooling back down to 25°C in air.

at high temperature, suffering permanent device failure at 600°C. Neither Sample A nor Sample B L-HEMTs operated at 600°C, and neither recovered upon return to RT. These results show that  $Al_2O_3$  passivation, and the circular HEMT geometry, are superior for high temperature oxidizing ambient operation, and demonstrate the viability of  $IrO_x$  Schottky contacts for use on extreme environment InAlN/GaN HEMTs with careful choice of passivation and geometry. This platform is promising for Venus surface applications because the surface temperature of 464°C is well within the operable temperature range of the Sample A C-HEMTs.



Figure 4.15: Sample A L-HEMT transfer (left) and output (right) characteristics up to  $600^{\circ}$ C in air.



Figure 4.16: Sample B L-HEMT transfer (left) and output (right) characteristics up to 600°C in air.

# 4.4 Investigation of $IrO_x$ Schottky Barrier Contacts up to $500^{\circ}C$

### 4.4.1 Motivation

High excess reverse leakage current through the Schottky gate remains a lingering performance challenge for HEMT operation in high-field and high-temperature conditions [117–119]. The adverse effects of high leakage currents include large off-state power consumption, decreased linearity in high-power amplifiers, and enhanced burden on drive circuitry due to limited range of the gate voltage swing. Elucidating the quality of the barrier interface, as well as the dominant gate leakage mechanisms and their temperature dependencies, is critical to further progress this device and material platform performance for hot environment applications. This section reports the investigation of barrier height and current transport mechanisms in InAlN/GaN Schottky barrier diodes with intentionally oxidized iridium oxide ( $IrO_x$ ) gate contacts across a wide temperature range.

### 4.4.2 Introduction

A wide range of Schottky barrier heights to InAlN/GaN structures have been reported in the literature. A phenomenon frequently reported in Schottky contacts to InAlN is experimental barriers height that are significantly lower than theoretical barrier heights predicted by Vegard's law [120]. For Ni-based Schottky contacts to InAlN, reported barrier height values vary between 0.63-2.43 eV at room temperature [120–124]. Room temperature barrier heights in Pt-InAlN and Pd-InAlN Schottky contacts are reported to be 0.84-2.9 eV and 2.12 eV, respectively [122, 125, 126]. The large discrepancy in reported values can be partially attributed to whether the study considered the influence of Schottky barrier inhomogeneity, which is discussed in detail later in this section. Accurate extraction of the Schottky barrier height is necessary to evaluate the potential of the gate electrode material for HEMT applications, where minimized leakage current and maximized drain current, transconductance, and breakdown voltage are required.

Several investigations of the gate leakage mechanisms in InAlN/GaN Schottky contacts have been reported. Turuvekere *et al.* identified Poole-Frenkel emission as the primary gate leakage mechanism in InAlN/GaN HEMTs at low to medium reverse bias and Fowler-Nordheim tunneling as the dominant gate leakage mechanism beyond the threshold voltage [127]. The authors also identified significant trap-assisted tunneling current in the region near zero bias. Ganguly *et al.* formulated a modified Poole-Frenkel model that considers polarization fields to explain gate current transport in InAlN/GaN HEMTs at lower reverse bias, while Fowler-Nordheim tunneling was identified as the main current component at high reverse bias [128]. Arslan *et al.* observed a nearly temperature-independent tunneling current via dislocations intersecting the space-charge region at low forward bias [121]. Poole-Frenkel emission in InAlN/GaN HEMTs operated in reverse bias was also reported by Arslan *et al.* [129]. Kotani *et al.* found the reduction of dislocation density effective in reducing leakage current originating from Poole-Frenkel emission in the low reverse bias region, but no similar reduction in leakage at high bias where field-enhanced emission was dominant [130]. Liang *et al.* have identified trap-assisted tunneling as the main process of reverse current transport in ultrathin InAlN/GaN HEMTs [131]. Lugani *et al.* reported two leakage mechanisms in reverse-biased InAlN/GaN Schottky diodes: trap-assisted tunneling and, in thicker barrier layers, Fowler-Nordheim tunneling [132]. These investigations of gate leakage currents in InAlN/GaN structures are limited in temperatures  $\leq 102^{\circ}$ C ( $\approx 375$  K) [118, 121, 128, 129],  $\leq 200^{\circ}$ C ( $\approx 473$  K) [127, 131], and  $\leq 300^{\circ}$ C ( $\approx 573$  K) [130].

In this study, we extend the temperature range of investigation of Schottky contacts to InAlN/GaN structures up to 500°C (773 K) to give detailed information about the Schottky barrier height and current transport mechanisms at temperatures of interest to extreme environment applications. To this end, we have fabricated large-area InAlN/GaN Schottky diodes with intentionally oxidized iridium  $(IrO_x)$  gate electrodes.  $IrO_x$  is a conductive metal oxide with a high work function. Lalinsky et al. reported the high temperature stability of IrO<sub>2</sub>-gated AlGaN/GaN HEMTs subjected to 450°C ambient air for 24 hours [95]. The authors of this article have previously studied the improved performance of  $IrO_x$ -gated InAlN/GaN HEMTs after 10-day exposure to simulated Venus surface conditions (460°C, supercritical  $CO_2$  ambient, 92 bar) [133]. Here, we report the first detailed study on the current transport mechanisms of the IrO<sub>x</sub> Schottky gate interface to a GaN heterostructure. Towards this end, the current-voltage characteristics of IrO<sub>x</sub>/InAlN/GaN Schottky diodes are measured at various temperatures from 25°C to 500°C in air. The Schottky barrier height is evaluated considering inhomogeneity at the IrO<sub>x</sub>-InAlN interface by assuming a double Gaussian distribution. Conventional and modified Richardson plots are analyzed to verify this methodology. Various current transport mechanisms, including trap-assisted tunneling, Poole-Frenkel emission, and Fowler-Nordheim emission have been modeled and fit to the experimental data at reverse bias. Their associated parameters are extracted and discussed in detail.

### 4.4.3 Experimental Methods

The Schottky diodes are Casper Run sample type #1 (see Table 3.3 for details). Schottky diodes are fabricated on a lattice-matched  $In_{0.18}Al_{0.82}N/AlN/GaN$ -on-Si wafer grown via MOCVD (Table 3.1) The circular device active region was defined by a BCl<sub>3</sub>/Cl<sub>2</sub> inductively

coupled reactive ion mesa etch. Ti/Al/Mo/Au (15/60/35/50 nm) metals were evaporated, lifted off, and annealed in  $N_2$  at 850°C for 30 s to form the ring-shaped Ohmic contact around the perimeter. Next, a 15-nm-thick film of Ir was evaporated, lifted off, and intentionally oxidized at  $800^{\circ}$ C for 1 min in O<sub>2</sub> to form a concentric, circular Schottky gate contact. Lalinsky et al. found these oxidation process conditions to form  $IrO_2$  throughout the entire resulting 25-30 nm gate contact thickness on AlGaN/GaN HEMTs [95]. Here, we refer to the gate electrode stack as  $IrO_x$  because the exact oxide composition of the intentionally oxidized iridium stack was not verified. The transformation of the Ir contact into  $IrO_2$  on AlGaN films proceeds from the top down towards the semiconductor interface during the oxidation process [95]. At the temperature of oxidation (800°C), oxygen has a long diffusion length in Ir, which is highly reactive [96]. In addition to the top-down oxidation process occurring from the  $O_2$  ambient, it can be assumed that at such high temperatures the Ir near the interface is simultaneously reacting with any adsorbed oxygen that was present on the InAlN surface. At the  $IrO_2/AlGaN$  interface, an  $IrO_2$  and  $Ga_2O_3$  interlayer is formed [95]. The  $Ga_2O_3$  interlayer cannot be present in InAlN due to the absence of Ga. This implies that no interlayer is formed and the contact is homogeneous  $IrO_2$ . However, other studies have shown that a very thin (1-2 nm) "nearly native" Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> is formed during 800°C O<sub>2</sub> annealing of unmasked InAlN [134]. This thin  $Al_2O_3$  interlayer has been employed as gate oxide insulation in HEMTs, which can improve the gate leakage current of Schottky contacts [135]. Due to the high temperature of oxidation required to form this aluminum oxide interlayer, the layer is considered thermally stable at the lower experimental temperatures reported here  $(\geq 500^{\circ}C)$ , and changes in Schottky barrier height cannot be attributed to interlayer material changes. Therefore, we conclude that if such an  $Al_2O_3$  interlayer has formed in addition to the  $IrO_2$ , it could be a contributing factor to the high thermal stability of the Schottky contacts investigated in this work.

The devices were blanket passivated by 25 nm of  $Al_2O_3$  deposited via atomic layer deposition. Finally, the passivation was selectively wet etched, and Ti/Au (15/200 nm) was evaporated and lifted off over the Ohmic and Schottky regions to allow for electrical contact and probing via bond pads (BP). Figure 4.17 shows a top-view optical image of the microfabricated diode and the cross-sectional device schematic, annotated with dimensions.

Current-voltage (J - V) measurements from -7 to +3 V were conducted on the diodes across a wide temperature range from 25°C to 500°C in air on a Signatone probe station. The InAlN/AlN/GaN-on-Si die was placed directly onto the surface of a heated chuck, and



Figure 4.17: Top-view optical image of the microfabricated  $IrO_x/InAlN/GaN$  Schottky diode (a) and cross-sectional device diagram with dimensions (b).

the chuck was held at each temperature for approximately 10 minutes prior to data collection to allow for the die surface to reach thermal equilibrium. The probe station dark box door was closed during the experiment and the diodes were not illuminated. Capacitance-voltage (C - V) measurements were performed at 25°C prior to heating.

### 4.4.4 Results and Discussion

The (J - V - T) response of the IrO<sub>x</sub>/InAlN/GaN Schottky diodes across the temperature range is shown in Figure 4.18. Several current transport mechanisms are identified, and their various dominant operating regions are labeled on the plot. The presence of each mechanism is detected and validated by applying the corresponding transport model to the experimental data. The modeling procedure and associated extracted parameters for each current transport mechanism are discussed in detail in the following sections.

### **Region I - Thermionic emission**

Values for the Schottky barrier height (SBH) and ideality factor are calculated for each temperature by analyzing the current density in low forward bias. The current transport mechanism in this region is assumed to be thermionic emission (TE), which is the transport of thermally activated carriers with energy greater than or equal to the conduction band energy at the Schottky interface. The TE process is depicted in the conduction band edge



Figure 4.18: Measured J - V characteristics of the Schottky diode from 25°C to 500°C. The dominant current transport mechanisms and their associated regions are labeled.

diagram in Figure 4.19, and the region where TE dominates current flow is labeled Region I on Figure 4.18. TE-induced current can be described by the ideal diode equation [127],

$$J_{TE} = J_0 \left[ \exp\left(\frac{qV}{nk_BT}\right) - 1 \right]$$
(4.3)

where  $J_0$  is the reverse saturation current density, n is the ideality factor, q is the charge of an electron,  $k_B$  is the Boltzmann constant, and T is the absolute temperature. The reverse saturation current density is:

$$J_0 = A^* T^2 \exp\left(-\frac{q\phi_{ap}}{k_B T}\right) \tag{4.4}$$

where  $A^*$  is the effective Richardson constant (55.7  $A \cdot cm^{-2} \cdot K^{-2}$  for InAlN), and  $\phi_{ap}$  is the apparent SBH calculated using this method. By neglecting the last term, Equation 4.3 can be rearranged and the TE current density approximated,

$$\ln\left(J_{TE}\right) \approx \ln\left(J_0\right) + \frac{qV}{nk_BT} \tag{4.5}$$

when  $V > 3k_BT$ . Figure 4.20 shows the plot of  $\ln(J_{TE}) - V$  from 25°C to 500°C. Linear



Figure 4.19: Conduction band edge diagrams of current transport mechanisms in  $IrO_x/InAlN/GaN$  Schottky diode. Thermionic emission (TE) at forward bias (V > 0) is shown in (a); trap-assisted tunneling (TAT) shown in (b), Poole-Frenkel (PF) emission shown in (c), and Fowler-Nordheim (FN) tunneling shown in (d) are dominant in the low, medium, and high reverse bias (V < 0) regions, respectively. Continuum of states is depicted by the gray line.

fitting is performed at low forward bias where the effects of series resistance are small and the current exponentially increases as predicted by Equation 4.3. Current saturation due to series resistance can be seen at higher biases in Region I on Figure 4.18. As predicted by Equation 4.5, the experimental data in Figure 4.20 shows good linearity across the temperature range, demonstrating the validity of assuming the prevalence of thermionic emission in this region (e.g.,  $J \approx J_{TE}$ ). The intercepts and slopes of the linear fits yield values for  $J_0$  and n, respectively. Figure 4.20 inset shows the variation of  $J_0$  with temperature. The apparent SBH can then be calculated,

$$\phi_{ap} = \frac{k_B T}{q} \ln\left(\frac{A^* T^2}{J_0}\right) \tag{4.6}$$

The variation of the SBH and ideality factor across temperature obtained from the  $J_{TE} - V - T$  analysis is shown in Figure 4.21. The values for  $\phi_{ap}$  increase from 0.67 eV to 1.48 eV between 25°C and 500°C. The values for *n* decrease from 4.13 to 2.54 between 25°C and 500°C. The inset of Figure 4.21 shows  $\phi_{ap}$  versus *n*. The inset data display two clear distinct linear trends with temperature, which are denoted Range A in the moderate temperature regime between 25°C to 200°C ( $\approx$ 300 K to 473 K), and Range B in the high temperature regime from 300°C to 500°C (573 K to 773 K).



Figure 4.20: Thermionic emission plot  $\ln(J_{TE}) - V$  from 25°C to 500°C. Experimental data are shown as circles. Linear fits are represented as dotted lines. Inset shows the measured reverse saturation current values,  $J_0$ , versus temperature.



Figure 4.21: Apparent barrier height,  $\phi_{ap}$ , and ideality factor, n, from 25°C to 500°C obtained from the  $J_{TE} - V - T$  analysis. The inset shows  $\phi_{ap}$  versus n, which has two distinct linear regions. Linear fits are represented as dotted lines.



Figure 4.22: The conventional Richardson plot  $\ln(J_0/T^2)$  versus  $q/k_BT$ . Linear fits are represented as dotted lines.

Another common method used to calculate the SBH is to utilize a conventional Richardson plot based upon the Richardson-Dushman equation,

$$\ln\left(\frac{J_0}{T^2}\right) = -\frac{q\phi_R}{k_B T} + \ln\left(A^*\right). \tag{4.7}$$

This equation is based upon an Arrhenius-style analysis where  $\phi_R$  is the activation energy required for electrons to surmount a barrier of that height at the Schottky junction. The conventional Richardson plot  $\ln(J_0/T^2)$  versus  $q/k_BT$  is shown in Figure 4.22. In agreement with the  $\phi_{ap}$  versus n plot in the Figure 4.21 inset, two distinct trends corresponding to temperature Range A and Range B are seen in the conventional Richardson plot in Figure 4.22. Table 4.1 lists values for the Richardson constant  $A^*$  and barrier height  $\phi_R$  extracted from the linear fits of Figure 4.22 data in Range A and B. The effective Richardson constants in both ranges are orders of magnitude lower than the theoretical value of 55.7  $A \cdot cm^{-2} \cdot K^{-2}$ for InAlN [120]. The barrier heights are also much lower than the apparent values calculated and shown in Figure 4.21 and indicative of an Ohmic contact, which cannot physically be the case here due to the rectifying behavior evident in the J - V - T characteristics in Figure 4.18. Therefore, the effects of Schottky barrier inhomogeneity are considered and

Range	Temperature (°C)	$\phi_R$ (eV)	$A^* (A \cdot cm^{-2} \cdot K^{-2})$
А	25-200	0.11	$1.68 \times 10^{-8}$
В	300-500	0.31	$1.35  imes 10^{-6}$

Table 4.1: Conventional Richardson plot extracted parameters

further explained in the next section.

### Schottky Barrier Inhomogeneity

The low effective Richardson constants extracted from Figure 4.22 as well as the observed increase in  $\phi_{ap}$  and decrease in n with increasing temperature as seen in Figure 4.21 are both indications of Schottky barrier inhomogeneity (SBI) in III-N structures [136–138]. SBI refers to the lateral spatial non-uniformity of barrier height across the Schottky-semiconductor interface. SBI in III-N devices has been attributed to the presence of quantum dot-like structures on the barrier surface [126], alloy composition fluctuation in the barrier layer [136], surface trap states [139], metal oxide formation at the M-S interface [139, 140], and voids under the Schottky contact [141]. SBI has also been reported to depend on the gate metal or material chosen [140]. In the case of the  $IrO_x/InAlN$  Schottky interface, inhomogeneity is unsurprising because the imperfect nature of the contact is two-fold: the interface is not atomically perfect because the Ir metal was evaporated and not epitaxially grown onto the InAlN barrier layer, and TEM on intentionally oxidized  $IrO_x$  gates show the existence of polycrystalline grain boundaries within the oxide [95]. Material variations at the interface will cause local variation in the electric field, and therefore non-uniform barrier height. At low to moderate temperatures, current transport will be dominated by lower energy electrons. At higher temperatures, electrons are sufficiently thermally energized to be able to cross at higher height barrier locations. This is the cause of the apparent increase in  $\phi_{ap}$  with increasing temperature. Because n is an indicator of the interface quality and should approach unity in the case of a perfect Schottky junction, SBI can also explain the decrease of n with increasing temperature. At higher temperatures, current will flow more uniformly through the contact since the electrons will have sufficient thermal energy to cross higher barrier height patches, effectively increasing the area of the contact.

To describe SBI, a Gaussian distribution of low and high barrier height spots, which reflects the variation in electric field potential at the Schottky-semiconductor interface, can



Figure 4.23: Gaussian probability distribution of barrier heights (a) and conduction band edge diagram depicting barrier inhomogeneity (b).

be applied [142, 143]. This phenomenon has been experimentally confirmed in III-N structures [144]. The Gaussian distribution function describing the barrier height inhomogeneity is [137, 145],

$$P(\phi_B) = \frac{1}{\sigma_s \sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left[-\frac{\left(\phi_B - \overline{\phi_{bo}}\right)^2}{2\sigma_s^2}\right]$$
(4.8)

where  $\overline{\phi_{bo}}$  is the mean barrier height and  $\sigma_s$  is the standard deviation. Figure 4.23 depicts the Gaussian probability distribution of barrier heights and conduction band edge diagram with barrier inhomogeneity. The reverse saturation current density can then be modified to include the Gaussian probability function,

$$J_s = \int J_0(\phi_B) P(\phi_B) d\phi_B \tag{4.9}$$

where  $J_0(\phi_B)$  is the reverse saturation current from a single barrier height. Substituting Equations 4.4 and 4.8 into Equation 4.9 and carrying out the integration over all barrier heights yields,

$$J_s = A^* T^2 \exp\left(-\frac{q\phi_{ap}}{k_B T}\right). \tag{4.10}$$

The apparent barrier height and ideality factor are then taken:

$$\phi_{ap} = \overline{\phi_{bo}} - \frac{q\sigma_s^2}{2k_B T} \tag{4.11}$$



Figure 4.24:  $\phi_{ap}$  and  $n^{-1} - 1$  versus  $q/2k_BT$  plots. Linear fits are represented as dotted lines.

Range	Temperature (°C)	$\overline{\phi_{bo}}$ (eV)	$\sigma_s$ (eV)	$\rho_2 \ (eV)$	$\rho_3 \ (eV)$
А	25-200	1.55	0.21	0.53	0.01
В	300-500	2.33	0.34	0.51	0.01

Table 4.2: Gaussian distribution analysis extracted parameters

$$n^{-1} - 1 = \rho_2 - \frac{q\rho_3}{2k_BT}.$$
(4.12)

 $\phi_{ap}$  and  $n^{-1} - 1$  are both plotted versus  $q/2k_BT$  in Figure 4.24. The intercepts and slopes of the fits of  $\phi_{ap}$  versus  $q/2k_BT$  yield values for  $\overline{\phi_{bo}}$  and  $\sigma_s$ , respectively, in Range A and B. Likewise, the fit of  $n^{-1} - 1$  versus  $q/2k_BT$  gives values for  $\rho_2$  and  $\rho_3$ , which are voltage coefficients that quantify the barrier height distribution deformity with applied bias. Table 4.2 lists the extracted values of  $\overline{\phi_{bo}}$ ,  $\sigma_s$ ,  $\rho_2$ , and  $\rho_3$  for temperature Ranges A and B. The values of  $\rho_2$  and  $\rho_3$  are similar between the temperature ranges, implying the voltage coefficients are largely temperature independent. The standard deviation  $\sigma_s$  is an indication of the homogeneity of the barrier, which is 13.8% of the barrier height in Range A and 14.5% of the barrier height in Range B.

After finding the Gaussian distribution parameters, Equations 4.4 and 4.10 can be used



Figure 4.25: Modified Richardson plot. Linear fits are represented as dotted lines.

to construct a modified Richardson plot [137],

$$\ln\left(\frac{J_0}{T^2}\right) - \frac{q^2 \sigma_s^2}{2 \left(k_B T\right)^2} = \ln\left(A^*\right) - \frac{q \overline{\phi_{bo}}}{k_B T}.$$
(4.13)

The modified Richardson plot shown in Figure 4.25 exhibits good linearity in both ranges. Extracted parameters are listed in Table 4.3. The barrier heights calculated from the slope of the modified Richardson plot shown in Figure 4.25 are in good agreement with the mean barrier heights calculated from the Gaussian distributions using Equation 4.11: 1.56 eV and 1.55 eV in the moderate temperature Range A, and 2.34 eV and 2.33 eV in the high temperature Range B. The  $A^*$  values calculated from the intercept of the fits in the modified Richardson plot in Figure 4.25 are shown Table 4.3. Unlike the  $A^*$  values calculated from the conventional Richardson plot and listed in Table 4.1, the  $A^*$  values calculated from the intercepts of the fits in the modified Richardson plot as conventional Richardson plot and listed in Table 4.1, the  $A^*$  values calculated from the intercepts of the fits in the modified Richardson plot are close to the theoretical value for InAlN of 55.7  $A \cdot cm^{-2} \cdot K^{-2}$ . The discrepancy between the theoretical  $A^*$  value of 55.7  $A \cdot cm^{-2} \cdot K^{-2}$  and calculated  $A^*$  values of 75.62  $A \cdot cm^{-2} \cdot K^{-2}$  and 61.87  $A \cdot cm^{-2} \cdot K^{-2}$  in Ranges A and B could be due to discrepancies between the theoretical effective mass ( $m_n^*=0.3$  to  $0.4m_0$  for InAlN) and the experimental effective mass [146]. The

Range	Temperature (°C)	$\overline{\phi_{bo}}~({ m eV})$	$A^* \; (A \cdot cm^{-2} \cdot K^{-2})$	$m_n^*$
А	25-200	1.56	75.62	$0.63m_{0}$
В	300-500	2.34	61.87	$0.51m_{0}$

Table 4.3: Modified Richardson plot extracted parameters

experimental effective mass is calculated in each range using the below equation,

$$A^* = \frac{4\pi q m_n^* k_B^2}{h^3} \tag{4.14}$$

where h is Planck's constant. The calculated  $m_n^*$  values are listed in Table 4.3.

The feasible  $A^*$  values yielded by the modified Richardson plot analysis suggests that the IrO<sub>x</sub>/InAlN/GaN Schottky diode behavior is accurately described by a double Gaussian distribution of Schottky barrier heights to account for SBI. Furthermore, literature supports the application of multiple Gaussian distributions to capture unique behavior across temperature ranges in III-N devices [145].

#### **Region II - Trap-Assisted Tunneling**

In the reverse bias regime, the contribution of thermionic emission to gate leakage is assumed trivial due to the large barrier heights found above. Instead, a variety of other current transport mechanisms are evaluated in Regions II-IV shown in Figure 4.18. At very low reverse bias, trap-assisted tunneling (TAT) has been shown to dominate in InAlN devices [127]. TAT is the defect-assisted tunneling of electrons from the Schottky contact through a band of localized trap states in the InAlN barrier. The energy band diagram depicting the TAT mechanism is shown in Figure 4.19 and the region where the TAT model is applied is labeled Region II on Figure 4.18. The current density due to TAT is given by [147],

$$\ln(J_{TAT}) = \ln(C_1) - \frac{C_2}{E}$$
(4.15)

where  $C_1$  is a temperature-dependent parameter and

$$C_2 = \frac{8\pi\sqrt{2qm_n^*}}{3h}\phi_{TAT}^{\frac{3}{2}}$$
(4.16)

where  $\phi_{TAT}$  is the energy level below the conduction band edge corresponding to the trap. The plot of  $\ln(\phi_{TAT})$  versus 1/E is shown in Figure 4.26. The goodness of the linear fit



Figure 4.26: Trap-assisted tunneling plot  $\ln(J_{TAT})$  versus 1/E. Experimental data are shown as circles. Linear fits are represented as dotted lines.

increases with temperature, which can be expected due to the temperature dependency of this mechanism. As evidenced by Equation 4.15, the intercept of the linear fit to experimental data in Figure 4.26 gives a value for  $C_2$ . Equation 4.16 is rearranged to calculate  $\phi_{TAT}$ values across temperature. The extracted  $\phi_{TAT}$  are listed in Table 4.4 and correspond well with the range for InAlN/GaN HEMTs reported in literature of 1.2 eV to 4.55 eV [131]. The trap energy level decreases with increasing temperature because thermally energized electrons require less electrical energy to be activated, and the width of the forbidden band decreases with increase in temperature [131]. It has been hypothesized that structural defects caused by N vacancies in the InAlN barrier may be responsible for TAT current [148].

### **Region III - Poole-Frenkel Emission**

Poole-Frenkel (PF) emission is another trap-assisted tunneling model that describes the thermal emission of electrons from the Schottky material or trap levels in the barrier very close to the Schottky material Fermi level into a continuum of states in the barrier layer that exist due to conductive dislocations. PF emission is strongly influenced by temperature and field strength. PF has been shown to dominate current transport in InAlN/GaN HEMTs at medium reverse bias, where the reverse bias magnitude approaches but remains less than

Temperature (°C)	$\phi_{TAT}~(\mathrm{eV})$
25	2.52
100	2.04
200	1.87
300	1.64
400	1.50
500	1.36

Table 4.4: Trap-assisted tunneling (TAT) energy levels across the temperature range

the threshold voltage (e.g.,  $|V_R| < |V_{TH}|$ ) [127–129]. The energy band diagram depicting PF emission is shown in Figure 4.19 and the bias range where PF dominates is labeled Region III on Figure 4.18. To quantify PF emission, the vertical electric field strength across the barrier must be found using the equation [127],

$$E = \frac{q\left(\sigma_b - n_s\right)}{\varepsilon_r \varepsilon_0}.$$
(4.17)

Here,  $\sigma_b = P_{InAlN} - P_{GaN} \approx 2.8 \times 10^{13} \ cm^{-2}$  is the bound polarization charge at the heterointerface,  $n_s$  is the carrier concentration of the two-dimensional electron gas (2DEG),  $\varepsilon_r = 9.8$  is the static dielectric constant for InAlN, and  $\varepsilon_0$  is the vacuum permittivity [122, 149–151]. To find the 2DEG concentration, C - V measurements were conducted on the Schottky diodes at 25°C and 10 kHz. The 2DEG density was calculated as a function of applied voltage by integrating [152],

$$n_s = \int \frac{C}{qA} dV. \tag{4.18}$$

The calculated E - V is shown in Figure 4.27. C - V experimental data and the calculated 2DEG density are displayed in the Figure 4.27 inset. The threshold voltage,  $V_{TH}$ , is the x-intercept of the tangent to the steepest part of the C - V curve, which is -3.1 V. With increasing reverse bias, the 2DEG is depleted until  $n_s$  approaches zero at the threshold. Thus, the electric field, and subsequently the current, saturate at reverse biases larger or equal to the threshold voltage (e.g.,  $|V_R| \geq |V_{TH}|$ ).

The current density due to PF emission is described [127],

$$J_{PF} = CEexp\left[-\frac{q}{k_BT}\left(\phi_t - \sqrt{\frac{qE}{\pi\varepsilon_i\varepsilon_0}}\right)\right]$$
(4.19)



Figure 4.27: Calculated electric field as a function of voltage (E - V) plot. C - V experimental data and the calculated 2DEG density are displayed in the inset.

where C is a constant,  $\phi_t$  is the activation energy for trap-assisted emission, and  $\varepsilon_i$  is the high-frequency dielectric permittivity. Rearranging Equation 4.19 and assuming PF emission dominates,  $\ln(J_{PF}/E)$  should be a linear function of  $\sqrt{E}$ ,

$$\ln\left(\frac{J_{PF}}{E}\right) = m\left(T\right)\sqrt{E} + c\left(T\right) \tag{4.20}$$

with

$$m\left(T\right) = \frac{q}{k_B T} \sqrt{\frac{q}{\pi \varepsilon_i}} \tag{4.21}$$

$$c(T) = -\frac{q\phi_t}{k_B T} + \ln(C).$$
 (4.22)

Figure 4.28 shows  $\ln(J_{PF}/E)$  versus  $\sqrt{E}$  across temperature. The plot has three distinct linear regions based on the strength of the electric field: low-field, mid-field, and highfield. Using 4.20, values for c(T) and m(T) were extracted from the linear fits in each region. Figure 4.29 displays c(T) and m(T) values versus  $q/k_BT$ , and linear fits in the high-temperature and mid-temperature ranges are represented by dashed lines. Multiple field-dependent PF regions, and two temperature ranges, were similarly found by Zhu *et* 



Figure 4.28: Poole-Frenkel emission plot  $\ln(J_{PF}/E)$  versus  $\sqrt{E}$ . The plot has three distinct regions: low-field, mid-field, and high-field. Linear fits are represented as dotted lines.



Figure 4.29: Extracted  $c_T$  and  $m_T$  values versus  $q/k_BT$ . Low-field, mid-field, and high-field values are shown, and linear fits are represented as dotted lines.

Temperature (°C)	Low-Field $\phi_t$ (eV)	Mid-Field $\phi_t$ (eV)	High-Field $\phi_t$ (eV)
25-200	0.76	0.56	0.38
300-500	2.87	1.51	0.97

Table 4.5: Poole-Frenkel (PF) emission activation energies.

al. on Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>/AlGaN/GaN HEMTs [153]. Weaker temperature dependency in the midtemperature range indicates PF emission may be less dominant at moderate temperatures, where other trap-assisted mechanisms may be playing a role [153]. From 4.22, values of  $\phi_t$ are calculated using the slope of the c(T) versus  $q/k_BT$  fits in Figure 4.29 and listed in Table 4.5. At low fields and higher temperature PF emission is via deep traps (e.g., large  $\phi_t$ ), while at high fields and moderate temperature emission is via shallower traps. Reported PF trap activation energies in the literature are for Ni-based Schottky contacts to InAlN and vary from 0.12 eV to 0.65 eV at temperatures  $\leq 473$  K [127,129,131,147]. These values correspond to the  $\phi_t$  values extracted in the mid-temperature range in this study ( $\approx 300$  K to 473 K) of 0.38 eV to 0.76 eV.

From Equation 4.21, the high-frequency dielectric constant,  $\varepsilon_i$ , is calculated in the highfield region where PF emission is strongest and is found to be 5.79. This is close to the reported experimental  $\varepsilon_i$  of InAlN of  $\approx 6.2$  (between  $\varepsilon_{AlN} = 4.77$  and  $\varepsilon_{InN} = 8.4$ ) [128]. It can be concluded that PF emission is dominant in Region III of Figure 4.18 from the linearity of the fits in Figure 4.29,  $\phi_t$  values in the mid-temperature regime that align with reported values from other studies, the strong temperature and field dependency of  $\phi_t$ , and  $\varepsilon_i$  value that is close to reported experimental and theoretical values.

### **Region IV - Fowler-Nordheim Tunneling**

Fowler-Nordheim (FN) tunneling describes the transport of electrons through the barrier via quantum tunneling [154]. At large reverse biases approaching and exceeding the threshold voltage (e.g.,  $|V_R| \ge |V_{TH}|$ ), the large electric field across the InAlN barrier effectively thins to a triangular potential well such that electrons can easily tunnel through to the 2DEG channel and contribute to current flow. The energy band diagram depicting FN tunneling is shown in Figure 4.19 and the region where FN tunneling is dominant is labeled Region IV on Figure 4.18. The saturation of the current at larger reverse biases in Region IV of Figure 4.18 is due to saturation of the vertical electrical field as shown in Figure 4.27.



Figure 4.30: Fowler-Nordheim tunneling plot  $\ln\left(\frac{J_{FN}}{E^2}\right)$  versus 1/E. Experimental data are shown as circles. Linear fits are represented as dotted lines.

For ideal FN tunneling, the current density can be described [155, 156],

$$J_{FN} = \alpha E^2 \exp\left(-\frac{\beta}{E}\right) \tag{4.23}$$

where  $\alpha$  is a proportionality constant and

$$\beta = \frac{8\pi}{3qh} \sqrt{2m_n^* \phi_{eff}^3} = 6.83 \times 10^7 \left(\frac{m_n^*}{m_0}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} (\phi_{eff})^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
 (4.24)

Rearranging Equation 4.23 yields

$$\ln\left(\frac{J_{FN}}{E^2}\right) = \ln\left(\alpha\right) - \frac{\beta}{E}.$$
(4.25)

By constructing and applying a linear fit to the  $\ln\left(\frac{J_{FN}}{E^2}\right)$  versus 1/E plot displayed in Figure 4.30, values for  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are found. The extracted  $\beta$  value and Equation 4.24 are then used to calculate an effective barrier height for tunneling,  $\phi_{eff}$ , in eV. The calculated  $\phi_{eff}$  values across temperature are listed in Table 4.6. The average  $\phi_{eff}$  value extracted over the temperature range is 0.71 eV, with standard deviation 0.24 eV. This is

Temperature (°C)	$\phi_{eff}~(\mathrm{eV})$
25	0.98
100	0.85
200	0.83
300	0.73
400	0.56
500	0.31

Table 4.6: Effective barrier heights for FN tunneling across the temperature range.

in line with  $\phi_{eff}$  values in the literature for InAlN/GaN that range from 0.62 eV to 2.3 eV [127, 128, 147, 148]. Despite Equation 4.23 containing no temperature-dependent term, the extracted effective tunneling height decreases with increasing temperature. Previous studies have similarly shown a reduction in barrier height for tunneling with increasing temperature in GaN HEMTs and broadly MOS structures [157, 158]. Additionally, the FN equation requires the assumption of a value of effective mass, which in this case is  $0.3m_0$ , to calculate  $\phi_{eff}$ . However, because the temperature swing is so wide in this experiment, we propose the value of effective mass in InAlN may be expected to change significantly as has been shown in AlGaN/GaN heterostructures [159].

### Reverse Leakage Current Model

Using the relevant extracted parameters and Equations 4.15, 4.19, and 4.23, the TAT, PF, and FN currents were modeled as a function of electric field and displayed in Figure 4.31. The electric field strength range corresponds to the reverse bias Regions II, III, and IV in Figure 4.18, correspondingly. Two temperatures, 25°C and 500°C, were chosen to validate the model and the results are overlaid on top of the experimental data for those temperatures. As can be seen in Figure 4.31, the modeled currents are in very close agreement with the experimental data, which demonstrates the validity of the methodologies presented in this study.

### 4.4.5 Conclusions

InAlN/GaN Schottky diodes with novel conductive iridium oxide  $(IrO_x)$  Schottky electrodes were fabricated. The Schottky barrier height inhomogeneity was investigated and both the mean barrier heights and standard deviations were reported at moderate and high temperatures. The methodology used is supported by the analysis of Richardson plot parameters.



Figure 4.31: Trap-assisted tunneling, Poole-Frenkel emission, and Fowler-Nordheim emission models fit to the electric field. Experimental data at 25°C to 500°C are displayed as square and circular markers, respectively.

In reverse bias, three current transport mechanisms were identified: trap-assisted tunneling at low reverse bias, Poole-Frenkel emission at medium reverse bias, and Fowler-Nordheim tunneling at high reverse bias. We have studied the temperature-dependency of these mechanisms up to very high temperatures of 500°C ( $\approx$ 773 K) previously unreported for InAlN devices. The parameters for each mechanism were used to create a current versus electric field model, which closely followed the experimental data at 25°C and 500°C. These results provide valuable insight into the mechanisms contributing to undesirable reverse leakage currents in InAlN/GaN HEMTs operating at high temperature, and furthermore indicate IrO<sub>x</sub> Schottky gates to InAlN/GaN HEMTs could be a viable solution for very hot extreme environment applications. The performance of this Schottky contact may be further improved in the future by epitaxial growth on free-standing GaN substrates instead of Si to reduce dislocation density and leakage current due to PF emission [130]. The quality of the IrO<sub>x</sub>-InAlN interface may be improved through addition of a thin AlN cap layer that has been theorized to increase barrier heights and reduce leakage currents in AlN/InAlN/GaN heterostructures [128]. Alternatively, treating the InAlN barrier surface with N<sub>2</sub> plasma prior to Schottky material deposition and oxidation could be employed to reduce the interface state charge and leakage currents due to TAT [131].

### 4.5 Mo/Au-gated C-HEMT Operating at 476°C in Air for 6 Days

### 4.5.1 Motivation

The objective of this experiment was to determine the maximum operational time at Venus surface temperatures for InAlN/GaN C-HEMTs with Mo/Au gates (Casper run sample type #5, Table 3.2) and assess their performance against IrO<sub>x</sub>-gated C-HEMTs. Maier *et al.* previously demonstrated the operation of Mo-gated InAlN/GaN L-HEMTs at 1000°C in vacuum for 25 hours [34]. Here, the experiment is conducted in a hot oxidizing ambient (air) which is known to cause induce additional device failure mechanisms not see in vacuum such as oxidation (see Section 2.7).

### 4.5.2 Automated Measurement Test Setup

An experimental test setup was designed to automate the *in situ* electrical characterization of multiple HEMTs over extended periods of time. The instrumentation used in the test setup is a semiconductor parameter analyzer (Supplier: Agilent; Model: B1500A), USB modular switching matrix (Supplier: Agilent; Model: U2751A), and laptop. Figure 4.32 shows a block diagram of the experimental setup. The hardware used in the setup includes a breakout board, assembly of single stranded wire, triaxial cables, ethernet cable, GPIB to USB adapter cables, and c-dip (Supplier: Kycoera, P/N: KD-S78382-H). Pycharm integrated development environment (IDE) software was used for Python programming and the package PyVISA was used to control the SPA and switching matrix.

Before packaging, the functionality of the C-HEMTs was verified on the probe station by probing. The devices were packaged using the methods outlined in Section 3.4 with the ceramic alumina adhesive. Figure 4.33 shows an image of the wirebonded C-HEMT and the packaged sample die. Male circular pin connectors are then crimped onto the c-dip package leads and inserted into female circular pin connectors that are crimped onto the ends of the assembly wires. The opposite ends of the assembly wires are screwed into the breakout board terminals. Four additional wires run from breakout board terminals to jack



Figure 4.32: Block diagram of the automated measurement test setup developed to operate devices at high temperatures on the probe station for extended durations.

connectors; one side of each connector is soldered with a wire while the other side is hooked up to a triaxial cable providing a connection to one SMU of the SPA. Each of the breakout board terminals, numbered 1 through 25, corresponds to an electrical connection on the switching matrix. By programming with PyVISA to open and close specific switches on the switching matrix, each device can be electrically isolated for characterization. Once the correct electrical connections are configured, the PyVISA program triggers the SPA to start the desired test routine. PyVISA completes this protocol for each device in turn at every set time interval.

### 4.5.3 Experimental Methods

Three C-HEMTs co-fabricated on one die were characterized *in situ* hot air ambient. All of the devices had critical dimension  $L_G = 5 \ \mu m$ . Two of the devices had  $L_{CH} = 15 \ \mu m$  and the other device had  $L_{CH} = 10 \ \mu m$ .

In addition to the active sample, an additional dummy die of Casper Run sample type #5 was packaged identically in another c-dip package. A platinum thin film resistance temperature detector (RTD) (Supplier: TE Connectivity; Item: NB-PTCO-002) was attached

to the to surface of the dummy die using a thin layer of the epoxy. Figure 4.33 shows the sample and RTD packages prior to testing. In order to take into account temperature discrepancies between the packaged sample surface and the heated chuck controller readout, the temperature was calculated from the RTD reading. The average RTD temperature reading over the course of the experiment was 476°C.



Figure 4.33: Optical images of the wirebonded C-HEMT (a), close-up of the packaged sample die showing the wirebonds and epoxy (b), and the sample and RTD ceramic packages prior to testing (c).

Devices were characterized at intermediate temperatures from 100°C to 400°C in 100°C increments during the temperature ramp from 25°C to 476°C. The sample was held at each intermediate temperature point for 10 minutes prior to electrical characterization in order to allow the sample temperature to stabilize and saturate.

Once the device reached approximate Venus surface temperature (476°C),  $I_D - V_{DS}$  and  $I_D - V_{GS}$  data were collected on each of the three c-HEMTs every 15 minutes for the first 30 hours, after which time the data was collected every hour for the remaining duration of the experiment. This was done solely to provide high resolution on the exact time to failure in the event the devices failed in a short period of time (e.g. on the time-scale of several hours).

The experiment was concluded after 144 hours at temperature due to failure of the

test setup. The heated chuck temperature destabilized and fluctuated wildly after one of the cooling water lines to the chuck's interior thermocouple detached. The equipment was shut off and the sample was immediately brought back to room temperature. The electrical characterization after return to room temperature was not examined because the sample was subjected to thermal cycling and shock while the output power to the chuck was oscillating in an unpredictable manner.

### 4.5.4 Results and Discussion

Figure 4.34 shows device characteristics during heating at  $V_{GS} = 0$  V and  $V_{DS} = 2$  V, respectively. The drain current decreases during heating due to decreased mobility and velocity saturation. The gate leakage current first decreases from 25°C to 200°C, and subsequently increases from 300°C to 470°C. However, ON/OFF ratio remains high with increasing temperature due to decreasing OFF-current. This could be due to decreased surface leakage to the drain as the Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> passivation layer is thermally annealed [160]. This initial device operation during heating was promising; the ON/OFF ratio remains stable and high indicating a good range of bias points available for circuit-level implementation.



Figure 4.34: C-HEMT output (left) and transfer (right) characteristics collected during heating in air from 25°C to 476°C.

The device output and transfer curves collected at 476°C at multiple time points over the duration of the experiment are displayed in Figure 4.35. During the first 48 hours, the device performance suffers the most degradation. After this point, the device operation is stable. Figure 4.36 shows extracted device parameters of interest versus the time at temperature. A substantial shift in the ON/OFF ratio and OFF-current occurs in the first 6 hours. Interestingly, the trend from that point onward is the opposite of what is expected: the ON/OFF ratio improves over the course of the experiment and the OFFcurrent continually decreases. Decrease in the gate leakage, which is also contrary to the behavior normally exhibited by C-HEMTs at high temperature, indicates that the Mo/Au Schottky barrier may be improving with time at temperature. The small shift in threshold voltage is explained by the small decrease in the drain saturation current seen in Figure 4.35. Because the saturation and cut-off characteristics of the device remain largely stable past the first few hours at temperature, the device may benefit from an intentional burn-in process in the future in order to precipitate the most severe shift in characteristics under supervised conditions prior to subsequent high-temperature operation with more stability.



Figure 4.35: Select C-HEMT output (left) and transfer (right) characteristics collected at 476°C in air at various time points during the experiment.

### 4.5.5 Conclusions

These results demonstrate the DC operation of an InAlN/GaN C-HEMT at a very high temperature of 476°C, which is close to Venus' surface temperature, in oxidizing air ambient for an extended duration of 6 days. This experiment highlight the robustness of the selected device stack, which included Mo/Au Schottky gate contact, ALD Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> passivation, and circular geometry. We believe this is the most rigorous high-temperature demonstration the InAlN/GaN HEMT operation at high temperature since Maiar *et al.* [34]. Additionally, this experiment was carried out in oxidizing air ambient instead of vacuum, which puts more



Figure 4.36: Extracted C-HEMT device parameters versus time at 476°C in air over the course of the experiment.

stress on the device. The survival of the device at these thermal conditions without any cooling measures is very promising toward the development of uncooled microelectronics for Venus surface missions. The experiment concluded prematurely due to failure of the heated chuck cooling system, and there is no reason to indicate the device could not have continued at temperature had this not occurred. The logical next step in testing the reliability of this device technology is repeating the experiment not just at Venus temperatures but at Venus pressure and atmosphere composition. That experiment is described in Section 5.5.

### Chapter 5

## HEMTs Operating Under Venus Surface Conditions

### 5.1 Overview

This chapter will focus on a series of experiments testing GaN heterostructure microelectronic devices under experimentally simulated Venus surface temperature, pressure, and atmospheric chemical composition. First, the results and insights gleaned from a 10-day passive exposure experiment conducted on several GaN 2DEG device architectures including HEMTs, Hall-effect sensors, and UV photodetectors will be discussed. This work was previously presented and published in the proceedings of the IEEE Aerospace Conference 2021 [11] © 2011 IEEE. This chapter then covers the design and build of a custom Venus simulation chamber equipped for *in situ* device characterization, and the passive testing of an Ir-gated C-HEMT in the chamber. The results demonstrating the operation of an InAlN/GaN C-HEMT *in situ* the custom chamber for up to 5 days and 21 hours are then presented. The final section of this chapter will outline the packaging and integration of an InAlN/GaN C-HEMT in preparation for future *in situ* testing within the NASA GEER chamber, which is a high fidelity replication of the Venus surface environment.

### 5.2 10-Day Venus Exposure Testing of GaN Microelectronics

This section describes the first assessment of the electrical integrity of GaN-based devices subject to Venus surface atmospheric conditions ( $\approx 460^{\circ}$ C,  $\approx 92$  bar, corrosive supercritical

 $CO_2$ ). Three unique device architectures were fabricated at the Stanford Nanofabrication Facility and exposed in a Venus simulation chamber for 244 hours (>10 days) at the University of Arkansas Center for Space and Planetary Sciences. The three device architectures tested were InAlN/GaN high electron mobility transistors (HEMTs), InAlN/GaN Halleffect sensors, and AlGaN/GaN UV photodetectors, which all have potential applications in the collection and readout of sensor data from Venusian landers.

### 5.2.1 Motivation

The device types characterized in this exposure study were chosen due to their potential sensing and telecommunication applications on board a Venus lander. GaN HEMT devices can be used for pressure, chemical, and IR sensing [161–165]. Additionally, HEMTs have applications in read-out and transmission of sensor data to orbiters. Hall-effect sensors are often used for detecting the position and speed of rotating components (e.g., gears, motors) aboard a spacecraft, as well as monitoring the reliability of other on-board electronics via non-invasive current sensing. Ultraviolet (UV) photodetectors have applications in radiative heating characterization during atmospheric entry. This data can be used to improve thermal protection systems (TPS) on future Venus surface landers. Furthermore, these three GaN heterostructure device architectures have compatible fabrication flows, which would allow for monolithic integration of uncooled sensors with signal readout and transmission. Future maturation of this technology could substantially lower mission weight and cost by reducing packaging and shielding requirements.

### 5.2.2 Microfabrication

The HEMT devices were fabricated at the Stanford Nanofabrication Facility on an indium aluminum nitride  $(In_{0.18}Al_{0.82}N)/GaN$ -on-silicon wafer grown via MOCVD (Table 3.1. A 3D cross-sectional diagram of the devices and heterostructures are shown in Figure 5.1. HEMT active regions were isolated through a BCl<sub>3</sub>/Cl<sub>2</sub> ICP RIE process. Ti/Al/Mo/Au (10/200/40/80 nm) ohmic contacts were e-beam evaporated, patterned via lift-off process, and rapid thermal annealed at 850°C for 35 seconds in N<sub>2</sub>. Iridium (15 nm) was evaporated and patterned as the Schottky contact, followed by Ti/Au (20/200 nm) bond metal evaporation and patterning. The Ir gate metal was oxidized at 300°C for 5 minutes in O<sub>2</sub> via RTA to form IrO<sub>x</sub>. The use of IrO<sub>x</sub> gates on GaN HEMTs has been reported to reduce leakage currents compared to as-deposited Ir gates, and high-temperature operation has
been demonstrated [166–168]. The HEMT gate length was 5  $\mu$ m, centered in a 20- $\mu$ m-long by 100- $\mu$ m-wide 2DEG channel.

The Hall-effect sensors were fabricated simultaneously on the same InAlN/GaN-on-Si wafer as the HEMT devices and underwent the same isolation and ohmic metal evaporation, lift-off, and anneal processes. The sensors were diced and removed from the fabrication run prior to the high-temperature oxidation anneal required for IrO<sub>x</sub> formation on the HEMTs. A subset of the Hall-effect die was passivated with  $\approx 20$  nm of aluminum oxide  $(Al_2O_3)$  deposited through ALD. Vias were wet chemically etched to expose the underlying ohmic contacts. Both passivated and unpassivated devices were then patterned with Ti/Au evaporated metal bond pads. A schematic of the passivated devices is shown in Figure 5.1. Hall-effect sensor mesas are octagonal and 100  $\mu$ m in width. Two of the sensors exposed in the Venus chamber (one unpassivated, one passivated) were regular octagons fabricated with contacts of equal length to the non-contacted sides of the mesa. The length of each side of these devices is 41.4  $\mu$ m. One unpassivated irregular octagonal sensor with pointlike contacts was also exposed. In this device, the length of sides without contacts is 5.66 times greater than the sides with contacts, which are 11.1  $\mu$ m long. The difference in Halleffect device geometries and corresponding effects on sensitivity are reported in detail in earlier work [169]. The sensitivity trends between the three devices in this experiment are consistent with the authors' prior work showing devices with point-like contacts have the highest current-related sensitivity and devices with equal sides have the highest voltagerelated sensitivity [169].

The GaN heterostructure UV photodetectors were fabricated on an MOCVD-grown aluminum gallium nitride (Al0.25Ga0.75N)/GaN-on-silicon wafer purchased from DOWA, Inc. The cross-sectional device and heterostructure schematic is shown in Figure 5.1. The epitaxial stack consists of a 1.5  $\mu$ m buffer structure on Si (111) followed by a 1.2  $\mu$ m GaN layer, 1-nm-thick AlN spacer, 30-nm-thick AlGaN barrier layer and 1-nm-thick GaN cap. Similar to the HEMT/Hall-effect process, the photodetector microfabrication consisted of a BCl<sub>3</sub>/Cl<sub>2</sub> mesa isolation etch to define the AlGaN fingers. The result is an array of 2DEG interdigitated transducers (IDTs). Ti/Al/Pt/Au ohmic metallization (20/100/40/80 nm) was evaporated, patterned via lift-off, and annealed for 35 s at 850°C in N<sub>2</sub> atmosphere. It should be noted that the photodetector devices utilize a Pt barrier layer in the ohmic metallization stack, while the HEMT and Hall-effect sensors have a Mo barrier layer.



Figure 5.1: Cross-sectional schematic of the InAlN/GaN HEMTs (a), InAlN/GaN Halleffect sensors (b), and AlGaN/GaN UV photodetectors (c) exposed to the Venus-simulant environment. Interfaces where the 2DEG is present are represented by white dashed line [11] © 2021 IEEE.

#### 5.2.3 Experimental Methods

The HEMTs were characterized in air on a Signatone Inc. probe station equipped with a heated chuck. Current-voltage  $(I_D - V_{DS}, I_D - V_{GS}, I_G - V_{GS})$  measurements were taken on a semiconductor parameter analyzer (Agilent Technologies B1500A). Using this setup, the HEMT devices were characterized at room temperature before and after the Venus simulation chamber exposure. Additionally, circular transmission line measurements (CTLM) of the ohmic contacts were taken. To compare the effects of the high-temperature supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> environment with high-temperature air exposure, a virgin 1  $\mu$ m gatelength HEMT was characterized from room temperature to 600°C in air. In this experiment, the heated chuck was ramped from 25°C to 600°C in 100°C increments. The chuck was held at each temperature for 10 minutes before device data was acquired. After cooling back down to 25°C, the device was measured again.

The Hall-effect sensors were wire-bonded to a PCB and tested within a tunable 3D Helmholtz coil in an experimental setup described elsewhere [170]. Hall voltage measurements were conducted at room temperature. Current was sent across the device between two opposing contacts via a sourcemeter (Keithley 2400) and the resulting Hall voltage was measured across the other set of contacts using a multimeter (Agilent 34410A). The current-spinning technique described in [169] was employed to reduce the offset voltage. A switching matrix (U2715A) alternated measurement of the eight phases. The sensors and

coil were contained within MuMetal magnetic field shielding cannisters. The Hall-effect sensors were tested under a magnetic field of 2 mT and biased with current ranging from 60 uA to 0.9 mA. Additionally, measurements of mobility, sheet resistance, and 2DEG sheet density were taken of the samples that had been exposed to the Venus-analogue environment, as well as equivalent virgin samples, using the Lakeshore 8404 Hall measurement tool.

Six UV photodetectors were illuminated with 365 nm UV light at the open-air probe station and the photocurrent was measured on the semiconductor parameter analyzer. The photocurrent measurements were taken at room temperature.

The GaN-on-silicon die were mounted onto an alumina substrate for loading into the chamber. In order to attach the die, a thick-film gold layer (3066/3068N wire-bondable Au Conductors, Ferro Corporation) was screen printed on 98% alumina substrate (CoorsTek Inc.). After the firing process, 8835 gold cermet conductor (ESL 8835 (520C) 9802A, Electro-science Laboratories) was screen printed on the alumina substrate. Fabricated chips were attached to the printed gold paste followed by a 4-bar pressure to remove the air traps [108].

Venus surface atmospheric conditions were simulated within a 500 mL capacity stainless steel pressure vessel (Supplier: Parr Instruments) at the University of Arkansas Center for Space and Planetary Science. The vessel, referred to as the Venus simulation chamber throughout this section, is equipped with an internal thermocouple and exterior heating sleeve. As the chamber is heated, chamber pressure increases correspondingly. In this experiment, the chamber was pumped down to 37 mbar at room temperature and flushed with  $CO_2$  at  $\approx 4$  bar to remove residual gas in the chamber. More  $CO_2$  was introduced into the chamber until the desired starting pressure, calculated using the ideal gas law, was reached. The chamber was sealed and the heating sleeve was set. The chamber took  $\approx 45$ minutes to reach the temperature setpoint of  $460^{\circ}$ C and shortly afterwards the pressure stabilized to  $\approx 96$  bar. Under these conditions, the  $CO_2$  is in a supercritical state. During the 244-hour run, the temperature and pressure were monitored and remained stable at  $460^{\circ}$ C  $\pm 0.5\%$  and 96 bar  $\pm 2\%$ .

After the run was complete, the heating sleeve was turned off and the hot gas was vented. The chamber was pumped down to 30 mbar and flushed with N<sub>2</sub> at  $\approx$ 4 bar to remove any residual CO<sub>2</sub>. The chamber was filled with  $\approx$ 41 psi N<sub>2</sub> and the samples were retrieved from inside the chamber once the temperature reached 23°C. It should be noted

that  $N_2$  and trace constituents of the Venus atmosphere were not included in the chamber during the exposure test.

#### 5.2.4 Results and Discussion

#### HEMT

Figure 5.2 shows optical microscope images of the HEMT before and after exposure. In Chapter 2 several commonly reported high temperature degradation mechanisms involving the GaN HEMT contact metallization reported were discussed. After 10-day exposure in the Venus chamber, the ohmic contacts and bond pads on the HEMT were drastically darker. Color changes across the surface indicate lateral metal interdiffusion. The brown, purplish color on the gold bond pads is indicative of the formation of Au-Al intermetallic compounds. Au-Al compound formation (referred to as "purple plague") can lead to voiding and localized areas of high resistance across the contact. Despite the appearance of the bond pads, TLM measurements show the specific contact resistivity remained on the same order of magnitude  $(2.2 \times 10^{-5} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2)$  before exposure and  $3.7 \times 10^{-5} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$  after exposure). This indicates that the Mo layer was an effective Al-Au diffusion barrier in the ohmic metallization region not overlapping with the bond pad.



Figure 5.2: Optical image of the microfabricated HEMT before (left) and after (right) the 10-day simulated Venus exposure  $[11] \odot 2021$  IEEE.

The DC output characteristics  $(I_D - V_{DS})$  and transconductance  $(g_m)$  of the 5  $\mu$ m gatelength HEMT before and after exposure are shown in Figure 5.3. HEMT parameters are reported in Table 5.1. Maximum drain saturation current  $(I_{D,sat})$  and maximum transconductance  $(g_{m,max})$  both increased after Venus chamber exposure. This behavior is attributed

to thermal detrapping in the InAlN/GaN heterostructure. While trapping phenomenon is still not fully understood in InAlN/GaN, thermal treatment has been demonstrated to be effective for detrapping purposes [70]. Moreover, it is possible that supercritical  $CO_2$ , which can penetrate deeply into the GaN heterostructure, could be interacting with residual gases in the chamber to anneal defects in the lattice [171, 172]. However, drain current relaxation back towards pre-exposure values became more pronounced as the negative gate voltage was increased in the test routine post exposure (Figure 5.3). During  $I_D - V_{DS}$  measurements,  $V_{GS}$  was stepped from 0 V to -3 V sequentially. The percent change from the pre-exposure drain current was +32% for  $V_{GS} = 0$  V, but only +25% for  $V_{GS} = -1$  V. The trend of decreasing percent change in drain current continues with further negative applied gate voltage. This drain current relaxation can be explained by the accumulation of negative charge trapped on defects induced by gate voltage steps [173]. In other words, the Venus chamber exposure likely led to detrapping or defect annealing in the lattice, causing a brief increase in drain current that was counteracted by re-trapping as the device was electrically characterized post-exposure. In the future, characterization of the trap states in the In-AlN/GaN HEMTs before and after exposure could be accomplished by deep level transient spectroscopy (DLTS).

Parameter	$\mathbf{Symbol}$	$\mathbf{Unit}$	Before Exposure	After Exposure
Saturation Current	$I_{D,sat}$	A/mm	0.20	0.26
Off Current	$I_{D,off}$	A/mm	$3.92 \times 10^{-9}$	$5.35 \times 10^{-9}$
On/Off Ratio	$I_{D,on}/I_{D,off}$	_	$3.36  imes 10^7$	$3.28 \times 10^7$
Threshold Voltage	$V_{Th}$	V	-3.18	-3.22
Subthreshold Swing	$\mathbf{SS}$	$\mathrm{mV/dec}$	89	90

Table 5.1: HEMT electrical parameters before and after exposure in the Venus chamber.

Figure 5.3 illustrates  $I_D - V_{DS}$  and  $I_D - V_{GS}$  before and after exposure. The extracted OFF-current  $(I_{D,off})$  and ON/OFF ratio  $(I_{D,on}/I_{D,off})$  before and after exposure are comparable and on the order of  $10^{-9}$  A/mm and  $10^7$ , respectively (Figure 5.1). The gate leakage current  $(I_G)$  of the HEMT remains on the same order of magnitude after exposure (Fig. 5.1), while the drain current exhibits the small increase explained above (Figure 5.3). The threshold voltage  $(V_{Th})$  of the HEMT is extrapolated in the linear regime (Table 5.1).  $V_{Th}$  was reduced by only  $\approx 1.1\%$  after exposure, further proof of the high thermal stability of the gate after subjection to Venus surface conditions. An Auger electron spectroscopy (AES) depth profile over the gate confirms that the composition remains IrO<sub>x</sub> and the gate has



Figure 5.3:  $I_D - V_{DS}$  (a), transconductance (b),  $I_D - V_{GS}$  (c), and  $I_G - V_{GS}$  (d) of the 5  $\mu$ m gate-length HEMT before and after exposure in the Venus chamber [11] © 2021 IEEE.

not sunk down into the underlying substrate (Figure 5.4).

The transfer characteristics  $I_D - V_{DS}$  and  $I_D - V_{GS}$  of the virgin 1 µm gate-length HEMT characterized at high-temperature in air (as described under Experimental Methods) are displayed in Figure 5.5. When the temperature was increased to 300°C and 400°C, measurements show the occurrence of current collapse, which is consistent with the presence of deep traps in the HEMT [173]. The decrease in drain current with increasing temperature is expected and due to increased carrier scattering at elevated temperatures. However, permanent degradation of HEMT performance upon cooling back down to 25°C is also observed.  $V_{Th}$  is shifted by nearly +1 V and maximum drain saturation current is reduced substantially (Figure 5.6). The non-recoverability of HEMT characteristics after only short-term (10 minutes at each temperature point) high-temperature exposure is



Figure 5.4: Post-exposure Auger depth profile over the  $\rm IrO_x$  gate on the InAlN/GaN HEMT [11]  $\odot$  2021 IEEE.

attributed to oxidation reactions in air. Instability of the  $IrO_x$  gate in air is thought the be the cause of the degraded device performance because ungated InAlN/GaN Hall-effect sensors from the same fabrication run exhibited near full recoverability of 2DEG properties after multiple thermal cycles up to 576°C and back in air [4]. These data highlight the need for careful consideration of the atmosphere (e.g. supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> vs. air) of the intended high-temperature application of unpassivated HEMT devices.



Figure 5.5:  $I_D - V_{DS}$  (a) and  $I_D - V_{GS}$  (b) of the virgin 1  $\mu$ m gate-length HEMT characterized at high-temperature in air [11]  $\bigcirc$  2021 IEEE.



Figure 5.6: Voltage-related versus current-related sensitivity for the three Hall-effect sensors before and after exposure  $[11] \odot 2021$  IEEE.

#### Hall-effect Sensors

Table 5.2 summarizes the 2DEG properties of InAlN/GaN Hall-effect sensors post-exposure as well as the properties of equivalent virgin devices. The differences in mobility, sheet carrier density, and sheet resistance between the virgin and exposed samples are within the tolerances of die-to-die variation and measurement setup limitations, suggesting that the 2DEG remained largely unaffected by prolonged exposure to Venus surface atmospheric conditions.

Sample	$R_{SH}~(\Omega/\Box)$	$m{\mu}~(cm^2/V{\cdot}s)$	$n_{s} \ (cm^{-2})$
Unpassivated, Virgin	272	1124	$2.03 \times 10^{13}$
Unpassivated, Post-Exposure	302	1076	$1.92 \times 10^{13}$
Passivated, Virgin	252	1031	$2.41\times10^{13}$
Passivated, Post-Exposure	248	1026	$2.45\times10^{13}$

Table 5.2: Virgin and post-exposure Hall-effect sensor 2DEG properties.

The current-scaled and voltage-scaled sensitivities of the three InAlN/GaN Hall-effect sensors before and after exposure are shown in Figure 5.6. Table 5.3 and Table 5.4 report their average current-related and voltage-related sensitivities and the corresponding percent change, correspondingly. The current-scaled sensitivity increased in all three devices after exposure, with the largest increase of 11.4% seen in the unpassivated device with contacts equal in length to the non-contacted sides. The increase in current-scaled sensitivity, which is inversely proportional to sheet carrier density (Equation 3.4), indicates a small, permanent

decrease in  $n_s$  in both the passivated and unpassivated sensors after long-term exposure to the simulated Venus environment.

Device	$S_{i,pre}~({ m V/V/T})$	$S_{i,post}~({ m V/V/T})$	$\%$ change $S_i$
Unpassivated, Equal Sides	24.1	26.9	+11.4
Unpassivated, Point-like	34.9	37.6	+7.6
Passivated, Equal Sides	20.9	21.9	+5.0

Table 5.3: Current-related sensitivities of the Hall-effect sensors before and after exposure.

Device	$S_{v,pre}~({ m V/A/T})$	$S_{v,post}~({ m V/A/T})$	$\%$ change $S_v$
Unpassivated, Equal Sides	0.0552	0.0542	-1.7
Unpassivated, Point-like	0.0377	0.0385	+2.2
Passivated, Equal Sides	0.0521	0.0487	-6.6

Table 5.4: Voltage-related sensitivities of the Hall-effect sensors before and after exposure.

The small fluctuations in voltage-scaled sensitivity before and after exposure in both unpassivated Hall-effect sensors (equal-sided device: -1.7%; point-like contacts: +2.2%) are within the measurement limitations of the test setup (Table 5.3). However, the decrease in voltage-scaled sensitivity of the passivated device is larger (-6.6%), consistent with a small decrease in the device mobility after exposure (Equation 3.5). Though the InAlN/GaN heterostructure is lattice matched and therefore not prone to mechanical strain, the addition of an Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> passivation layer adds tensile stress to the system [174]. High-temperature strain relaxation likely accounts for the decrease in mobility due to increased dislocation scattering, although further studies are needed to study the effects of supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> on ALD Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>.

#### **UV** Photodetectors

Figure 5.7 shows the photocurrent of the AlGaN/GaN UV photodetectors before and after simulated Venus chamber exposure. The photocurrent across the devices decreased by  $38\pm2.9\%$  on average after exposure. As an experimental setup control measure, a virgin photodetector die was tested simultaneously as the exposed die. The photocurrent of the four virgin photodetectors averaged only 1.47% less than the photocurrent of the six detectors prior to Venus exposure. This small difference in average photocurrent is due to die-to-die variation, indicating that the decrease in photocurrent of the detectors after exposure is indeed real and not an artifact of changes in the test setup.

The decrease in photocurrent post-exposure can be attributed to strain relaxation in



Figure 5.7: Photocurrent reponse of the 6 UV photodetectors under 365 nm illumination before and after Venus chamber exposure [11] C 2021 IEEE.

the AlGaN/GaN heterostructure. It is well established that mechanical stress in the Al-GaN/GaN structure significantly influences the 2DEG carrier concentration and mobility. High-temperature induced strain relaxation can produce dislocations and cracks, which in turn reduce the 2DEG mobility via increased scattering [160, 175–178]. Decrease in 2DEG sheet carrier density, and the subsequent increase in sheet resistance, can explain the decrease in photocurrent after exposure.



Figure 5.8: SEM image of UV photodetector after exposure in the Venus chamber. Contact with Al wire bond bump is shown on the right [11]  $\bigcirc$  2021 IEEE.

Another possible explanation for the decrease in photocurrent is degradation of the ohmic contact metallization. Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) images of the UV photodetectors after exposure in the Venus chamber show a halo of diffused metal surrounding the contacts and bleeding into the 2DEG IDT region (Figure 5.8). Lateral diffused metal could be acting as a reflection coating over the IDTs, thereby reducing photocurrent. Alternatively, if vertical diffusion occurred as well as lateral diffusion, the migrated metal could be degrading the 2DEG mobility through impurity scattering. Moreover, the SEM images reveal substantial morphological differences between the ohmic contacts with and without residual Al wire bond bumps. Changes to the surface morphology are consistent with a non-uniform contact-barrier layer interface, which can cause localized increased contact resistance and decrease the effective photocurrent readout. Future characterization of Ti/Al/Pt/Au CTLM structures can determine if the specific contact resistivity is increased after extended Venus surface atmospheric condition exposure.

#### 5.2.5 Conclusions

In this study, we have characterized three unique GaN heterostructure device architectures before and after 10 days of exposure to simulated Venus atmospheric conditions of  $465^{\circ}$ C,  $\approx 96$  bar, and supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> ambient. After exposure, HEMT threshold voltage had shifted only  $\approx 1\%$  and gate leakage current remained on the same order of magnitude, demonstrating stability of the  $IrO_x$  gate under supercritical  $CO_2$  ambient. Increases in HEMT drain saturation current post-exposure are attributed to thermal detrapping, while subsequent drain relaxation under bias conditions is due to trapping. The stability of the threshold voltage, gate leakage current, and on/off ratio in the InAlN/Gan HEMTs make these devices excellent candidates for Venus lander missions. It was found that 2DEG properties of InAlN/GaN Hall-effect sensors were not significantly altered after Venus chamber exposure compared to virgin devices. Furthermore, the Hall-effect sensors exhibited a maximum average shift of +11.4% in current-scaled sensitivity and -6.6% in voltage-scaled sensitivity, suggesting near full recovery of sensing performance after the Venus environment exposure. However, the AlGaN/GaN UV photodetectors suffered a large decrease in photocurrent of  $\approx 38\%$  after the exposure, which is thought to be due to strain relaxation or degradation of the ohmic contact metallization. The stability of the InAlN/GaN HEMTs and Hall-effect sensors after 10-day exposure to a simulated Venus surface environment makes these devices attractive candidates for deployment on future Venus lander missions.

as well as in other harsh environments such as CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration and storage. Diminished photocurrent in the AlGaN/GaN UV photodetector after simulated Venus exposure requires further analysis to determine if the strain-dependence of the 2DEG properties precludes this class of devices from prolonged Venus surface operation. This study indicates Ti/Al/Mo/Au is a reliable ohmic contact to GaN-based devices for extreme environment operation, while Ti/Al/Pt/Au is questionable.

### 5.3 Venus Simulation Chamber Setup

#### 5.3.1 Motivation

In order to simulate the environmental conditions on the surface of Venus in the laboratory, a custom pressure vessel, referred to as the XLab Venus simulation chamber, was designed and set up. The chamber is similar to the Venus simulation chamber at the University of Arkansas Center for Space and Planetary Sciences used for the exposure experiment described in the previous Section 5.2. The chamber at the University of Arkansas was not equipped with electrical feedthroughs to enable *in situ* measurements, while an electrical feedthrough assembly and automated measurement system were implemented on the XLab Venus simulation chamber to achieve this capability.

#### 5.3.2 Pressure Vessel

The XLab Venus simulation chamber is a modified non-stirred, fixed head pressure vessel purchased from Parr Instrument Company (Model N4760HT). The cylindrical chamber body has a 2.5" inner diameter and 6.0" inside depth. The chamber capacity is 450 mL and the maximum allowable working pressure (MAWP) rating is 2000 psi at 500°C. The chamber head, cylindrical body, internal wetted parts, and external valves and fittings are constructed of T316 stainless steel. The head of the chamber is equipped with a needle valve and pressure gage affixed on top of a gage adapter, a safety rupture disc of Alloy 600 rated to 2000 psi at temperature, thermowell with a Type J thermocouple, and two 1/4" National Pipe Taper Fuel (NPTF) style adapters with custom cooling sleeves. The head also has an additional valve to allow the introduction of a second gas into the chamber. Figure 5.9 shows 3D renderings of the pressure vessel.

The chamber head is fixed on a bench top stand within a fume hood. The head and



Figure 5.9: 3D rendering of the XLab Venus chamber from Parr Instruments. Views of the chamber from the front (a), right (b), back (c), left (d) and the chamber's front cross-section (ed), tilted cross-section (f), fixed head bottom (g) and fixed head top (h). Diagrams rendered by Parr Instruments.

the cylindrical body where the device under test (DUT) is situated are mechanically held together by a split ring closure with bolts that are torqued to  $\approx 35$  ft/lb each prior to pressurization. A flexible Grafoil gasket situated within a groove in the head where it mates with the body maintains the seal. Also attached to the bench top stand is a ceramic heating sleeve that can be raised and lowered as required. During heating, the sleeve is raised up to encase the vessel body. The interior temperature of the vessel is set by a PID temperature controller that digitally monitors the thermocouple reading and adjusts the power to the ceramic sleeve accordingly. The temperature controller also includes a pressure display module with transducer. The controller is attached to a laptop and the temperature and pressure outputs are recorded up to every minute in real time over the duration of an experiment using the software SpecView. While temperature can be controlled and read out by the temperature controller and SpecView, the pressure can only be read out; there is no mechanism for pressure control on the controller unit. High pressure is achieved through heating; as the temperature inside the chamber rises, the pressure rises with it. The ideal gas law is used to calculate the required initial pressure required at the starting temperature, which was usually between 20°C and 25°C, to achieve the desired experimental pressure at the desired experimental temperature. The standard operating procedure to achieve Venus's surface conditions is as follows:

- 1. Place the sample in the chamber at room temperature.
- 2. Pump the chamber down to vacuum (-14 psi on the gauge).
- 3. Fill the chamber with  $CO_2$  until pressure reaches  $\approx 60$  psi.
- 4. Repeat steps 2-3 five times total to remove the ambient air from the chamber interior.
- 5. Fill the chamber with CO<sub>2</sub> until the desired initial pressure is reached ( $\approx$ 540 psi).
- 6. Set the desired experimental temperature on the cooling sleeve ( $\approx 465^{\circ}$ C)and begin heating.

#### 5.3.3 Equipment

Ancillary equipment to the Venus simulation chamber setup include a vacuum pump, cooling water lines hooked up to the building water supply system, and stainless steel gas lines piped from the fume hood up through the ceiling to the gas cylinder racks in the next room where the  $CO_2$  and  $N_2$  tanks are stored. The cooling water runs to cooling sleeves surrounding the valves on the fixed head in order to keep the pressure bearing seals at lower temperatures than the chamber interior. One of the gas lines has an offshoot line with a valve pointing up into the back of the fume hood to allow for supercritical fluids and gases to be safely vented while still hot.

#### 5.3.4 Electrical Feedthroughs

To allow for the collection of device data *in situ*, a custom modified high density multiple wire feedthrough gland was purchased from Conax Technologies. The feedthrough assembly consists of 4 electrically insulated 20 AWG wires. The wire material is Alumel, which is composed of 95% Ni, 2% Mn, 2% Al, and 1% Si and frequently used as the negative conductor in Type K thermocouples. The wires are electrically insulted by high temperature capable fiberglass and run through a stainless steel tube sitting in a sealing gland



Figure 5.10: External (a) and internal (b) pictures of the XLab Venus Simulation chamber set up in the laboratory.

that can withstand and maintain the high pressure of the Venus chamber. The gland was installed into one of the 1/4" NPTF adapters on the head of the chamber. Cooling water is run through the adapter during high temperature experiments to ensure the integrity of the gland and wire feedthrough. The portions of the wires outside of the Venus simulation chamber and running through the stainless steel tube of the feedthrough are Kapton insulated (red wires in Figure 5.10). Because Kapton is unsuitable for use above 400°C, the portions of the wires inside of the chamber are insulated with high-temperature fiberglass sleeving (black wire portion in Figure 5.10).

#### 5.3.5 Automated Measurement Setup

To start an experiment, the chamber was opened and the DUT was placed inside. For *in situ* or active tests, the die is packaged using the same materials and methods as described in Section 4.5. The auto measurement test setup described in Section 4.5 was used to collect *in situ* device data over the duration of the experiment. The *in situ* test setup in the XLab Venus chamber is identical to the test setup in air with the exception of the type of wire and insulation used. A diagram of the automated measurement setup modified for use in the XLab Venus simulation chamber is shown in Figure 5.11.



Figure 5.11: Block diagram of the automated test setup to collect device data *in situ* the XLab Venus simulation chamber.

# 5.4 4-Day C-HEMT Exposure Testing

#### 5.4.1 Motivation

In order to verify the XLab Venus simulation chamber setup was working properly and the chosen sample packaging could sufficiently survive chamber conditions, a 4-day exposure experiment was conducted on a packaged InAlN/GaN C-HEMT die with Ir/Au gate metallization. Additionally, the experiment served as a valuable preliminary assessment of the reliability of Ir/Au Schottky contact gates to InAlN when subjected to Venus surface conditions.

## 5.4.2 Experimental Methods

A Casper run sample type #3 die was selected for testing (Table 3.3). The die was packaged according to the procedure outlined in Section 3.4. The electrical characteristics of three Ir/Au gated C-HEMTs with  $Al_2O_3$  passivation were collected and compared prior to and

after the exposure, labelled pre-exposure and post-exposure. The gate length of the C-HEMTs is 1 µm and the channel widths were 10, 15, and 20 µm. The environmental conditions inside the chamber during the experiment were 1350 psi and 465°C in sCO<sub>2</sub> ambient. The sample was subjected to these simulated Venusian surface conditions for a duration of 4 days.

#### 5.4.3 Results and Discussion

Optical images of the 3 C-HEMTs and the electrical characteristics of the 20- $\mu$ m channelwidth device are shown in Figure 5.12. The device ohmic contacts in the source and drain region are darker after exposure, indicative of material changes imitated by the hightemperature sCO<sub>2</sub> exposure. Device parameters also shifted post-exposure. The threshold voltage shifted from -4.2 V to -3.8 V (+9.5%), on/off ratio decreased from 6 × 10<sup>5</sup> to 7 × 10<sup>4</sup>, and the drain saturation cu rent decreased from 53 mA to 37 mA (-30%). The post-exposure values are consistent with the occurrence of degradation mechanisms such as gate sinking and reduced 2DEG density; however, even the post-exposure values remain suitably high compared to state-of-the-art values.

#### 5.4.4 Conclusions

The results are a further demonstration that InAlN/GaN C-HEMTs can survive within harsh sCO<sub>2</sub> environments such as the Venus atmosphere. The Ir/Au multilayer Schottky contact may provide adequate gate control despite the indication of potential gate sinking effects. Further studies are needed to assess the *in situ* performance of devices comprised of this HEMT material stack in order to assess the presence of electrically-activated degradation mechanisms such as electromigration (Section 2.8).



Figure 5.12: Optical images pre-exposure and post-exposure of 3 circular HEMTs (a, b), and  $I_D - V_{DS}$  (c, d) and  $I_D - V_{GS}$  characteristics (e, f) of the 20- $\mu$ m channel-width device before and after 4-day exposure in the XLab Venus simulation chamber.

# 5.5 5-Day Operation of a C-HEMT *in situ* Simulated Venus Surface Conditions

#### 5.5.1 Motivation

After the successful demonstration of Casper Run sample type #5 (Table 3.2 e.g. Mo/Au gate and Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> passivation) operating at Venus temperatures in air for 6 days presented in the previous chapter (Section 4.5), this material and device architecture was selected for testing *in situ* the XLab Venus simulation chamber, which allows for assessment of device performance in sCO<sub>2</sub> ambient.

#### 5.5.2 Experimental Methods

The die packaging was identical to the C-HEMT die packaging in the passive exposure test described in the previous Section 4.5. Further details on the packaging procedure can be found in Section 3.4. Several 5- $\mu$ m gate-length C-HEMTs with channel widths 10, 15, and 20  $\mu$ m were wirebonded in preparation for testing. Because the feedthrough gland into the chamber is limited to 4 wires, only one C-HEMT device was able to be tested in situ. The C-HEMT with the best electrical performance post-wirebonding was chosen. The device channel width was 15  $\mu$ m. The packaged sample was loaded into the chamber and the pins associated with the source, drain, and gate on the C-HEMT package were each attached to a feedthrough wire. The fourth feedthrough wire was not used. The tension in the wires suspended the package within the chamber. The electrical connections and operation of the automated test measurement setup were verified, and the chamber was closed. The standard operating procedure to pressurize the chamber was conducted with ultra high purity 99.999% CO<sub>2</sub> (Section 5.3). The starting temperature and pressure of the chamber were 24°C and 528 psi, respectively. The chamber temperature was slowly ramped up and measurements were taken at 100°C, 200°C, 300°C, and 400°C until the desired test temperature of 465°C was reached. Once this temperature was reach, the automated test measurement setup program was executed to collect data every 15 minutes. Every measurement cycle consisted of two test routines: one sweeping the drain voltage  $(I_D - V_{DS})$  and one sweeping the gate voltage  $(I_D - V_{GS})$ .



Figure 5.13: Temperature and pressure inside of the XLab Venus simulation chamber over the course of the 5-day *in situ* C-HEMT characterization experiment

Over the course of the nearly 6 day experiment, the chamber temperature and pressure, which were recorded every ten minutes and displayed in Figure 5.13, averaged 464.9°C and 1348 psi, respectively. The drop in pressure from a maximum of 1424 psi to a minimum of 1277 psi indicates that the chamber had a slow leak. Previous chamber leaks experienced

during initia testing originated from one of the valves fitted into the chamber head and not from the grafoil gasket sealing the chamber body shut. Because the C-HEMT devices do not possess a cavity, the variation in pressure is largely irrelevant to the experiment; the goal was to simulate the conditions that render  $CO_2$  supercritical on Venus and the average pressure was very close to the 1350 psi found on Venus.



Figure 5.14: Optical image of the packaged sample inside the chamber with loose pin after 8.5 hours (left). Image of the device's source wirebond after 5 days 21 hours with pads labelled (right).



Figure 5.15: Electrical measurements taken at at 25°C initially (red) and at the 8.5 hour (black) and 5 day 21 hour marks (blue). Solid blue lines represent measurements taken touching the probes down on the device wirebonding pads; dashed blue lines represent measurements taken touching the probes down on the package wirebonding pads.

After 8.5 hours, the device appeared to have suffered electrical failure in the Venus

chamber. The drain current was extremely small and there was no gate control. The chamber was cooled down to room temperature and vented. Upon opening the chamber, it was apparent that one of the male pin connectors on the sample package had come loose from the female pin connector attached to the feedthrough wire. The loose pin was photographed and is shown in Figure 5.14. The disconnection was likely due to thermal relaxation of the feedthrough wires during Venus chamber exposure causing the tension in the wires, which were supporting the sample package, to change. After the loose pin was reattached, the device was operational again. At this time we took advantage of the pause in the experiment to collect sample data at room temperature, including optical microscope images and probe station measurements on both the active C-HEMT and a passive C-HEMT. In order to do so, the filter was removed from the top of the package and was not replaced due to the risk of knocking off wirebonds during the filter attachment process. The room temperature measurement on the active device collected on the probe station is shown in black in Figure 5.15. The sample was placed back into the chamber and hooked up to the feedthrough wires again. The chamber was pumped, purged, filled with CO<sub>2</sub>, and brought directly back up to 465°C. The experiment was resumed.

After 5 days and 21 hours (141 hours total), including the first 8.5 hours of operation prior to the loose pin, the device again appeared to permanently fail. Upon cooling to room temperature, the device did not recover. The chamber was opened, and the pin connectors were examined. No obvious fault in the physical test setup could be found. The sample was removed from the chamber and characterized on the probe station. First, the probes were touched down on the gold package pads where the wirebonds terminated. The device electrical characteristics indicated device failure; there was virtually no drain current and complete loss of gate control (dashed blue lines in Figure 5.15). However, when the probes were touching down directly on the device's gold wirebonding pads, the device functioned properly. The device pads and package pads are circled on the image of the sample die in Figure 5.14. The tests conducted when the probes were in direct contact with the device pads are represented by the solid blue lines in Figure 5.15. Further testing revealed that the source wirebond was the cause of the issue, but under the optical microscope the wirebond looked normal and the bonds were verified to be intact by gently tugging on the ends with tweezers. This indicates that the wirebond suffered from a failure that was not externally visible. With no way to electrically contact the device source terminal in situ the chamber without a functioning wirebond, the experiment was concluded despite the continued functional operation of the C-HEMT.

#### 5.5.3 Results and Discussion

The output and transfer characteristics during heating at  $V_{GS} = 0$  V and  $V_{DS} = 2$  V, respectively, are shown in Figure 5.16. The drain current decreases with increasing temperature as expected due to reduced mobility [4]. The gate leakage current first decreases from 25°C to 200°C, and subsequently increases from 300°C to 465°C. The ON/OFF ratio follows the same trend. This phenomenon is indicative of the thermal activation of traps at moderate temperatures as the device stabilizes. In the future, DLTS could be used to confirm this theory. Nonetheless, the device retains good pinch-off and saturation characteristics across the temperature range with an ON/OFF ratio higher than  $1 \times 10^4$  at 465°C.



Figure 5.16: C-HEMT output (left) and transfer( right) characteristics collected during heating in the XLab Venus simulation chamber from 25°C to 465°C.

Figure 5.17 shows the device electrical data measured at 465°C at several time points over the duration of the Venus simulation. The device performance degrades the most substantially during the first 24 hours of the 141 hour experiment, after which point the rate of degradation slows and the device performance is largely stable.

The extracted key device parameters are shown in Figure 5.18, where it is apparent the most severe degradation occurs in the first 12 hours at temperature. The shift in the threshold voltage is due to the decrease in the drain saturation current seen in Figure 5.17. The ON/OFF ratio decreases in magnitude from  $10^4$  to  $10^1$  and the OFF-current increases from  $10^{-6}$  to  $10^{-3}$  A. The ON/OFF ratio decrease can only be partially explained by the



Figure 5.17: Select C-HEMT output (left) and transfer(right) characteristics collected at 465°C at various time points during the Venus simulation.



Figure 5.18: Extracted C-HEMT device parameters versus time at 465°C over the course of the experiment.

decrease in drain saturation current. Because the gate leakage current in the cut-off region experiences minimal increase over the time at temperature, the C-HEMT likely has another leakage path such as through the surface passivation. Alternatively, it is possible that the packaging itself (e.g. the wirebonds, package gold traces, electrical feedthrough wires) is introducing a parasitic pathway that is worsening with time at temperature. Further experimentation is needed, such as implementing four-point measurements, to negate any possible packaging effects on device performance. Still, this initial first demonstration of an InAlN/GaN C-HEMT operating under experimentally simulated Venus surface conditions is promising; the device is operational after nearly 6 days; the drain current remains high and the gate still has control to modulate the 2DEG channel into the cut-off region.



Figure 5.19: Optical images, from left to right: virgin DUT prior to experiment, unbiased device after the experiment, unbiased device with wirebonds after the experiment, and DUT after the experiment.

There were substantial visible discrepancies between C-HEMT devices with and without wirebonds, regardless of whether they were actively tested. The leftmost optical image in Figure 5.19 shows the virgin active C-HEMT prior to wirebonding and exposure to simulated Venus surface conditions. The image second from the left in Figure 5.19 shows a C-HEMT device that was on the sample die and exposed to Venus conditions but not biased. The device's source and drain wirebond pads have changed color from gold to blue, while the ohmic regions not covered by the Ti/Au wirebonding metal appear darkened brown. The gate region not covered by the Ti/Au wirebond metal appears brighter yellow gold in color. That could be due to material changes of the Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> passivaiton layer overlaying the regions not covered in wirebond metal actuation and the refractive index. In the third from the left image in 5.19, a C-HEMT device that was wirebonded but not tested *in situ* due to

the limited number of wires is pictured after the conclusion of the Venus chamber exposure. The appearance of the source and drain wirebond pads differs from the unbiased device that was not wirebonded shown in Figure 5.19 second from the left; the wirebonded device has gold colored ohmic pads. This indicates that the gold wirebond metal is diffusing down onto the ohmic device pads. Finally, the wirebonded device that was actively tested in situ the chamber is pictured after the exposure in the rightmost image in 5.19. The device also has golden source and drain probe pads, similar to the wirebonded but not electrically tested device shown in 5.19 third from the left. These results indicate that gold diffusion, precipitated by the gold wirebond, is occurring regardless of the application of an electrical bias. In other words, the diffusion is activated by the thermal conditions of the chamber and does not require the application of an electric field to move the metal, though it cannot be determined from these top-view images if electromigration effects have led to more severe metal diffusion in the actively tested device. Additionally, the active C-HEMT has several dark brown spots over the circular gate that are not seen on the passive wirebonded device. These spotted regions could be due to electromigration of the Mo/Au gate metal through the passivation layer on top, bubbling of the passivation due to localized self-heating of the gate, or another morphological change. Further material analysis such as SIMS depth profiling or cross-section STEM is needed to further qualify.

#### 5.5.4 Conclusions

This first proof-of-concept experiment demonstrates that InAlN/GaN HEMTs can operate in situ extreme environmental conditions found on Venus. This experiment has pushed the boundary forward and demonstrated survival of this device type for nearly 6 Earth days, which is substantial progress towards the extended Venus surface mission goal of 60 Earth days. It was found that the Mo/Au-gated device improves performance up to 200°C in the chamber, above which the performance degrades. At 465°C, the most substantial shift in device characteristics is experienced in first 12 hours The experiment concluded due to a faulty wirebond and not device failure. Therefore, it is unknown how long the C-HEMT could have continued to operate past the 5 day and 21 hour duration. Additionally, the electrical results and optical microscopy indicate that the reliability of HEMTs for Venus surface exploration may not be limited by any part of the device, but instead limited by the packaging reliability. Advances in high temperature packaging technology, such as improved wirebonding or flip-chip technology, and circuit-level techniques to minimize thermally activated parasitic pathways, would benefit the deployment of InAlN/GaN HEMT technology at high temperatures.

# 5.6 NASA GEER Implementation

#### 5.6.1 Motivation

The NASA Glenn Extreme Environment Rig (GEER) facility is designed to simulate extreme environments, such as the Venusian surface. Previous research conducted at GEER facilities is described in Chapters 1, 2, and 3. Through High Operating Temperature Technology (HOTTech) grants awarded by NASA, this experiment allows for evaluation of technologies in the NASA GRC GEER facility under simulated Venus surface conditions towards demonstrating suitability for a long-lived lander on Venus. A variety of GaN heterostructure microelectronic devices and high-temperature packaging materials will undergo a 10-day passive exposure test inside of the 10-ton pressure vessel of the GEER chamber. Additionally, one InAlN/GaN C-HEMT device will be actively tested in situ during the same experiment. The GEER chamber experiment will be conducted at 470°C, 1350 psi and include the first nine chemical constituents by percentage understood to be in the Venus surface atmosphere listed in Table 1.1. The GEER chamber provides a higher fidelity replication of the Venus atmosphere than the University of Arkansas Venus simulation chamber (Section 5.2) and the XLab Venus simulation chamber (Section 5.3), which only included  $sCO_2$  ambient. This will give valuable further insight into the chemical stability of the InAlN/GaN C-HEMT platform during exposure to the additional atmospheric trace constituents. The GEER chamber experiment for HOTTech devices has been delayed 2.5 years due to COVID-19 disruption to the schedule but is expected to commence in the near future (target: Winter 2023).

#### 5.6.2 Passive Samples

A large quantity and variety of samples have been prepared for passive exposure testing inside GEER. Figure 5.20 shows six die fabricated by XLab members attached to an alumina board with 8835 gold paste to keep the die from moving around or flipping over inside of the GEER chamber. Five of the die are 5 mm x 5 mm InAlN/GaN-on-Si and AlGaN/GaN-on-Si: one Vulcan Run sample type #1, two Vulcan Run sample type #2, one Vulcan run

sample type #3, and one Vulcan Run sample type #4 (Table 3.2). Three of the die have HEMTs on them, and two of the die have Hall-effect sensors on them . Additionally, one 2 mm x 2 mm diamond die with 2-dimensional hole gas (2DHG) Hall-effect sensors and field-effect transistors is on the board [179]. Three III-N resonator samples prepared by collaborators at Jet Propulsion Laboratory, and five high-temperature packages prepared by the University of Arkansas are also included in the test.



Figure 5.20: Image of board with six XLab die prepared for pasive GEER chamber testing.

#### 5.6.3 Active Sample

The active test sample for the GEER chamber experiment is an InAlN/GaN-on-Si die. The chosen die has Ta/Ti/Al/Ni/Au ohmic metallization, IrO<sub>x</sub> Schottky metallization, and no passivation layer. This corresponds to Casper Run sample type #7 in Table 3.3. The die was selected based on the promising results of the 10-day Venus simulation chamber exposure experiment described in Section 5.2 which showed improved post-exposure performance in unpassivated IrO<sub>x</sub>-gated HEMTs. Various C-HEMTs, L-HEMTs, TLM, Schottky diodes, and leakage structures on the die were electrically characterized at 25°C in air using the Signatone probe station. The devices were visually inspected and imaged under an optical microscope. For redundancy, 3 C-HEMTs with  $L_G = 1 \ \mu m$  or 5  $\ \mu m$  and  $L_{CH} = 15 \ \mu m$  or 20  $\ \mu m$  were wirebonded at Stanford for *in situ* testing. Only one of these C-HEMTs will be electrically tested *in situ* GEER chamber due to a limited number of electrical feedthrough connections.

#### 5.6.4 Packaging

The active test sample was packaged for *in situ* testing with assistance from Makel Engineering, Inc (MEI). The packaging is designed to allow the samples to be directly subjected



Figure 5.21: Images from left to right: chip carrier, chip carrier after attaching a test sample, active sample on chip carrier showing wirebond connections 1 and 2, active sample on chip carrier on multi-sensor package showing gold wire (connection 3). Leftmost two images courtesy of MEI. Die shown are 5 mm x 5 mm.



Figure 5.22: Images from left to right: draft schematic of the multi-sensor package design, 3D rendering of the multi-sensor package, the prepared multi-sensor package ready for testing, reference resistor on Stanford package with connections annotated by yellow and red lines. Schematic and 3D rendering courtesy of MEI.

to the full environmental conditions within the chamber and is intended to provide electrical connection only; it does not provide cooling or shielding of any kind. First, the active sample was attached to a 20-mil thick alumina chip carrier with a 4.5 mm die attach pad and gold traces. The sample was attached to the chip carrier using a high temperature aerospace grade inorganic compound epoxy, Aremco 571, and fired at 93°C in an oven to cure. Optical images of the bare chip carrier and a Stanford test sample attached to the chip carrier are shown in Figure 5.21. The chip carrier was attached to a larger 40-mil thick alumina multi-sensor package along with two additional samples on chip carriers fabricated by HOTTech collaborators at Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) and Arizona State University (ASU). A mock-up of the multi-sensor package and a 3D rendered model are shown in Figure 5.22. The dimensions of the final multi-sensor package and the number of gold traces differ from the model. An image of the final prepared muli-sensor package is also shown in Figure 5.22. The three C-HEMT devices were wirebonded from the device bond pads out to the gold traces on the chip carrier, labeled "Connection 1" in Figure 5.21. The gold traces on the chip carrier were also wirebonded out to gold traces on the multisensor package, labeled "Connection 2" in Figure 5.21. The gold traces on the multi-sensor package are affixed with 10-mil gold wires that will be attached to the electrical feedthrough wires running in and out of the GEER chamber for *in situ* device data collection (labeled "Connection 3 in Figure 5.21). In order to calculate the parasitic resistance of the ancillary device packaging (e.g. wirebonds, gold traces, and electrical feedthrough wires), a reference resistor was created by wirebonding between two gold traces on the Stanford chip carrier, which is schematically shown in the rightmost image of Figure 5.22. During the GEER chamber experiment, the resistance will be monitored in situ. This data can be used later to calibrate the DUT data to isolate device measurements from the electrically parasitic packaging. After packaging was completed, the electrical integrity of the multi-level wirebonds (Connections 1 and 2) were verified by I - V measurements.

#### 5.6.5 Automated Measurement Test Setup

A modified version of the auto measurement test setup described in Section 4.5.2 has been developed to collect electrical data on the Stanford, MIT, and ASU samples *in situ* GEER chamber. This modification effort was undertaken with collaborators at MIT. The primary difference between the two setups is that the SPA is swapped for two portable SMU devices. The parameter sweep values for the SMUs are designated in the PyVISA code, whereas on the SPA used in Section 4.5.2's setup the parameter sweeps were designated at the SPA itself. A block diagram of the setup is shown in Figure 5.23. A depiction of the test routine executed by the setup program is shown in Figure 5.24.

#### 5.6.6 Conclusions

Samples have been prepared for both active and passive testing *in situ* NASA GEER, which is the highest fidelity replication of Venusian surface conditions on Earth. The active sample has been packaged using high-temperature compatible multi-level alumina and gold boards in conjunction with collaborators at MEI. The automated test setup has been modified with help from fellow HOTTech grant recipient research groups at MIT and ASU and



Figure 5.23: Block diagram of the automated measurement test setup developed for *in situ* device characterization at GEER. Diagram courtesy collaborator Mengyang Yuan at MIT.



Figure 5.24: Diagram of the program executed by the Python program written for *in situ* device characterization at GEER. Diagram courtesy collaborator Mengyang Yuan at MIT.

will be used to collect *in situ* data on samples from all three institutions. In addition, a variety of passive samples will be placed in the chamber for exposure testing over the 10-day duration of the experiment. Passive and active samples have been electrically and optically characterized pre-exposure. Data collected *in situ* and post-exposure will be compared to the pre-exposure data. This experiment will be the most rigorous assessment of the viability of GaN heterostructure devices for Venus surface exploration to date.

# Chapter 6

# Conclusions

## 6.1 Thesis Summary

The motivation for this thesis was to develop suitable microelectronic devices that can reliably operate within the extreme environment conditions on the surface of Venus. Currently, the length and scientific agenda of proposed missions to Venus are restricted by the lack of capable electronics that can handle the scalding surface temperature of  $\approx 465^{\circ}$ C, which is above the operating limit of traditional silicon. Long duration missions to the surface of Venus are necessary to increase our understanding of the factors that influence the evolution of potentially habitable planets, such as how Venus and Earth diverged so drastically in their development. Towards this end, I have designed, microfabricated, and tested wide bandgap InAlN/GaN high electron mobility transistors (HEMTs), which can theoretically survive at Venusian temperatures and offer inherent radiation tolerance and chemical inertness. The HEMT device platform has the potential to be leveraged and modified for sensing, telecommunications, and power systems in one monolithically integrated chip to be deployed on-board a Venus surface rover or lander. Yet, key challenges remain to successful deployment of InAlN/GaN HEMTs in high temperature ambient. Towards this end, I have conducted research investigating the impact of device geometry, metallization schemes, and passivation layers on the high temperature operation of InAlN/GaN HEMTs in both oxidizing air and supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> ambient, which is the primary component of the Venusian atmosphere. Promising proof-of-concept experiments demonstrating uncooled In-AlN/GaN heterostructure HEMTs with various metallization and passivation operating in situ simulated Venus surface conditions for long durations have been conducted. The high temperature current transport mechanisms contributing to gate leakage current have been investigated in depth on novel IrO<sub>x</sub> Schottky contacts. The circular device geometry and Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> passivation have been identified as the superior combination for high temperature operation in air up to 600°C. In the first ever demonstration of a GaN heterostructure device operating *in situ* Venus surface conditions, an InAlN/GaN HEMT was successfully operated for 5 days and 21 hours inside of a custom built Venus simulation chamber. The outcome of this experiment is a a 70× improvement in operating length over traditional Si-based devices that lasted  $\approx$ 2 hours on the Venusian surface even with the use of active cooling. Thus, this thesis work compels further maturating the InAlN/GaN HEMT platform for a new class of uncooled device solutions that will not only fulfill the need for suitable Venus microelectronics, but also open up new application spaces for uncooled microelectronics in additional high temperature oxidizing and corrosive ambient applications such as hyperpsonic re-entry systems, carbon capture and storage, and structural health monitoring for wind turbines and aircraft engines.

# 6.2 Key Contributions

The major technical contributions presented in this thesis are the following:

- Investigated the viability of multiple Schottky gate metallization schemes to InAlN for high temperature applications. The supression of leakage current up to 300°C in MoO<sub>3</sub>-gated HEMTs was achieved. The high temperature current conduction in novel intentionally oxidized IrO<sub>x</sub> Schottky contacts to InAlN/GaN was thoroughly analyzed, demonstrating successful operation up to 600°C. Furthermore, extended high temperature operation of Mo/Au-gated devices is demonstrated.
- Identified circular (C-HEMT) geometry and Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> passivation as superior to the standard linear (L-HEMT) geometry and unpassivated barrier layers for high temperature applications in air.
- Designed and implemented a custom Venus simulation chamber in the laboratory, one of only a handful in the world, necessary to enable *in situ* device characterization.

- Characterized the impact of exposure to Venus surface conditions (sCO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere, 465°C, 92 bar) on GaN heterostructure devices. The results suggest the lattice-matched InAlN/GaN heterostructure is unaffected by the exposure while the Al-GaN/GaN heterostructure may suffer from strain relaxation.
- Increased the technology readiness level (TRL) of the InAlN/GaN semiconductor platform from 2 to 5 by demonstrating the successful operation of an InAlN/GaN C-HEMT *in situ* simulated Venus surface conditions for the first time.

# 6.3 Ongoing and Future Work

- NASA GEER Testing: As discussed in Section 5.6, samples have been prepared for passive and active testing at NASA GEER facilities, where they will be exposed in a high-fidelity replication of Venusian surface conditions, including the primary chemical constituents in the atmosphere, for 10 days. The device selected for active electrical characterization over the course of the experiment is an unpassivated IrO<sub>x</sub>-gated C-HEMT. The results of this experiment, which will be the most rigorous investigation of the InAlN/GaN semiconductor platform for Venus surface missions, will give valuable insight into the chemical stability of the selected HEMT device stack. Future work can build upon the findings from the GEER experiment to select or refine the material stack for the next iteration of InAlN/GaN HEMTs as necessary.
- Improve XLab Venus Simulation Chamber Setup: We plan to increase the fidelity of the simulated Venus environment through inclusion of N<sub>2</sub> and trace amounts of SO<sub>2</sub> in the XLab Venus simulation chamber. Outfitting the chamber with another feedthrough gland with more wires would allow for four-point measurement techniques to be implemented during device characterization, which would isolate the device performance from the parasitic resistance of the packaging. The packaging failure associated with the wirebonds prematurely ended the experiment characterizing the C-HEMT *in situ* the chamber, highlighting the need for further experimentation and iteration to determine the optimal sample packaging for use in the Venus chamber.
- Failure Mode and Effects Analysis (FMEA): Detailed material analysis of the various HEMT device stacks microfabricated over the course of this thesis work limited because it was outside of the scope. Instead, the spirit of this research was always

to design and fabricate an InAlN/GaN HEMT that could be demonstrated working under simulated Venus conditions. To this end, well-informed design decisions were made prior to the microfabrication process and iterated upon, and information on the performance of the materials in the stack was gleaned primarily by the electrical characterization. This leaves a lot of room for further materials failure analysis using techniques including but not limited to: SIMS depth profiling the gate and gatemesa overlap region of  $IrO_x$ -gated HEMTs exposed to 600°C ambient (Section 4.3) to determine the oxide species and investigate gate sinking effects, detailed microscopy of the failed wirebond that necessitated the conclusion of the experiment characterizing the C-HEMT *in situ* the XLab Venus simulation chamber (Section 5.6), and XPS, Augur, EDS, and/or XRD to support the SEM analysis and investigate the metal outdiffusion from the ohmic contact and possible strain relaxation on the AlGaN/GaN photodetectors exposed to simulated Venus conditions (Section 5.2).

- High Frequency Operation at High Temperatures: The HEMT electrical characterization described in this thesis is limited to analog DC. High frequency analysis at both room and high temperature is the necessary next step to determine the merits of this device platform for RF applications, which will be necessary for on-board rover telecommunications and in some cases, to amplify and readout sensor data. In Chapter 1 we saw that limited large-signal analysis was performed by Maier *et al.* up to 1000°C in vacuum, which is promising. To achieve high frequency operation, the device geometry will need to be adapted from large-area to scaled gate lengths (submicron regime). This may prove a challenge to reliable high temperature operation because we have learned from this thesis work that the circular device platform is preferred to the linear format for high-temperature operation in oxidizing ambient. Careful and clever design will be necessary to maintain the shape factors that contributed to the success of the C-HEMT geometry such as a minimized gate-mesa overlap region while simultaneously scaling devices down in size.
- Monolithic Circuit Integration: As described in Chapter 1, the InAlN/GaN heterostructure allows for monolithic integration of various device architectures on one chip. In Chapter 3 we saw that multiple lateral device types have already been cofabricated on one chip through this thesis work. In future microfabrication runs, the

mask could be modified to include a simple circuit designed to allow for HEMT readout from another sensor, such as a Hall-effect plate or micro-pressure sensor. The circuit complexity could be further increased in the future. The chip would reap the benefits of uncooled monolithic integration such as reduced footprint and cost savings from co-fabrication. This would be an advantage over traditional heterogenous integration strategies employed for GaN devices that require a silicon ASIC, which cannot be operated in high temperature ambient without cooling.

• Radiation Testing: The circular HEMT geometry lends itself to radiation tolerance, as discussed in Section 3.4. Furthermore, the WBG of the InAlN/GaN heterostructure infers inherent radiation tolerance compared to traditional Si microelectronics. Similarly to the case with high-temperature space applications, radiation-rich space applications would benefit from rad-hard electronics that can function without the need for shielding, which can be bulky and costly. Therefore, it would be intriguing to subject the InAlN/GaN C-HEMT device architecture to single event effect (SEE) or total ionizing dose (TID) radiation testing to investigate its potential for use in other space applications where radiation is a primary cause of microelectronic device failure.

# 6.4 Concluding Remarks

Excitingly, NASA has demonstrated renewed interested in funding dedicated Venus missions in just the last few years. In February 2020, NASA selected two new missions to Venus as part of the Discovery Program. Each mission was awarded approximately \$500 million, and they're both expected to launch in the 2028-2030 timeframe. The DAVINCI+ (Deep Atmosphere Venus Investigation of Noble gases, Chemistry, and Imaging) mission will send both an orbiter and a descent probe to Venus and measure the composition of the atmosphere and take high-resolution images of the surface on the way down, though it is not expected to operate on the surface. The VERITAS mission consists of an orbiting spacecraft equipped with a synthetic aperture radar. VERITAS will chart surface elevations to 3D reconstruct the topography and confirm whether processes such as plate tectonics and volcanism are still active on Venus. While neither of these missions will operate on the surface, they are certainly a step in the right direction towards learning more about our sister planet. NASA's many missions to Mars over the past 70 years, which have included nine orbiters and eight landers or rovers, have shown us that planetary exploration triggers public fascination. It is the hope of this Venus enthusiast that the two upcoming missions to Venus result in similar public interest and prompt the funding of further exploration of Venus, including the surface. Perhaps by the time NASA awards a long-lived Venus surface mission, we will have addressed the microelectronics technology gap with future maturation of uncooled InAlN/GaN high electron mobility transistors. In the meantime, GaN semiconductor technology will continue to revolutionize extreme environment, high power, and high frequency terrestrial and space applications. The future is bright for Venus.
## Bibliography

- D. Lukco, D. Spry, R. Harvey, G. Costa, R. Okojie, A. Avishai, L. Nakley, P. Neudeck, and G. Hunter, "Chemical analysis of materials exposed to Venus temperature and surface atmosphere," *Earth and Space Science*, vol. 5, no. 7, pp. 270–284, 2018.
- [2] K. M. Dowling, Offset and noise behavior of microfabricated aluminum gallium nitride-gallium nitride two-dimensional electron gas hall-effect sensors. Stanford University, 2019.
- [3] C. Chapin, "High temperature and transient behavior of GaN heterostructure based high electron mobility micro-pressure sensors," Ph.D. dissertation, Stanford University, 2018.
- [4] H. Alpert, C. Chapin, K. Dowling, S. Benbrook, H. Köck, U. Ausserlechner, and D. Senesky, "Sensitivity of 2DEG-based Hall-effect sensors at high temperatures," *Review of Scientific Instruments*, vol. 91, no. 2, p. 025003, 2020.
- [5] R. Jackson, "NASA Wants Your Help Designing a Venus Rover Concept," Feb 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.nasa.gov/feature/jpl/ nasa-wants-your-help-designing-a-venus-rover-concept
- [6] D. Maier, M. Alomari, E. Kohn, M.-A. Diforte-Poisson, C. Dua, S. L. Delage, N. Grandjean, J.-F. Carlin, A. Chuvilin, U. Kaiser *et al.*, "High temperature stability of nitride-based power HEMTs," in 18th International Conference on Microwave, Radar, and Wireless Communications. IEEE, 2010, pp. 1–4.
- [7] D. Maier, M. Alomari, N. Grandjean, J.-F. Carlin, M.-A. Diforte-Poisson, C. Dua,
   A. Chuvilin, D. Troadec, C. Gaquière, U. Kaiser *et al.*, "Testing the temperature

limits of GaN-based HEMT devices," *IEEE Transactions on device and materials reliability*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 427–436, 2010.

- [8] J.-P. Ao, N. Kubota, D. Kikuta, Y. Naoi, and Y. Ohno, "Thermal stability investigation of copper-gate AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors," *physica status solidi* (c), no. 7, pp. 2376–2379, 2003.
- [9] D. Selvanathan, L. Zhou, V. Kumar, I. Adesida, and N. Finnegan, "Long-term thermal stability of Ti/Al/Mo/Au ohmic contacts on n-GaN," *Journal of electronic materials*, vol. 32, no. 5, pp. 335–340, 2003.
- [10] D. Lukco, D. J. Spry, P. G. Neudeck, L. M. Nakley, K. G. Phillips, R. S. Okojie, and G. W. Hunter, "Experimental Study of Structural Materials for Prolonged Venus Surface Exploration Missions," *Journal of Spacecraft and Rockets*, vol. 57, no. 6, pp. 1118–1128, 2020.
- [11] S. R. Eisner, H. S. Alpert, C. A. Chapin, A. S. Yalamarthy, P. F. Satterthwaite, A. Nasiri, S. Port, S. Ang, and D. G. Senesky, "Extended Exposure of Gallium Nitride Heterostructure Devices to a Simulated Venus Environment," in 2021 IEEE Aerospace Conference (50100). IEEE, 2021, pp. 1–12.
- [12] M. Gilmore, P. Beauchamp, R. Lynch, and M. Amato, "Venus Flagship Mission Decadal Study Final Report," A Planetary Mission Concept Study Report Presented to the Planetary and Astrobiology Decadal Survey, vol. 8, 2020.
- [13] D. Brown, "Why is NASA neglecting Venus?" Jan 2017. [Online]. Available: https: //www.theatlantic.com/science/archive/2017/01/venus-lost-generation/513479/
- [14] J. Hall, M. Bullock, D. Senske, J. Cutts, and R. Grammier, "Final Report of the Venus Science and Technology Definition Team, Venus Flagship Mission Study," NASA Jet Propulsion Laboratory, 2009.
- [15] R. Herrick, K. Baines, M. Bullock, G. Chin, B. Grimm, W. Kiefer, S. Mackwell, K. Mc-Gouldrick, B. Sharpton, S. Smerkar et al., "Goals, Objectives, and Investigations for Venus Exploration," National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Washington, DC, 2014.

- [16] "Venus Goals, Objectives, and Investigations," Sep 2019. [Online]. Available: https: //www.theatlantic.com/science/archive/2017/01/venus-lost-generation/513479/
- [17] T. Kremic, R. Ghail, M. Gilmore, G. Hunter, W. Kiefer, S. Limaye, M. Pauken, C. Tolbert, and C. Wilson, "Long-duration Venus lander for seismic and atmospheric science," *Planetary and space science*, vol. 190, p. 104961, 2020.
- [18] T. Kremic, G. W. Hunter, and L. Nero, "Long-lived in-situ solar system explorer (LLISSE)," in Venera-D Modelling Workshop, no. GRC-E-DAA-TN53119, 2017.
- [19] M. Gilmore and L. Glaze, "Venus Intrepid Tessera Lander," NASA-GSFC, NASAARC, Presented to the planetary decadal survey steering committee and inner plants panel, 2010.
- [20] "Venus Sample Return Mission studied," Oct 1986. [Online]. Available: https: //www.jpl.nasa.gov/news/venus-sample-return-mission-studied
- [21] D. Valentian, C. Koppel, P. Mairet, and L. Mairet, "Venus sample return mission revisited," *Experimental Astronomy*, pp. 1–20, 2022.
- [22] L. S. Glaze, C. F. Wilson, L. V. Zasova, M. Nakamura, and S. Limaye, "Future of Venus research and exploration," *Space Science Reviews*, vol. 214, no. 5, pp. 1–37, 2018.
- [23] E. Howell, "Here's every successful Venus Mission Humanity has ever launched," Sep 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.space.com/venus-mission-success-history
- [24] "Venus Fact Sheet," Dec 2021. [Online]. Available: https://nssdc.gsfc.nasa.gov/ planetary/factsheet/venusfact.html
- [25] J. Cutts, "Venus Technology Plan," May 2014. [Online]. Available: https: //www.lpi.usra.edu/vexag/documents/reports/Venus-Technology-Plan-140617.pdf
- [26] J. Cutts, "Roadmap for Venus Exploration," 2019. [Online]. Available: https: //www.lpi.usra.edu/vexag/documents/reports/VEXAG\_Venus\_Roadmap\_2019.pdf
- [27] P. G. Neudeck, R. S. Okojie, and L.-Y. Chen, "High-temperature electronics-a role for wide bandgap semiconductors?" *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 90, no. 6, pp. 1065–1076, 2002.

- [28] P. Hazdra and S. Popelka, "Radiation resistance of wide-bandgap semiconductor power transistors," *physica status solidi* (a), vol. 214, no. 4, p. 1600447, 2017.
- [29] S. J. Pearton, E. A. Douglas, R. J. Shul, and F. Ren, "Plasma etching of wide bandgap and ultrawide bandgap semiconductors," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology* A: Vacuum, Surfaces, and Films, vol. 38, no. 2, p. 020802, 2020.
- [30] Y. Sun, X. Kang, Y. Zheng, J. Lu, X. Tian, K. Wei, H. Wu, W. Wang, X. Liu, and G. Zhang, "Review of the recent progress on GaN-based vertical power Schottky barrier diodes (SBDs)," *Electronics*, vol. 8, no. 5, p. 575, 2019.
- [31] J. Cheng, X. Yang, L. Sang, L. Guo, J. Zhang, J. Wang, C. He, L. Zhang, M. Wang, F. Xu *et al.*, "Growth of high quality and uniformity AlGaN/GaN heterostructures on Si substrates using a single AlGaN layer with low Al composition," *Scientific reports*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 1–7, 2016.
- [32] D. Flandre, S. Adriaensen, A. Akheyar, A. Crahay, L. Demeûs, P. Delatte, V. Dessard, B. Iniguez, A. Nève, B. Katschmarskyj *et al.*, "Fully depleted SOI CMOS technology for heterogeneous micropower, high-temperature or RF microsystems," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 541–549, 2001.
- [33] V. Chelnokov and A. Syrkin, "High temperature electronics using SiC: actual situation and unsolved problems," *Materials Science and Engineering: B*, vol. 46, no. 1-3, pp. 248–253, 1997.
- [34] D. Maier, M. Alomari, N. Grandjean, J.-F. Carlin, M.-A. Diforte-Poisson, C. Dua,
  S. Delage, and E. Kohn, "InAlN/GaN HEMTs for Operation in the 1000°C Regime: A First Experiment," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 985–987, 2012.
- [35] P. G. Neudeck, R. D. Meredith, L. Chen, D. J. Spry, L. M. Nakley, and G. W. Hunter, "Prolonged silicon carbide integrated circuit operation in Venus surface atmospheric conditions," *AIP Advances*, vol. 6, no. 12, p. 125119, 2016.
- [36] P. G. Neudeck, L. Chen, R. D. Meredith, D. Lukco, D. J. Spry, L. M. Nakley, and G. W. Hunter, "Operational testing of 4H-SiC JFET ICs for 60 days directly exposed to Venus surface atmospheric conditions," *IEEE Journal of the Electron Devices Society*, vol. 7, pp. 100–110, 2018.

- [37] P. Herfurth, D. Maier, L. Lugani, J.-F. Carlin, R. Rosch, Y. Men, N. Grandjean, and E. Kohn, "Ultrathin Body InAlN/GaN HEMTs for High-Temperature (600°C) Electronics," *IEEE electron device letters*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 496–498, 2013.
- [38] Y. Cai, Z. Cheng, Z. Yang, C. W. Tang, K. M. Lau, and K. J. Chen, "Hightemperature operation of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs direct-coupled FET logic (DCFL) integrated circuits," *IEEE electron device letters*, vol. 28, no. 5, pp. 328–331, 2007.
- [39] A. J. Suria, A. S. Yalamarthy, H. So, and D. G. Senesky, "DC characteristics of ALDgrown Al2O3/AlGaN/GaN MIS-HEMTs and HEMTs at 600°C in air," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 31, no. 11, p. 115017, 2016.
- [40] H. Lu, P. Sandvik, A. Vertiatchikh, J. Tucker, and A. Elasser, "High temperature Hall effect sensors based on Al Ga N/ Ga N heterojunctions," *Journal of applied physics*, vol. 99, no. 11, p. 114510, 2006.
- [41] M. De Vittorio, B. Poti, M. Todaro, M. Frassanito, A. Pomarico, A. Passaseo, M. Lomascolo, and R. Cingolani, "High temperature characterization of GaN-based photodetectors," *Sensors and Actuators A: Physical*, vol. 113, no. 3, pp. 329–333, 2004.
- [42] J. Joh and J. A. del Alamo, "Mechanisms for electrical degradation of GaN highelectron mobility transistors," in 2006 International Electron Devices Meeting. IEEE, 2006, pp. 1–4.
- [43] F. Medjdoub, J. Carlin, C. Gaquiere, N. Grandjean, and E. Kohn, "Status of the emerging InAlN/GaN power HEMT technology," *The Open Electrical & Electronic Engineering Journal*, vol. 2, no. 1, 2008.
- [44] D. Chen, K. Zhang, Y. Tao, X. Wu, J. Xu, R. Zhang, Y. Zheng, and B. Shen, "Temperature-dependent strain relaxation of the AlGaN barrier in AlGaN/ GaN heterostructures with and without Si 3 N 4 surface passivation," *Applied physics letters*, vol. 88, no. 10, p. 102106, 2006.
- [45] J. Kuzmík, "Power electronics on InAlN/(In) GaN: Prospect for a record performance," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 22, no. 11, pp. 510–512, 2001.

- [46] W. Xing, Z. Liu, G. I. Ng, and T. Palacios, "Temperature dependent characteristics of InAlN/GaN HEMTs for mm-Wave applications," *Proceedia Engineering*, vol. 141, pp. 103–107, 2016.
- [47] A. Aminbeidokhti, S. Dimitrijev, J. Han, X. Chen, and X. Xu, "The power law of phonon-limited electron mobility in the 2-D electron gas of AlGaN/GaN heterostructure," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 63, no. 5, pp. 2214–2218, 2016.
- [48] Q. Li, Q. Chen, and J. Chong, "Conduction band fluctuation scattering due to alloy clustering in barrier layers in InAlN/GaN heterostructures," *AIP Advances*, vol. 7, no. 12, p. 125103, 2017.
- [49] I.-T. Lu, J.-J. Zhou, J. Park, and M. Bernardi, "First-principles ionized-impurity scattering and charge transport in doped materials," *Physical Review Materials*, vol. 6, no. 1, p. L010801, 2022.
- [50] A. Qamar, S. R. Eisner, D. G. Senesky, and M. Rais-Zadeh, "Ultra-high-Q gallium nitride SAW resonators for applications with extreme temperature swings," *Journal* of *Microelectromechanical Systems*, vol. 29, no. 5, pp. 900–905, 2020.
- [51] F. Roccaforte, G. Greco, P. Fiorenza, and F. Iucolano, "An overview of normally-off GaN-based high electron mobility transistors," *Materials*, vol. 12, no. 10, p. 1599, 2019.
- [52] J. Kuzmík, S. Bychikhin, D. Pogány, C. Gaquière, and E. Morvan, "Current conduction and saturation mechanism in AlGaN/GaN ungated structures," *Journal of applied physics*, vol. 99, no. 12, p. 123720, 2006.
- [53] S. Turuvekere, N. Karumuri, A. A. Rahman, A. Bhattacharya, A. DasGupta, and N. DasGupta, "Gate leakage mechanisms in AlGaN/GaN and AlInN/GaN HEMTs: comparison and modeling," *IEEE Transactions on electron devices*, vol. 60, no. 10, pp. 3157–3165, 2013.
- [54] T. Hashizume, J. Kotani, and H. Hasegawa, "Leakage mechanism in GaN and AlGaN Schottky interfaces," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 84, no. 24, pp. 4884–4886, 2004.

- [55] D. Mahaveer Sathaiya and S. Karmalkar, "Thermionic trap-assisted tunneling model and its application to leakage current in nitrided oxides and AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors," *Journal of applied physics*, vol. 99, no. 9, p. 093701, 2006.
- [56] D. Yan, H. Lu, D. Cao, D. Chen, R. Zhang, and Y. Zheng, "On the reverse gate leakage current of AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 97, no. 15, p. 153503, 2010.
- [57] Z. Liu, G. Ng, H. Zhou, S. Arulkumaran, and Y. Maung, "Reduced surface leakage current and trapping effects in AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors on silicon with SiN/Al2O3 passivation," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 98, no. 11, p. 113506, 2011.
- [58] O. Seok, W. Ahn, M.-K. Han, and M.-W. Ha, "High on/off current ratio AlGaN/GaN MOS-HEMTs employing RF-sputtered HfO2 gate insulators," *Semiconductor science* and technology, vol. 28, no. 2, p. 025001, 2012.
- [59] T. Sato, J. Okayasu, M. Takikawa, and T.-k. Suzuki, "AlGaN-GaN Metal-Insulator-Semiconductor High-Electron-Mobility Transistors With Very High-k Oxynitride TaOxNy Gate Dielectric," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 375–377, 2013.
- [60] N.-H. Lee, M. Lee, W. Choi, D. Kim, N. Jeon, S. Choi, and K.-S. Seo, "Effects of various surface treatments on gate leakage, subthreshold slope, and current collapse in Al-GaN/GaN high-electron-mobility transistors," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 53, no. 4S, p. 04EF10, 2014.
- [61] X. Lu, H. Jiang, C. Liu, X. Zou, and K. M. Lau, "Off-state leakage current reduction in AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors by combining surface treatment and post-gate annealing," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 31, no. 5, p. 055019, 2016.
- [62] S. Ganguly, J. Verma, Z. Hu, H. G. Xing, and D. Jena, "Performance enhancement of InAlN/GaN HEMTs by KOH surface treatment," *Applied Physics Express*, vol. 7, no. 3, p. 034102, 2014.

- [63] Y.-S. Lin, Y.-W. Lain, and S. S. Hsu, "AlGaN/GaN HEMTs with low leakage current and high on/off current ratio," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 102–104, 2009.
- [64] B. Song, M. Zhu, Z. Hu, M. Qi, K. Nomoto, X. Yan, Y. Cao, D. Jena, and H. G. Xing, "Ultralow-leakage AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors on Si with non-alloyed regrown ohmic contacts," *IEEE electron Device letters*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 16–19, 2015.
- [65] T. Lalinský, G. Vanko, E. Dobročka, J. Osvald, O. Babchenko, J. Dzuba, M. Veselý, L. Vančo, P. Vogrinčič, and A. Vincze, "Ir/Al multilayer gates for high temperature operated AlGaN/GaN HEMTs," *physica status solidi (a)*, vol. 214, no. 12, p. 1700691, 2017.
- [66] R. Wang, P. Saunier, Y. Tang, T. Fang, X. Gao, S. Guo, G. Snider, P. Fay, D. Jena, and H. Xing, "Enhancement-mode InAlN/AlN/GaN HEMTs with 10-12A/mm leakage current and 1012 on/off current ratio," *IEEE electron device letters*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 309–311, 2011.
- [67] Y. Yue, Z. Hu, J. Guo, B. Sensale-Rodriguez, G. Li, R. Wang, F. Faria, T. Fang, B. Song, X. Gao *et al.*, "InAlN/AlN/GaN HEMTs with regrown ohmic contacts and fT of 370 GHz," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 988–990, 2012.
- [68] P.-G. Chen, M. Tang, and M.-H. Lee, "Indium-based ternary barrier high-electronmobility transistors on Si substrate with high ON/OFF ratio for power applications," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 259–261, 2015.
- [69] C. Ostermaier, G. Pozzovivo, B. Basnar, W. Schrenk, M. Schmid, L. Tóth, B. Pécz, J.-F. Carlin, M. Gonschorek, N. Grandjean *et al.*, "Metal-related gate sinking due to interfacial oxygen layer in Ir/InAlN high electron mobility transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 96, no. 26, p. 263515, 2010.
- [70] Y. Wu and J. A. del Alamo, "Electrical degradation of InAlN/GaN HEMTs operating under on conditions," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 63, no. 9, pp. 3487–3492, 2016.

- [71] D. Christy, A. Watanabe, and T. Egawa, "Influence of strain induced by AlN nucleation layer on the electrical properties of AlGaN/GaN heterostructures on Si (111) substrate," *AIP advances*, vol. 4, no. 10, p. 107104, 2014.
- [72] Y. Cordier, R. Comyn, E. Frayssinet, M. Khoury, M. Lesecq, N. Defrance, and J.-C. De Jaeger, "Influence of AlN growth temperature on the electrical properties of buffer layers for GaN HEMTs on silicon," *physica status solidi* (a), vol. 215, no. 9, p. 1700637, 2018.
- [73] J. W. Lee, S. H. Jung, H. Y. Shin, I.-H. Lee, C.-W. Yang, S. H. Lee, and J.-B. Yoo, "Effect of buffer layer on the growth of GaN on Si substrate," *Journal of crystal growth*, vol. 237, pp. 1094–1098, 2002.
- [74] J. Xue, J. Zhang, W. Zhang, L. Li, F. Meng, M. Lu, J. Ning, and Y. Hao, "Effects of AlN interlayer on the transport properties of nearly lattice-matched InAlN/GaN heterostructures grown on sapphire by pulsed metal organic chemical vapor deposition," *Journal of crystal growth*, vol. 343, no. 1, pp. 110–114, 2012.
- [75] D. Koleske, A. Wickenden, R. Henry, and M. Twigg, "Influence of MOVPE growth conditions on carbon and silicon concentrations in GaN," *Journal of crystal growth*, vol. 242, no. 1-2, pp. 55–69, 2002.
- [76] D. Borovac, W. Sun, M. R. Peart, R. Song, J. J. Wierer Jr, and N. Tansu, "Low background doping in AlInN grown on GaN via metalorganic vapor phase epitaxy," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, vol. 548, p. 125847, 2020.
- [77] C. G. Van de Walle, "Defects and doping in GaN," equilibrium, vol. 5, no. 14, p. 15, 1997.
- [78] Z. Shengjun, C. Bin, L. Sheng *et al.*, "Dry etching characteristics of GaN using Cl<sub>2</sub>/BCl<sub>3</sub> inductively coupled plasmas," *Applied Surface Science*, vol. 257, 2010.
- [79] A. Tanide, S. Nakamura, A. Horikoshi, S. Takatsuji, M. Kohno, K. Kinose, S. Nadahara, K. Ishikawa, M. Sekine, and M. Hori, "Effects of BCl<sub>3</sub> addition to Cl<sub>2</sub> gas on etching characteristics of GaN at high temperature," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B, Nanotechnology and Microelectronics: Materials, Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena*, vol. 37, no. 2, p. 021209, 2019.

- [80] S. Tripathy, A. Ramam, S. Chua, J. Pan, and A. Huan, "Characterization of inductively coupled plasma etched surface of GaN using Cl<sub>2</sub>/BCl<sub>3</sub> chemistry," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A: Vacuum, Surfaces, and Films*, vol. 19, no. 5, pp. 2522–2532, 2001.
- [81] A. Motayed, R. Bathe, M. C. Wood, O. S. Diouf, R. Vispute, and S. N. Mohammad, "Electrical, thermal, and microstructural characteristics of Ti/Al/Ti/Au multilayer Ohmic contacts to n-type GaN," *Journal of applied physics*, vol. 93, no. 2, pp. 1087– 1094, 2003.
- [82] L. Zhou, J. H. Leach, X. Ni, H. Morkoç, and D. J. Smith, "Ti/Al/Ni/Au ohmic contacts for AlInN/AlN/GaN-based heterojunction field-effect transistors," *Journal* of Applied Physics, vol. 107, no. 1, p. 014508, 2010.
- [83] S. Kim, J.-H. Ryou, R. D. Dupuis, and H. Kim, "Carrier transport mechanism of low resistance Ti/Al/Au ohmic contacts to AlInN/GaN heterostructures," *Applied physics letters*, vol. 102, no. 5, p. 052107, 2013.
- [84] R. Gong, J. Wang, S. Liu, Z. Dong, M. Yu, C. P. Wen, Y. Cai, and B. Zhang, "Analysis of surface roughness in Ti/Al/Ni/Au ohmic contact to AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 97, no. 6, p. 062115, 2010.
- [85] D. Qiao, L. Jia, L. Yu, P. Asbeck, S. Lau, S.-H. Lim, Z. Liliental-Weber, T. Haynes, and J. Barner, "Ta-based interface ohmic contacts to AlGaN/GaN heterostructures," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 89, no. 10, pp. 5543–5546, 2001.
- [86] F. M. Mohammed, L. Wang, D. Selvanathan, H. Hu, and I. Adesida, "Ohmic contact formation mechanism of Ta/Al/Mo/Au and Ti/Al/Mo/Au metallizations on AlGaN/ GaN HEMTs," Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena, vol. 23, no. 6, pp. 2330–2335, 2005.
- [87] K. H. Kim, C. M. Jeon, S. H. Oh, J.-L. Lee, C. G. Park, J. H. Lee, K. S. Lee, and Y. M. Koo, "Investigation of Ta/Ti/Al/Ni/Au ohmic contact to AlGaN/GaN heterostructure field-effect transistor," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 322–326, 2005.

- [88] C. Ramesh, V. R. Reddy, and C.-J. Choi, "Electrical characteristics of molybdenum Schottky contacts on n-type GaN," *Materials Science and Engineering: B*, vol. 112, no. 1, pp. 30–33, 2004.
- [89] L. M. Kyaw, A. A. Saju, Y. Liu, M. K. Bera, S. P. Singh, S. Tripathy, and E. F. Chor, "Thermally robust RuOx Schottky diodes and HEMTs on III-nitrides," *physica status solidi* (c), vol. 11, no. 3-4, pp. 883–886, 2014.
- [90] D. Lukco, D. Spry, R. Harvey, G. Costa, R. Okojie, A. Avishai, L. Nakley, P. Neudeck, and G. Hunter, "Chemical analysis of materials exposed to Venus temperature and surface atmosphere," *Earth and Space Science*, vol. 5, no. 7, pp. 270–284, 2018.
- [91] B. Kang, S. Kim, J. La Roche, F. Ren, R. Fitch, J. Gillespie, N. Moser, T. Jenkins, J. Sewell, D. Via *et al.*, "Annealing temperature stability of Ir and Ni-based Ohmic contacts on AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures Processing*, *Measurement, and Phenomena*, vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 2635–2639, 2004.
- [92] R. Fitch, J. Gillespie, N. Moser, G. Jessen, T. Jenkins, R. Dettmer, D. Via, A. Crespo, A. Dabiran, P. Chow et al., "Comparison of Ir and Ni-based Ohmic contacts for AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors," Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 619–623, 2004.
- [93] R. Fitch, J. Gillespie, N. Moser, T. Jenkins, J. Sewell, D. Via, A. Crespo, A. Dabiran, P. Chow, A. Osinsky *et al.*, "Properties of Ir-based Ohmic contacts to AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors," *Applied physics letters*, vol. 84, no. 9, pp. 1495– 1497, 2004.
- [94] M. Vallo, T. Lalinskỳ, E. Dobročka, G. Vanko, A. Vincze, and I. Rỳger, "Impact of Ir gate interfacial oxide layers on performance of AlGaN/GaN HEMT," *Applied surface science*, vol. 267, pp. 159–163, 2013.
- [95] T. Lalinský, M. Vallo, G. Vanko, E. Dobročka, A. Vincze, J. Osvald, I. Rýger, and J. Dzuba, "Iridium oxides based gate interface of AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors formed by high temperature oxidation," *Applied surface science*, vol. 283, pp. 160–167, 2013.

- [96] C. Ostermaier, G. Pozzovivo, B. Basnar, W. Schrenk, M. Schmid, L. Tóth, B. Pécz, J.-F. Carlin, M. Gonschorek, N. Grandjean *et al.*, "Metal-related gate sinking due to interfacial oxygen layer in Ir/InAlN high electron mobility transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 96, no. 26, p. 263515, 2010.
- [97] N. Zhang, High-voltage gallium nitride HEMTs with low on-resistance for switching applications. University of California, Santa Barbara, 2002.
- [98] J. A. De Lima and S. P. Gimenez, "A novel overlapping circular-gate transistor and its application to power MOSFETs," *ECS Transactions*, vol. 23, no. 1, p. 361, 2009.
- [99] G. Anelli, M. Campbell, M. Delmastro, F. Faccio, S. Floria, A. Giraldo, E. Heijne, P. Jarron, K. Kloukinas, A. Marchioro *et al.*, "Radiation tolerant VLSI circuits in standard deep submicron CMOS technologies for the LHC experiments: practical design aspects," *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science*, vol. 46, no. 6, pp. 1690– 1696, 1999.
- [100] A. Kumar, P. Shilla, Y. Kamal et al., "Study and Analysis of Enclosed Gate FET's," in *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, vol. 1033, no. 1. IOP Publishing, 2021, p. 012024.
- [101] H.-C. Chiu, C.-H. Chen, H.-L. Kao, F.-T. Chien, P.-K. Weng, Y.-T. Gau, and H.-W. Chuang, "Sidewall defects of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs evaluated by low frequency noise analysis," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 53, no. 12, pp. 1897–1900, 2013.
- [102] J. Zhu, Y. Zhang, M. J. Uren, S. Liu, P. Wang, M. Mi, B. Hou, L. Yang, M. Kuball, X. Ma *et al.*, "Variable range hopping mechanism and modeling of isolation leakage current in GaN-based high-electron-mobility transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 116, no. 22, p. 222101, 2020.
- [103] S. P. Gimenez, "Layout techniques for MOSFETs," Synthesis Lectures on Emerging Engineering Technology, vol. 2, no. 6, pp. 1–81, 2016.
- [104] J. De Lima, "Effective aspect-ratio and gate-capacitance in circular geometry MOS transistors," Solid State Electronics, vol. 39, no. 10, pp. 1524–1525, 1996.
- [105] R. Wang, "AlGaN/GaN HEMT DC Simulation," Ph.D. dissertation, 2014.

- [106] U. Ausserlechner, "Closed form expressions for sheet resistance and mobility from Van-der-Pauw measurement on 90° symmetric devices with four arbitrary contacts," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 116, pp. 46–55, 2016.
- [107] P. F. Satterthwaite, A. S. Yalamarthy, N. A. Scandrette, A. Newaz, and D. G. Senesky, "High responsivity, low dark current ultraviolet photodetectors based on twodimensional electron gas interdigitated transducers," ACS Photonics, vol. 5, no. 11, pp. 4277–4282, 2018.
- [108] A. Nasiri, S. S. Ang, T. Cannon, E. V. Porter, K. U. Porter, C. Chapin, R. Chen, and D. G. Senesky, "High-Temperature Electronics Packaging for Simulated Venus Condition," *Journal of Microelectronics and Electronic Packaging*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 59–66, 2020.
- [109] J.-G. Choi and L. Thompson, "XPS study of as-prepared and reduced molybdenum oxides," *Applied surface science*, vol. 93, no. 2, pp. 143–149, 1996.
- [110] J. Baltrusaitis, B. Mendoza-Sanchez, V. Fernandez, R. Veenstra, N. Dukstiene, A. Roberts, and N. Fairley, "Generalized molybdenum oxide surface chemical state XPS determination via informed amorphous sample model," *Applied Surface Science*, vol. 326, pp. 151–161, 2015.
- [111] J. Buiten, "Oxidation of propylene by means of SnO2-MoO3 catalysts," Journal of Catalysis, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 188–199, 1968.
- [112] G. R. Smolik, D. A. Petti, and S. T. Schuetz, "Oxidation and volatilization of TZM alloy in air," *Journal of nuclear materials*, vol. 283, pp. 1458–1462, 2000.
- [113] W. Tan, P. Houston, P. Parbrook, G. Hill, and R. Airey, "Comparison of different surface passivation dielectrics in AlGaN/GaN heterostructure field-effect transistors," *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics*, vol. 35, no. 7, p. 595, 2002.
- [114] W. Tan, M. Uren, P. Houston, R. Green, R. Balmer, and T. Martin, "Surface leakage currents in SiN/sub x/passivated AlGaN/GaN HFETs," *IEEE electron device letters*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 1–3, 2005.
- [115] Y. He, Z. Huang, M. Zhang, M. Wu, M. Mi, C. Wang, L. Yang, C. Zhang, L. Guo, X. Ma *et al.*, "Temperature-Dependent Characteristics of AlGaN/GaN Nanowire

Channel High Electron Mobility Transistors," *physica status solidi (a)*, vol. 216, no. 16, p. 1900396, 2019.

- [116] J. Mukherjee, R. K. Chaubey, D. S. Rawal, and R. S. Dhaka, "Off-State Drain Leakage Current Mechanism in GaN High Electron Mobility Transistors from Thermal Storage Test," *physica status solidi* (a), vol. 219, no. 21, p. 2200211, 2022.
- [117] D. Maier, M. Alomari, N. Grandjean, J.-F. Carlin, M.-A. Diforte-Poisson, C. Dua, S. Delage, and E. Kohn, "InAlN/GaN HEMTs for Operation in the 1000°C Regime: A First Experiment," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 985–987, 2012.
- [118] P. Herfurth, D. Maier, L. Lugani, J.-F. Carlin, R. Rosch, Y. Men, N. Grandjean, and E. Kohn, "Ultrathin Body InAlN/GaN HEMTs for High-Temperature (600°C) Electronics," *IEEE electron device letters*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 496–498, 2013.
- [119] Y. Wu and J. A. del Alamo, "Electrical degradation of InAlN/GaN HEMTs operating under on conditions," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 63, no. 9, pp. 3487–3492, 2016.
- [120] D. Donoval, A. Chvála, R. Šramatỳ, J. Kováč, J.-F. Carlin, N. Grandjean, G. Pozzovivo, J. Kuzmík, D. Pogany, G. Strasser *et al.*, "Current transport and barrier height evaluation in Ni/InAlN/GaN Schottky diodes," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 96, no. 22, p. 223501, 2010.
- [121] E. Arslan, Ş. Altındal, S. Özçelik, and E. Ozbay, "Tunneling current via dislocations in Schottky diodes on AlInN/AlN/GaN heterostructures," *Semiconductor science and technology*, vol. 24, no. 7, p. 075003, 2009.
- [122] J. Kuzmík, A. Kostopoulos, G. Konstantinidis, J.-F. Carlin, A. Georgakilas, and D. Pogány, "InAlN/GaN HEMTs: A first insight into technological optimization," *IEEE transactions on electron devices*, vol. 53, no. 3, pp. 422–426, 2006.
- [123] F. Medjdoub, M. Alomari, J.-F. Carlin, M. Gonschorek, E. Feltin, M. Py, N. Grandjean, and E. Kohn, "Barrier-layer scaling of InAlN/GaN HEMTs," *IEEE Electron* device letters, vol. 29, no. 5, pp. 422–425, 2008.
- [124] J. Kováč, R. Šramatỳ, A. Chvála, H. Sibboni, E. Morvan, M. DiForte-Poisson, D. Donoval, and P. Kordoš, "Schottky barrier height on thermally oxidized InAlN

surface evaluated by electrical and optical measurements," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 98, no. 16, p. 162111, 2011.

- [125] J. Ren, D. Yan, Y. Zhai, W. Mou, and X. Gu, "Comparison of electrical characteristics between AlGaN/GaN and lattice-matched InAlN/GaN heterostructure Schottky barrier diodes," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 61, pp. 82–86, 2016.
- [126] Z. Chen, K. Fujita, J. Ichikawa, and T. Egawa, "Schottky barrier height inhomogeneity-induced deviation from near-ideal Pd/InAlN Schottky contact," *IEEE electron device letters*, vol. 32, no. 5, pp. 620–622, 2011.
- [127] S. Turuvekere, N. Karumuri, A. A. Rahman, A. Bhattacharya, A. DasGupta, and N. DasGupta, "Gate leakage mechanisms in AlGaN/GaN and AlInN/GaN HEMTs: comparison and modeling," *IEEE Transactions on electron devices*, vol. 60, no. 10, pp. 3157–3165, 2013.
- [128] S. Ganguly, A. Konar, Z. Hu, H. Xing, and D. Jena, "Polarization effects on gate leakage in InAlN/AlN/GaN high-electron-mobility transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 101, no. 25, p. 253519, 2012.
- [129] E. Arslan, S. Bütün, and E. Ozbay, "Leakage current by Frenkel–Poole emission in Ni/Au Schottky contacts on Al<sub>0.83</sub>In<sub>0.17</sub>N/AlN/GaN heterostructures," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 94, no. 14, p. 142106, 2009.
- [130] J. Kotani, A. Yamada, T. Ishiguro, S. Tomabechi, and N. Nakamura, "Low dislocation density InAlN/AlN/GaN heterostructures grown on GaN substrates and the effects on gate leakage characteristics," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 108, no. 15, p. 152109, 2016.
- [131] J. Liang, L. Lai, Z. Zhou, J. Zhang, J. Zhang, J. Xu, Y. Zhang, X. Liu, and W. Luo, "Trap-assisted tunneling current of ultrathin InAlN/GaN HEMTs on Si (1 1 1) substrate," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 160, p. 107622, 2019.
- [132] L. Lugani, M. Py, J.-F. Carlin, and N. Grandjean, "Leakage mechanisms in InAlN based heterostructures," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 115, no. 7, p. 074506, 2014.
- [133] S. R. Eisner, H. S. Alpert, C. A. Chapin, A. S. Yalamarthy, P. F. Satterthwaite, A. Nasiri, S. Port, S. Ang, and D. G. Senesky, "Extended Exposure of Gallium Nitride

Heterostructure Devices to a Simulated Venus Environment," in 2021 IEEE Aerospace Conference (50100). IEEE, 2021, pp. 1–12.

- [134] M. Eickelkamp, M. Weingarten, L. Rahimzadeh Khoshroo, N. Ketteniss, H. Behmenburg, M. Heuken, D. Donoval, A. Chvála, P. Kordoš, H. Kalisch *et al.*, "Electrical properties of thermally oxidized AlInN/AlN/GaN-based metal oxide semiconductor hetero field effect transistors," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 110, no. 8, p. 084501, 2011.
- [135] M. Alomari, F. Medjdoub, J.-F. Carlin, E. Feltin, N. Grandjean, A. Chuvilin, U. Kaiser, C. Gaquiere, and E. Kohn, "InAlN/GaN MOSHEMT with self-aligned thermally generated oxide recess," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 30, no. 11, pp. 1131–1133, 2009.
- [136] M. A. Laurent, G. Gupta, D. J. Suntrup III, S. P. DenBaars, and U. K. Mishra, "Barrier height inhomogeneity and its impact on (Al, In, Ga) N Schottky diodes," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 119, no. 6, p. 064501, 2016.
- [137] M. Ravinandan, P. K. Rao, and V. R. Reddy, "Analysis of the current-voltage characteristics of the Pd/Au Schottky structure on n-type GaN in a wide temperature range," *Semiconductor science and technology*, vol. 24, no. 3, p. 035004, 2009.
- [138] S. Dogan, S. Duman, B. Gurbulak, S. Tüzemen, and H. Morkoc, "Temperature variation of current-voltage characteristics of Au/Ni/n-GaN Schottky diodes," *Physica E: Low-dimensional Systems and Nanostructures*, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 646–651, 2009.
- [139] M. Garg, A. Kumar, H. Sun, C.-H. Liao, X. Li, and R. Singh, "Temperature dependent electrical studies on Cu/AlGaN/GaN Schottky barrier diodes with its microstructural characterization," *Journal of Alloys and Compounds*, vol. 806, pp. 852–857, 2019.
- [140] J.-H. Shin, J. Park, S. Jang, T. Jang, and K. Sang Kim, "Metal induced inhomogeneous Schottky barrier height in AlGaN/GaN Schottky diode," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 102, no. 24, p. 243505, 2013.
- [141] J.-G. Tartarin, O. Lazar, D. Saugnon, B. Lambert, C. Moreau, C. Bouexiere,
   E. Romain-Latu, K. Rousseau, A. David, and J. Roux, "Gate defects analysis in AlGaN/GaN devices by mean of accurate extraction of the Schottky Barrier Height,

electrical modelling, T-CAD simulations and TEM imaging," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 76, pp. 344–349, 2017.

- [142] J. H. Werner and H. H. Güttler, "Barrier inhomogeneities at Schottky contacts," Journal of applied physics, vol. 69, no. 3, pp. 1522–1533, 1991.
- [143] S. Chand and J. Kumar, "On the existence of a distribution of barrier heights in Pd<sub>2</sub>Si/Si Schottky diodes," *Journal of applied physics*, vol. 80, no. 1, pp. 288–294, 1996.
- [144] A. Kumar, R. Kapoor, M. Garg, V. Kumar, and R. Singh, "Direct evidence of barrier inhomogeneities at metal/AlGaN/GaN interfaces using nanoscopic electrical characterizations," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 28, no. 26, p. 26LT02, 2017.
- [145] B. Roul, S. Mukundan, G. Chandan, L. Mohan, and S. Krupanidhi, "Barrier height inhomogeneity in electrical transport characteristics of InGaN/GaN heterostructure interfaces," *AIP Advances*, vol. 5, no. 3, p. 037130, 2015.
- [146] S. Karboyan, J.-G. Tartarin, and B. Lambert, "Analysis of barrier inhomogeneities in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs' Schottky diodes by IVT measurements," in 2013 European Microwave Integrated Circuit Conference. IEEE, 2013, pp. 240–243.
- [147] G. Dutta, N. DasGupta, and A. DasGupta, "Gate leakage mechanisms in AlInN/GaN and AlGaN/GaN MIS-HEMTs and its modeling," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 64, no. 9, pp. 3609–3615, 2017.
- [148] J. Ren, D. Yan, G. Yang, F. Wang, S. Xiao, and X. Gu, "Current transport mechanisms in lattice-matched Pt/Au-InAlN/GaN Schottky diodes," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 117, no. 15, p. 154503, 2015.
- [149] E. Kohn and F. Medjdoub, "InAlN-A new barrier material for GaN-based HEMTs," in 2007 International Workshop on Physics of Semiconductor Devices. IEEE, 2007, pp. 311–316.
- [150] J. Kuzmík, "Power electronics on InAlN/(In) GaN: Prospect for a record performance," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 22, no. 11, pp. 510–512, 2001.

- [151] E. Arslan, S. Bütün, Y. Şafak, and E. Ozbay, "Investigation of trap states in AlInN/AlN/GaN heterostructures by frequency-dependent admittance analysis," *Journal of electronic materials*, vol. 39, no. 12, pp. 2681–2686, 2010.
- [152] S. M. Dinara, S. K. Jana, S. Ghosh, P. Mukhopadhyay, R. Kumar, A. Chakraborty, S. Bhattacharya, and D. Biswas, "Enhancement of two dimensional electron gas concentrations due to Si<sub>3</sub>N<sub>4</sub> passivation on Al<sub>0.3</sub>Ga<sub>0.7</sub>N/GaN heterostructure: strain and interface capacitance analysis," *AIP Advances*, vol. 5, no. 4, p. 047136, 2015.
- [153] J.-J. Zhu, X.-H. Ma, B. Hou, W.-W. Chen, and Y. Hao, "Investigation of gate leakage mechanism in Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>/Al<sub>0.55</sub>Ga<sub>0.45</sub>N/GaN metal-oxide-semiconductor high-electronmobility transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 104, no. 15, p. 153510, 2014.
- [154] R. H. Fowler and L. Nordheim, "Electron emission in intense electric fields," Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A, Containing Papers of a Mathematical and Physical Character, vol. 119, no. 781, pp. 173–181, 1928.
- [155] H. Lin, P. Ye, and G. Wilk, "Leakage current and breakdown electric-field studies on ultrathin atomic-layer-deposited Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> on GaAs," *Applied physics letters*, vol. 87, no. 18, p. 182904, 2005.
- [156] T. Hickmott, "Temperature-dependent Fowler-Nordheim tunneling and a compensation effect in anodized Al-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-Au diodes," *Journal of applied physics*, vol. 97, no. 10, p. 104505, 2005.
- [157] K. Li, E. Yagyu, H. Saito, K. H. Teo, and S. Rakheja, "Compact modeling of gate leakage phenomenon in GaN HEMTs," in 2020 International Conference on Simulation of Semiconductor Processes and Devices (SISPAD). IEEE, 2020, pp. 225–228.
- [158] R. Kies, C. Papadas, G. Pananakakis, and G. Ghibaudo, "Temperature dependence of Fowler-Nordheim emission tunneling current in MOS structures," in ESSDERC'94: 24th European Solid State Device Research Conference. IEEE, 1994, pp. 507–510.
- [159] T. Hofmann, P. Kühne, S. Schöche, J.-T. Chen, U. Forsberg, E. Janzén, N. Ben Sedrine, C. Herzinger, J. Woollam, M. Schubert *et al.*, "Temperature dependent effective mass in AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistor structures," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 101, no. 19, p. 192102, 2012.

- [160] M. Hou, S. R. Jain, H. So, T. A. Heuser, X. Xu, A. J. Suria, and D. G. Senesky, "Degradation of 2DEG transport properties in GaN-capped AlGaN/GaN heterostructures at 600°C in oxidizing and inert environments," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 122, no. 19, p. 195102, 2017.
- [161] D. Gajula, I. Jahangir, and G. Koley, "High temperature AlGaN/GaN membrane based pressure sensors," *Micromachines*, vol. 9, no. 5, p. 207, 2018.
- [162] C. A. Chapin, R. A. Miller, K. M. Dowling, R. Chen, and D. G. Senesky, "InAlN/GaN high electron mobility micro-pressure sensors for high-temperature environments," *Sensors and Actuators A: Physical*, vol. 263, pp. 216–223, 2017.
- [163] T. Lalinský, I. Rýger, G. Vanko, M. Tomáška, I. Kostič, S. Haščík, and M. Vallo, "AlGaN/GaN based SAW-HEMT structures for chemical gas sensors," *Proceedia Engineering*, vol. 5, pp. 152–155, 2010.
- [164] R. Sokolovskij, J. Zhang, E. Iervolino, C. Zhao, F. Santagata, F. Wang, H. Yu, P. M. Sarro, and G. Q. Zhang, "Hydrogen sulfide detection properties of Pt-gated AlGaN/GaN HEMT-sensor," *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, vol. 274, pp. 636– 644, 2018.
- [165] V. J. Gokhale, Y. Sui, and M. Rais-Zadeh, "Novel uncooled detector based on gallium nitride micromechanical resonators," in *Infrared technology and applications* XXXVIII, vol. 8353. SPIE, 2012, pp. 442–447.
- [166] T. Lalinskỳ, M. Vallo, G. Vanko, E. Dobročka, A. Vincze, J. Osvald, I. Rỳger, and J. Dzuba, "Iridium oxides based gate interface of AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors formed by high temperature oxidation," *Applied surface science*, vol. 283, pp. 160–167, 2013.
- [167] C. M. Jeon and J.-L. Lee, "Investigation of IrO<sub>2</sub> and RuO<sub>2</sub> Schottky contacts on AlGaN/GaN heterostructure," *Journal of applied physics*, vol. 95, no. 2, pp. 698–704, 2004.
- [168] C. M. Jeon, H. W. Jang, and J.-L. Lee, "Thermally stable Ir Schottky contact on AlGaN/GaN heterostructure," *Applied physics letters*, vol. 82, no. 3, pp. 391–393, 2003.

- [169] H. S. Alpert, K. M. Dowling, C. A. Chapin, A. S. Yalamarthy, S. R. Benbrook, H. Köck, U. Ausserlechner, and D. G. Senesky, "Effect of geometry on sensitivity and offset of AlGaN/GaN and InAlN/GaN Hall-effect sensors," *IEEE Sensors Journal*, vol. 19, no. 10, pp. 3640–3646, 2019.
- [170] K. M. Dowling, H. S. Alpert, P. Zhang, A. N. Ramirez, A. Yalamathy, H. Kock, U. Ausserlechner, and D. Senesky, "The effect of bias conditions on AlGaN/GaN 2DEG Hall plates," in *Solid State Sensors, Actuators, and Microsystems Workshop*, 2018, pp. 194–197.
- [171] T.-C. Chang, P.-H. Chen, C.-Y. Lin, and C.-C. Shih, "Low temperature defect passivation technology for semiconductor electronic devices—Supercritical fluids treatment process," *Materials Today Physics*, vol. 14, p. 100225, 2020.
- [172] W.-C. Hung, F.-Y. Jin, T.-C. Chang, F.-M. Ciou, C.-H. Chang, C.-Y. Lin, Y. S. Lin, K.-C. Chang, Y.-C. Chang, Y.-H. Lin *et al.*, "Leakage current in fast recovery diode suppressed by low temperature supercritical fluid treatment process," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 41, no. 10, pp. 1540–1543, 2020.
- [173] A. Polyakov, N. Smirnov, I. Shchemerov, J. Yang, F. Ren, C.-F. Lo, O. Laboutin, J. Johnson, and S. Pearton, "Trapping phenomena in InAlN/GaN high electron mobility transistors," *ECS Journal of Solid State Science and Technology*, vol. 7, no. 2, p. Q1, 2018.
- [174] S. Ozaki, K. Makiyama, T. Ohki, N. Okamoto, S. Kaneki, K. Nishiguchi, N. Hara, and T. Hashizume, "Effects of air annealing on DC characteristics of InAlN/GaN MOS high-electron-mobility transistors using atomic-layer-deposited Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>," *Applied Physics Express*, vol. 10, no. 6, p. 061001, 2017.
- [175] B. Shen, T. Someya, and Y. Arakawa, "Influence of strain relaxation of the Al<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N barrier on transport properties of the two-dimensional electron gas in modulationdoped Al<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>1-x</sub>N/GaN heterostructures," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 76, no. 19, pp. 2746–2748, 2000.
- [176] D. Chen, B. Shen, K. Zhang, Y. Tao, X. Wu, J. Xu, R. Zhang, and Y. Zheng, "Hightemperature characteristics of strain in AlGaN/GaN heterostructures," *Japanese journal of applied physics*, vol. 45, no. 1R, p. 18, 2006.

- [177] Z. Feng, Y. Zhou, S. Cai, and K.-M. Lau, "Doping concentration and structural dependences of the thermal stability of the 2DEG in GaN-based high-electron-mobility transistor structures," *Japanese journal of applied physics*, vol. 44, no. 1L, p. L21, 2004.
- [178] D. Chen, K. Zhang, Y. Tao, X. Wu, J. Xu, R. Zhang, Y. Zheng, and B. Shen, "Temperature-dependent strain relaxation of the AlGaN barrier in AlGaN/ GaN heterostructures with and without Si<sub>3</sub>N<sub>4</sub> surface passivation," *Applied physics letters*, vol. 88, no. 10, p. 102106, 2006.
- [179] R. Peterson, M. Malakoutian, X. Xu, C. Chapin, S. Chowdhury, and D. G. Senesky, "Analysis of mobility-limiting mechanisms of the two-dimensional hole gas on hydrogen-terminated diamond," *Phys. Rev. B*, vol. 102, p. 075303, Aug 2020.

## Appendix A

## **Microfabrication Runsheet**

This Appendix contains the runsheet used during microfabrication of Casper run devices as described in Chapter 3.

						hotplate		5 minutes	9.1 Dehydrate	
									0	9 Schottky lit
			30s	850C	P 850 N2	awin r	run dummies first	35sec	8.1 RTA	
										8 RTA
				110C		hotplate		5 min	7.6 Dehydrate	
		Acetone. Methanol. IPA				WDIEXCOLL		20 mins	7.5 AMI rinse	
				110C		hotplate		20 min	7.3 Dehydrate	
		Acetone, Methanol, IPA		1.000		-		immediately	7.2 AMI rinse	
		1165		RT				overnight	7.1 Soak in Solvent	
										7 Liftoff
25/100/40/100					I VAVMo/Au	Give to Tom Carver in SNSF			6.1 Metal evaporation	
01200200									al evaporation	6 Ohmic met
		1:20 Amonium hydroxide to water				wbflexcorr	1L beaker	10 sec	5.13 Weak ammunium hydroxide	
					program 1	drytek2			5.12 Descum	
				110C		hotplate		5 min	5.11 Hard bake	
						microscope		00 000	5 10 Inspection	
		ME 26A				notplate	tafion backate	30 660	5.0 Post EXP bake	
				1100		Heidelberg			5.7 Exposure	
				90C		hotplate		1 min	5.6 Pre-bake	
1 um		shipley 3612			5000 rpm	headway		60 sec	5.5 Spin resist	
				170C	-	hotplate		5 min	5.4 Bake	
					3000 rpm	headway		30 sc	5.3 Spin LOL	
		Skin sten if I OI after		100		YES oven		30 mins	5.2 HMDS	
				1100				E minutoo	E 1 Debudroto	
		Acetone, Methanol, IPA							4.7 AMI rinse	
									4.6 Blow dry	
		DI water						2 mins	4.5 Rinse	
				60C		wbflexcor 2		20 mins	4.4 SRS-100	
									4.3 AMI rinse	
				100	Follow recipe	drytek		3 min		
				110C		hotplate		3 mins	4 1 Dehvdrate	+ Ciedi
					Si recipe	Hub blade			3.3 Disco Saw	
				115C				5 min	3.2 Hard Bake	
1 um		shipley 3612			5500 rpm	headway		60 s	3.1 Spin Sp 3612	
										3 Dicing
		ACEIOITE, METHATIO, IFA								
		Apptopp Mothemal IDA				alphastep/AFM	clean PR of dummy		2.4 Inspection	
0 W Forward	250 W ICP, 80	BCl3 (25sccm), Cl2 (10sccm)	10mT	20C	GaN Slow Etch	OxIII-V	No mounting needed	60 s	2.3 AlGaN/GaN etch	
0 W Forward	250 W ICP, 80	BCl3 (25sccm), Cl2 (10sccm)	10mT	20C	GaN Slow Etch	OxIII-V	use SiO2 wafer	15 mins	2.2 Season	
		SF6, O2 plasma			Clean	OxIII-V	use Si dummy	15 mins	2.1 Clean	
										2 Mesa Etch
				110C		hotplate		5 min	1.9 Hard bake	
				1000		microscope			1.8 Inspection	
		MF 26A				teflon baskets		1 min	1.7 Develop	
				115C		hotplate		1 min	1.6 Post Exp Bake	
						Heidelberg			1.5 Exposure	
				90C	-	hotplate		1 min	1.4 Pre-bake	
1 um		shipley 3612			5500 rpm	headway		40 sec	1.3 Spin resist	
				100		YES oven		~20 mins	1.2 HMDS	
				170C		hotnlate		5 minutes	1 1 Dehvdrate	
										1 Mees 1 itho
						wbflexcorr			0.6 Blow dry w/ N2 gun	
				50C		wbflexcorr	Water bath after	10 mins	0.4 SC2	
				50C		wbflexcorr	Water bath after	10 mins	0.3 SC1	
				60C		wbflexcorr	Water bath after	20 mins	0.2 SRS100	
				110C		hotplate		5 mins	0.1 Dehvdrate	
Inickness	Kr powel	Chemicals	Pressure	Temperature		Equipment				0 Clean
Thinknee	DE NOWDE	Chaminale	Draceura	4111teren me T		Enimont				Stan

						60 s	12.1 Spin Sp 3612	
							19 Dicing	
						ary	18.4 KTA of gate metal if necess	
					microscope		18.3 Inspection	
		Acetone, Methanol, IPA				immediately	18.2 AMI rinse	
		1165		R		overnight	18.1 Soak in Solvent	
							18 Liftoff	
10/200 nm		Ti/Au						
	h Ir on others	30nm Mo on some samples 15nm			A IA evanorator		17 DOTU FAUTILETAL Evaporation	
							17 Bond Dad motal accompation	
				program 1	drytek2		16.12 Descum	
			ĉ	11	hotplate	5 min	16.11 Hard bake	
					microscope		16.1 Inspection	
		MF 26A			teflon baskets	30s	16.9 Develop	
			5C	11	hotplate	1 min	16.8 Post Exp Bake	
					Heidelberg		16.7 Exposure	
			ō	06	hotplate	1 min	16.6 Pre-bake	
um		shipley 3612		5000 rpm	headway	60 sec	16.5 Spin resist	
			ÖC	16	hotplate	5 min	16.4 Bake	
				3000 rpm	headway	30 sc	16.3 Spin LOL	
					VES oven	30 mins	16.2 HMDS	
					hotplata	л minutee	16 1 Debydrate	
							15.4 Blow dry	
		DI water				2 mins	15.3 Rinse	
					wbflexcor 2	1 min	15.2 BOE dip	
			0C	11	hotplate	3 mins	15.1 Dehydrate	
							15 Pass Etchback	
			C	11	hotplate	5 min	14.9 Hard bake	
					microscope		14.8 Inspection	
		ME 26A	ŭ		teflon baskets	1 min		
			۳ 0	4	hotplato	1 min	11.6 Dost Exp Baka	
			Ċ	UR	Hoidolborg	num I	14.4 Pre-bake	
l um		Shipley 3012	5	DOU I PM	headway	4U Sec	14.3 Spin resist	
					YES OVEN	~20 mins	14.2 HMUS	
			ÖC	17	hotplate	5 minutes	14.1 Dehydrate	
							14 Pass Etchback Litho	
	1 Ir on others	30nm Mo on some samples, 15nm			Fiji2	Target 25 nm	13.1 Thermal Al2O3 ALD	
							13 Passivation Deposition	
				Sirecipe	Hub blade		12.3 Disco Saw	
			5C	11		5 min	12.2 Hard Bake	
						s 09	12.1 Spin Sp 3612	
							12 Dicina	
						агу	11:4 KTA 0I gate metarin necess	
					microscope		11.3 Inspection	
		Acetone, Methanol, IPA			-	immediately	11.2 AMI rinse	
		1165		R.		overnight	11.1 Soak in Solvent	
							11 Liftoff	
	ו Ir on others	30nm Mo on some samples, 15nm			Give to Tom Carver in SNSF		10.1 Metal evaporation	
							10 Schottky metal evaporation	
							U. IL DOGODIT	
				nrogram 1	notpiate			
			2	~	microscope	n	9.10 Inspection	
		MF 26A			tetion baskets	SUS		
			5C	11	hotplate	1 min	9.8 Post Exp Bake	
				2	Heidelberg		9.7 Exposure	
			ō	06	hotplate	1 min	9.6 Pre-bake	
um	_`	shipley 3612		5000 rpm	headway	60 sec	9.5 Spin resist	
			iiC	16	hotplate	5 min	9.4 Bake	
				3000 rpm	headway	30 sc	9.3 Spin LOL	
					YES oven	30 mins	9.2 HMDS	

				13 Clean	 	_
13.4 Inspection	13.3 Blow dry	13.2 AMI rinse	13.1 SRS-100		12.3 Disco Saw	12.2 Hard Bake
		2 mins	20 mins			5 min
microscope			wbflexcor 2		Hub blade	
					Si recipe	
			60C			115C
		DI water				